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PART |

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Except for historical information, this Annual Repon Form 10-K may be deemed to contain “forwardking statementsiithin the meanin

of the Private Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Exalep of forward-looking statements include, butrwélimited to: (a) projections of or
statements regarding return on investment, futareiegs, interest income, sales, volume, othemrecearnings or loss per share, growth
prospects, capital structure, and other finaneiahs, (b) statements of plans and objectives ofagement, (c) statements of future economic
performance, and (d) statements of assumptionk,asieconomic conditions underlying other statemesuch forward-looking statements car
be identified by the use of forward-looking ternmigy such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “continuégbuld,” “estimate,” “expects,” “intend,”
“may,” “might,” “outlook,” “potential,” “predict,” “should, “ “will,” as well as the negative of any of the foregoingasiations of such terms
comparable terminology, or by discussion of strat®&fp assurance may be given that the future iesi@iscribed by the forward-looking
statements will be achieved. While we believe tHessard-looking statements are reasonable, theyaly predictions and are subject to
known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and otaetofrs, many of which are beyond our control, whiobld cause actual results, performe

or achievement to differ materially from anticipdfeiture results, performance or achievement espiesr implied by such forward-looking
statements. In addition, other risks, uncertaindssumptions, and factors that could affect osulte and prospects are described in this repol
including under the heading “Item 1A. Risk Factaast elsewhere, and may further be described indh@rior and future filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission and other writtel oral statements made or released by us.f8weard-looking statements in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K include, without limitat, those contained in Item 1. Business, Item @ndfygemeng Discussion and Analysis
Financial Condition and Results of Operations, I&rinancial Statements and Supplementary Datjding, without limitation, the Notes
Consolidated Financial Statements, and Item 11clie Compensation.

Given these risks and uncertainties, you are cagdimot to place undue reliance on such forwariifmpstatements. These forward-looking
statements speak only as of the date they were,raadeve assume no obligation to update forwaréimpstatements to reflect actual results
or changes in or additions to the factors affecingh forward-looking statements.




Iltem 1. Business.

BUSINESS DESCRIPTION

Curtiss-Wright Corporation is a global company ttielivers highly engineered, critical function puats and services to the commercial,
industrial, defense and energy markets. We weraddrin 1929 by the merger of the companies ownetthidWright brothers and Mr. Glenn
Curtiss, both aviation pioneers. We are incorparateder the laws of the State of Delaware and heatiered in Charlotte, North Carolina. \
are listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSK) tade under the symbol CW.

Our strategy is to be an integrated, market-fagioal company, seeking superior operating margthraturn metrics, while maintaining a
disciplined and balanced capital deployment stsaté¢e maintain a diversified business portfoliolwievenues generated across our
commercial, industrial, defense, and energy marketgher, we intend to utilize our technical cafiiéss to maintain and expand our niche
market positions.

We also continue to develop new core competenciddak for innovative ways to serve our custonmeseb Our technologies are intended to
improve operating efficiency and meet demandindoperance requirements. We compete globally primdrdsed on technology and pricing.
Our business challenges include price pressuréroemeental impact, and geopolitical events, sucthasvar on terrorism and diplomatic
accords. Our ability to provide high-performanagdyanced technologies on a cost-effective basisriddmental to our strategy for meeting
customer demand.

Business Segments

We manage and evaluate our operations based qmdtiects we offer and the different markets we eeBased on this approach we operate
through three segments: Flow Control, Controls, @adace Technologies.

Our principal manufacturing facilities are locatedhe United States in New York, Ohio, Oregon, tidCarolina, Pennsylvania, and Texas,
and internationally in Canada and the United Kingdo

Flow Control

Our Flow Control segment specializes in the deaigthmanufacture of highly engineered, critical-tiort products including valves, pumps,
motors, generators, instrumentation, shipboarcegystvessels, control electronics, and energy ptamuand processing solutions. These
products manage the flow of liquids and gases, géa@ower, provide electronic operating systemd,raonitor or provide critical functions.
In 2013, net sales in our Flow Control segmer#1g800 million represented 52% of our total ne¢sal

This segment’s primary markets are naval deferm@epgeneration, oil and gas, and general indlistria

The Flow Control segment operates through fouratpeg divisions: Electro-Mechanical Systems, NuclBeoup, Oil and Gas Systems, and
Marine and Power Products.

Electro-Mechanical Systems

Our Electro-Mechanical Systems division producesaded electranechanical and pumping solutions for the naval mfepower generatic
oil and gas, and general industrial markets. Thissidin designs and manufactures advanced critisatfon pumps, motors, generators, ship
propulsors, mechanical seals, control rod drivehmaaisms, power conditioning electronics, integratedor controls, composite materials
applications, and protection technologies solutions

In the naval defense market, we are a supplies feide array of ship building programs includinglear aircraft carrier and submarine
programs, offering power and propulsion technolsgés well as auxiliary systems. This division deps, designs, manufactures, and perfc
qualification testing of critical-function, electraechanical solutions for its primary customer, th8. Navy, including main coolant pumps,
critical-function pumps, power-dense compact motarain and ship generators, and secondary proputsistems. The division has served the
U.S. Navy for over 50 years and is a preferred keippr single source provider of pumps that aredus nuclear propulsion systems. The
division also overhauls and provides critical spdoe units serving the fleet on operational platfe. Current platforms include the Nimitz and



Ford class aircraft carriers and the Virginia, llogeles, Seawolf, and Ohio Class submarines.

Electro-Mechanical Systems’ products are also &pttie nuclear power generation market. We prolRdactor Coolant Pump (RCP)
technology, pump seals, and control rod drive meisinas for commercial nuclear power plants. We hbsee designed RCP technology for the

Westinghouse AP1000 commercial nuclear reactor.




In the general industrial market, we design, dgedmd manufacture integrated motor-controls anteption technology solutions for original
equipment manufacturers (OEMs) and industrial qusts. We engineer and manufacture a range of rugekable, and internationally
compliant products that control the amount of eleal current provided to motors. Our installedda$ control units supports customers in the
industrial heating, ventilation, and air conditiogi(HVAC) market, as well as in the municipal ameégy processing markets, including
petrochemicals, power generation, mining, and prartation.

Nuclear Group

The Nuclear Group division designs, manufacturesdtidutes, and qualifies flow control products farclear power plants, nuclear equipment
manufacturers, hydroelectric energy producersitise Department of Energy (DoE), and the U.S. Dmpant of Defense (DoD). This divisi
offers a range of hardware, including pumps, valpesssure vessels, fastening systems, speciaaadinment doors, airlock hatches,
electrical units, and software for mobile devicedzhbusiness solutions. In addition, we providenge of products including obsolescence
solutions, bolting solutions, nuclear storage sohsg, spent fuel management solutions, non-desteiekamination (NDE), and fluid sealing
technologies. We provide diagnostic equipment, alting), testing, and inspection services that seipport plant-life extensions and power
upgrades on all 100 operating reactors in the dritiates, as well as operating reactors locatedighout the world.

We maintain regulatory certifications (known as $hwmps”) required to provide representations, fyedind qualify value-added nuclear-grade
products both domestically and internationally.tilrsp certification indicates nuclear-grade statudesignated by the Nuclear Regulatory
Commission (NRC). We compete in this market throagtarray of nuclear technology, industry-benchmdruality assurance programs,
strategic alliances, resident expertise, and custa@atognition.

Oil and Gas Systems

Our Oil and Gas Systems division provides energgpction, processing, and environmental solutidesjgns and manufactures valves, ve
products, and related equipment; and also prowwkaatenance, Repair, and Overhaul (MRO) servicessapport to the global oil and gas
industry. Primary products serving upstream andstmnédm customers include separators, combinatigarator/hydrator units, and flow back
and oil treating equipment, as well as critical €stons control devices. The division also provigexiuction and processing equipment to the
U.S. shale oil and gas market. Products servinghdbowam refinery customers include coke unheadisgsis, fluidic catalytic cracking unit
(FCCU) components, pressure relief valves, pregsutection systems, and engineering design taolthe refining, chemical, and process
industries, and web-enabled control systems faneef monitoring and process control.

In the process industry, our coke unheading systelades top and bottom unheading valves, isolatalmes, cutting tools, valve automation,
process control, and protection systems.

In addition, our FCCU product portfolio includesstam-designed valves, engineered pressure veaselsomplementary components that
operate in industrial process applications inclgdiaid, residual, and catalytic cracking unitsvesdl as power generation, steel manufacture,
and ore reduction. We manufacture, repair, and fpadlifice chambers, hydrotreaters, and Americani&yg of Mechanical Engineers code
pressure vessels. In addition, we provide fiel@ises, including equipment repair, modificationdaeplacement; inspection; maintenance
planning and scheduling; diagnostic assistancepansite system training.

The division also is a supplier of global MRO protiu Our safety relief valve and pressure protacsigstem portfolio incorporates a broad
range of valve sizes and ratings used in a widgaarfi chemical and process industry applicatiohg Valves are marketed as individual
components or at the subsystem/system level. Toyriptary iPRSM® software provides a broad setesfigh and monitoring tools for process
operators, incorporating the latest industry amulilsgory standards.

Marine and Power Products

Our Marine and Power Products division producel-pigrformance, specialized valve solutions, desaggrismanufactures valves for
commercial nuclear markets and valves, actuataio#rer shipboard naval systems including airdraftdling systems, cable handlings
systems, and specialized electronic instrumentatfmhcontrol equipment.

Our valve solutions control the flow of liquids agdses for vessels and equipment used in the defpawer generation, and general industria
markets. We design, engineer, and manufacturegsfoaded, pilot-operated pressure relief valvessoidnoid operated valves, as well as ball
valves used in standard and advanced applicaiiociading high-cycle, high-pressure, extreme terapee, and corrosive plant environments.



Our products are engineered to meet stringent padioce and reliability requirements.




In the naval defense market, we design valvesatteatitilized in the nuclear propulsion systemsuflear submarines and aircraft carriers
commissioned by the U.S. Navy. The division alssigies and manufactures electro-mechanical systense€uring and traversing military
aircraft and helicopters aboard naval vessels. &bbipboard aircraft and helicopter handling systane used by the U.S. Navy and more thal
ten other navies around the world. We also desighbaiild shipboard specialized structures, inclgdalescopic hangars and doors.
Specialized cable handling systems are designednandifactured for towing active and passive sopstess for both submarines and surface
ships. This division also provides custom desigaed commercial-off-thehelf (COTS) electronic circuit boards and systémthie U.S. Navy

For commercial markets, we provide specializedesbo commercial nuclear power plants and geneoalgsing industries worldwide. We
also provide towbarless and conventional aircraftdiing systems to the commercial aerospace indugtmpetition is based upon quality of
technology, price, installed base, and deliveryesm

Backlog

Total backlog includes both funded (unfilled ordfmswhich funding is authorized, appropriated, aodtractually obligated by the customer)
and unfunded backlog (firm orders for which fundivas not been appropriated and/or contractualigatad by the customer). We are a
subcontractor to prime contractors for the vastomitgj of our government business; as such substfntll amounts in backlog are funded.
Backlog excludes unexercised contract options aneinpial orders under ordering type contracts (edgfinite Delivery / Indefinite Quantity).
Backlog is adjusted for changes in foreign exchamatgs and is reduced for contract cancellatiodstamminations in the period in which they
occur. There were no significant contract candeltest which affected backlog in 2013 .

Backlog for this segment at December 31, 2013 ,%%2859 million , of which $722 million is expectambe shipped after one year, comparec
with backlog of $1,088 million at December 31, 2012

Controls

Our Controls segment designs, develops, manufagtanel maintains mechanical actuation and drivieBys specialized sensors, motors and
electronic controller units, and mission-criticatleedded computing components and control systen013 , net sales in our Controls
segment of $898 million represented 36% of oul to¢h sales.

This segment’s primary markets are commercial pawes aerospace defense, ground defense, and Igadasdrial.

Our Controls segment is managed through four operdivisions: Defense Solutions, Flight Systemsiofics and Industrial, and Integrated
Sensing.

Defense Solutions

Our Defense Solutions division designs, developd,raanufactures rugged embedded computing boael#eedules and integrated
subsystems, primarily for the aerospace and groefehse markets, and supports the U.S. Governs€othmand, Control, Communicatio
Computers, Intelligence, Surveillance, and Recasaaice (C4I1SR) applications. Using standard, cowiaigravailable electronics
technologies, coupled with applicatidiemain specific knowledge, we offer Commercial Ofe Shelf (COTS) hardware and software moc
based on open industry standards. Our COTS moduabktintegrated subsystems are designed to perfoharsh conditions where space,
weight, and power constraints are critical. Ourdmieis are designed to perform in extreme temperstaind environments, enduring high sh
and vibration, as well as in commercial environredot use in laboratory and benign environmentiappbns. In addition, we also provide
C4ISR products and individual warfighter, Size, @j Power and Cost (SWaP-C) optimized solutions.algo offer high performance
electronic packaging and thermal management sysaising custom and standards-based enclosures.d@amneed subsystems are integrated
using standard modules and custom modules basedimuse intellectual property content as wellrasdtparty technology.

We are a single source supplier for high-densitargrocessing, data communications, digital signatessing, video and graphics, recording
and network storage, analog acquisition and reoact&n, radar, and integrated subsystems.

In the air, Defense Solutions supports technoldlyiealvanced military platforms including the BogiR-8 Poseidon and the Lockheed Martin
F-35 Lightning Il Joint Strike Fighter (F-35 JSFhis division also provides the advanced missionagament system, flight control
computers, and the sensor management units fonadgaerospace platforms including the Global HatédU.S. Air Force’s high-altitude
and high-endurance unmanned aerial vehicle, asasale U.S. Navy's variant of the Global Hawk folah called Triton.






On the ground, the division’s subsystem produasused in a wide variety of applications for mijtground vehicles, including fire control,
aiming, and stabilization (primarily turret driviabilization systems), munitions loading, and eoimental processors. These products are
on U.S. combat platforms such as the Bradley Rightehicle, the Abrams Tank, and the Stryker faroflyehicles, as well as several
international ground platforms throughout Europe.

Our products are sold primarily to prime contrastand subsystem suppliers located principally inWhited States, United Kingdom, and
Canada, both directly and through a network of rehelent sales representatives. Competition inrttieedded electronic systems market has
migrated away from traditional board competitonsaad fully integrated subsystem and system prosidezlling to prime and second-tier
defense and aerospace companies. Competitionsimitiket is based on quality of technology, pracel delivery time to market.

Flight Systems

Our Flight Systems division’s product offeringsth@ commercial OEM and aerospace defense markessstof electro-mechanical and
hydro-mechanical actuation control components gstems that are designed to position aircraft absuirfaces or operate flaps, slats, and
utility systems such as canopies, cargo doors, areapay doors, and other moving devices used oraétir Aircraft applications include
actuators and electro-mechanical control systemwhéBoeing 737, 747, 747-8, 757, 767, 777, articidl air transports, the Lockheed
Martin F-16 Falcon fighter jet, the Boeing F/A-18iet fighter jet, the P-8 Poseidon, the Bell Bgeihi22 Osprey, and the Sikorsky Black
Hawk and Seahawk helicopters. The Flight Systewisidn is also developing flight control actuatarsd weapons handling systems for the F
35 JSF program. This division also provides comimésirlines, military and general aviation custameith component overhaul and repai
hydraulic, mechanical, and electro-mechanical camepts for a wide array of aircraft.

Flight Systems also designs, manufactures, andhditgs electro-mechanical and electro-hydraulto@ion components and systems and
electronic controls for military tracked and wheklehicles within the ground defense and commensakets. These products include turret
aiming and stabilization and weapons handling systr armored military vehicles. In addition, weyide a range of general industrial
products, such as fuel control valves for large mamtial transport ships, stabilization systems, andriety of commercial servo valves.

Flight Systems products are sold primarily throagtirect domestic sales force and internationaloet of independent sales representatives.
Sales are made directly to OEMs, airlines, and gowent agencies.

Our Flight Systems products are sold in competitiith a number of other suppliers, some of whomehlaroader product lines and greater
financial, technical, and human resources. Comgaetis driven by price, technical capability, perfance, service, and investment, together
with an ability to offer solutions to perform coolftand actuation functions on new production protga

Avionics and Industrial

The Avionics and Industrial division develops systievel products that acquire, consolidate, analgne record all of an aircraft’s critical
sensor and avionics data. The division also isppl#r of highly engineered commercial productsdlisea wide range of industrial applicatic
such as transportation, on-and off-highway equigirsmall to medium electric vehicles, broadcastind recording, and motorsports.

Our systems are deployed in a wide range of aidbapplications including aerospace controllerghflirecording, air data computing, flight
test, and aircraft ice, fire, and hazard systemsvyell as space data handling systems. Our avignicducts are used on a diverse set of aircraf
platforms, including the Boeing 737 and 747-8 comuia¢ airplanes and the Apache, Black Hawk, Stallkmd Chinook military helicopter
platforms.

The division’s airborne products include crash @cttd, mission, flight test, and usage data recsndbich are designed to provide optimal
performance in a wide range of environments. We sésve the avionics market as a supplier of fltght instrumentation and a broad range o
sensors that provide key functionality in almostmtype of vehicle, from aerial work platformsdieampionship Formula One race cars.




In the industrial transportation field, we serveethprincipal markets: on-highway, off-highway, @mdall-to-medium electric vehicles,
delivering state-of-the-art performance to a digazgstomer base. Our on-highway business is foaus@thss A trucks. Our off-highway
business covers a multitude of vehicle types froomJDeere tractors to specialty and utility vetscl®ur electric vehicles incorporate
sophisticated wheelchairs, material handling, agt-end hybrid buses for inter-city transportati@ur products include electronic motor
control systems, power management systems, eléctionttle control devices, sensors, joysticks atettronic shift-by-wire transmission
controls. We also develop products for monitoriegording, and controlling vehicles in service uneledreme operating conditions, for critical
applications such as position sensing, and coetlised in railway traction and maintenance vehicl

Integrated Sensing

Our Integrated Sensing division develops and mantuifas a broad range of sensors, controllers, katrenic control systems and subsystem:
for commercial aviation, aerospace defense, andrgéimdustrial markets. The division’s smoke détecsensors, solenoids, and solenoid
valve products provide critical functionality fovariety of platforms including hydraulic, pneuntatnd fuel systems. They are also used in
cooling fan and motor designs. In addition, thasion provides controllers, rotary sensors, andtedenechanical actuation subsystems ust
flight, engine, and environmental controls for eaft and space applications.

Competitive differentiators for Integrating Sensinglude technical leadership and support, proguce, and customer service. Integrated
Sensing products are marketed through facilitighénUnited Kingdom, Germany, and the United States

Backlog

Backlog for this segment at December 31, 2013 ,%6&8 million , of which $420 million is expectealtbe shipped after one year, compared
with a backlog of $563 million at December 31, 20RBubstantially all amounts in backlog are funded] there were no significant contract
cancellations which affected backlog in 2013 .

Surface Technologies

Our Surface Technologies segment provides techs@aices to enhance the performance and duralaktgnd the life, and prevent premat
fatigue and failure on customer-supplied metal congmts. In 2013 , net sales of our Surface Teclgnedcsegment of $313 milliarontributec
12% to our total net sales.

This segment’s primary markets are commercial afdrtbe aerospace, power generation, and geneustiiad markets, including automotive,
transportation, construction equipment, and metakimg industries.

This segment provides four primary technical se&wion highly stressed, critical function componesttst peening, laser peening, specialty
coatings, and analytical services.

We focus on providing technical processing solugifor mission critical components. The functionadperties of our processes extend the life
and increase the performance of our customers.futface Technologies' operations are condubtedghout the world including in the
United States, Canada, United Kingdom, Western ijrand Asia, and a significant portion of our hass is on new parts from leading
OEMs for their sub tier suppliers. Our Surface Texhgies' services are marketed by a direct sales fsupported by centralized lead
generation activities. We compete in this segmarthe basis of quality, service, and price.

Shot Peening

Shot peening is a process by which the durabifitymetal parts is enhanced by bombarding the pautrface with spherical media, such as stee
shot or ceramic or glass beads, creating a laysrsidual compressive stress that results in emthresistance to fatigue and stress failure. In
addition, shot peen forming shapes metal panels agtodynamic curvatures, which are assembledrag skins of commercial and military
aircraft. Curtiss-Wright conducts shot peen formimgwing panels and other components for AirbugiBg, and other aerospace OEMSs.

Laser Peening

Laser peening is a sophisticated surface treatprentss that utilizes a proprietary high energgraeveloped in conjunction with the



Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory. Althouglsisimilar in nature to shot peening, the lasempey process results in unprecedented
resistance to fatigue and stress failure. It iglusgroduction to form the wing skins on the Bagit#7-8 aircraft, and also to extend the life of
critical commercial and industrial components, iiaiihg critical turbine engine fan blades.




Specialty Coatings

Specialty coatings primarily consist of the appiiza of solid film lubricant and corrosion resistgmotective coatings to metal components
used in critical applications for a broad rangéndiistries. The coatings are applied by eitheriaspaiay or a dipping and spinning process for
bulk applications.

We also supply thermal spray coatings to complernengxisting portfolio of highly engineered coatitechnologies. Thermal spray coatings
include high velocity oxygen fuel, plasma sprayd ame spray coatings.

We also have diversified our capabilities into glhewing medical market by the addition of a vapepakition process to apply parylene
coatings to medical devices, including rubber dlicbsie seals and wire forming mandrels used innttamufacture of catheters. Parylene
coatings provide resistance to solvents and mastnd are biocompatible.

Analytical Services

Analytical Services provides mechanical and metgital testing services to materials for the aeaosp power generation, and medical
markets. This technology is used in the manufaatuvialue chain for components in premium industriatkets, providing a complete range of
testing capabilities includes fatigue testing, ntetgical analysis, chemical analysis, mechanieatihg, failure analysis, and training. Material
testing is utilized in the ogeing quality assurance of raw materials for praiducmanufacturing as well as for the validatiomefv componel
designs. In addition to the aforementioned capadslithis segment also provides nondestructiveeicison, plating, and anodizing services.

Backlog

Backlog for this segment was $3 million , as of Baber 31, 2013 and 2012 , all of which is expettdae recognized in the first quarter of
2014 . Due to the nature of our Surface Technofddpasiness, we operate with a very limited backdbgrders. Thus, the backlog of this
segment is not indicative of our future sales. Beigment's sales and profitability are closelyradig) with general industrial economic
conditions and, in particular, the commercial apaae market.

OTHER INFORMATION

Acquisitions
During 2013, we acquired 5 businesses and expeaxrttinue to seek core "tuck in" acquisitions #ua consistent with our long-term growth
strategy.

Flow Control:

» The Marine and Power Products division acquihedoutstanding shares of Phénix Holding GmbH &#.8 million , net of cash
acquired. Phonix, headquarter in Germany, is agdesiand manufacturer of valves and valve systamnihe global chemical,
petrochemical, and power (both convention and ruLimarkets.

» The Oil and Gas Systems division acquired tisetasof Gulf33 Valve Pros, LLC, for $3.3 milliam cash. Gulf33 provides valve ref
and maintenance services to the offshore oil ascwarket.

*  The Nuclear Group division acquired the asseBwalpath, Inc. for $2.3 million in cash. Ovalpasha developer of proprietary
software platforms used in mobile-device basediepibns servicing the commercial nuclear powerkatar

Controls:
» The Defense Solutions division acquired thelstifdParvus Corporation for $37.1 million in caBtarvus is a designer and
manufacturer of rugged small form factor compugerd communications subsystems for the aerospafansde homeland security,

and industrial markets.

e The Avionics and Industrial division acquire@ ttnembership interests of Arens Controls, LLC f@5.$ million in cash. Arens is a
designer and manufacturer of highly-engineered;igien operator interface controls, and power manant systems for commercial



and off-road industrial vehicles.
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Certain Financial Information

For information regarding sales by geographic negsee Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statésrcontained in Part I, Item 8, of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In 2013, 2012, and 2011, our foreign operatgerserated 51% , 59% , and 43% , respectively, opoertax earnings.

Pre-tax foreign earnings, as a percent of totakg@xeearnings, decreased in 2013, as comparedl®, plimarily due to certain significant
items, described below, that lowered 2012 domestinings and did not recur in the current yeaaddition, our PG Drives acquisition, which
is primarily based in the United Kingdom, contrigditto higher foreign earnings in 2013, as comptrat12. Pre-tax foreign earnings, as a
percent of total pre-tax earnings, increased ir22@% compared to 2011, primarily due to the an@rétnpact and operational improvements
from our 2011 ACRA acquisition within our Contralsgment. The decrease in 2012 domestic pre-taigaris mainly attributable to
expenses from the 2012 restructuring initiative sigdificant items within the Flow Control segmenth as the strike at our EMD facility and
changes in estimates on our AP1000 long term comffhe impact of these changes is further desdrilbétem 7. Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result©gpkrations.

Government Sales

Our direct sales to the U.S. Government and forgirernment end use represented 30% , 37% , andfitétsolidated revenue during
2013, 2012, and 201 Xespectively. The decrease in government salesnsrily due to our strategy to diversify our mess, which has be
accomplished over the last three years throughisitigns serving commercial markets. U.S. Governinsates, both direct and indirect, are
generally made under standard types of governnmitacts, including fixed price, fixed price-red®tinable, and cost plus fixed or award
fees.

In accordance with normal U.S. Government busipesstices, contracts and orders are subject teapartcomplete termination at any time at
the option of the customer. In the event of a taation for convenience by the government, theregaly are provisions for recovery of our
allowable incurred costs and a proportionate shitiee profit or fee on the work completed, coreistwith regulations of the U.S.
Government. Fixed-price redeterminable contracsally provide that we absorb the majority of angtoverrun. In the event that there is a
cost underrun, the customer recoups a portioneofittderrun based upon a formula in which the cust@nportion increases as the underrun
exceeds certain established levels.

Generally, long-term contracts with the U.S. Goweent require us to invest in and carry signifidenels of inventory. However, where
allowable, we utilize progress payments and othirim billing practices on nearly all of these trants, thus reducing the overall working
capital requirements. It is our policy to seek oustry progress payments on certain of our contréiékgere we obtain such payments under
U.S. Government prime contracts or subcontracés|tls. Government has either title to or a secumedlest in the materials and work in
process allocable or chargeable to the respeobntracts. (See Notes 1.F, 4, and 5 to the Congdetidainancial Statements, contained in Part
I, Item 8, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K).

Customers

We have hundreds of customers in the various inégsive serve. No commercial customer accountethfe than 10% of our total sales
during 2013, 2012, or 2011 .

Approximately 25% , 30% , and 34% of our total sdte 2013 , 2012, and 2011 , respectively, werévdd from contracts with agencies of,
and prime contractors to, the U.S. Government.rinfdion on the Company’s sales to the U.S. Goventniecluding direct sales as a prime
contractor and indirect sales as a subcontragas follows:

Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Flow Control $ 293,78¢ $ 274,52¢ $ 299,19¢
Controls 305,74: 313,20° 343,90(
Surface Technologies 33,29 40,01t 39,35:

Total Government sales $ 632,82. $ 627,75( $ 682,44
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Patents

We own and are licensed under a number of UnitateStand foreign patents and patent applicationghahave been obtained or filed over a
period of years. We also license intellectual propt and from third parties. Specifically, theSJ Government has licenses in our patents th:
are developed in performance of government corgracid it may use or authorize others to use theniions covered by such patents for
government purposes. Additionally, unpatented mebeaevelopment, and engineering skills, somelatiwhave been acquired by us through
business acquisitions, make an important contdinuid our business. While our intellectual propeigits in the aggregate are important to th
operation of our business, we do not consider ticeessful conduct of our business or business saigrtebe materially dependent upon the
timing of expiration or protection of any one oogp of patents, patent applications, or patenhieeagreements under which we now operate

Research and Developme

We conduct research and development activitiesrurusdomer-sponsored contracts, shared developroetracts, and our own independent
research and development activities. Custospemnsored research and development costs are dhiargests of goods sold when the assoc
revenue is recognized. Funds received under shieeelopment contracts are a reduction of the t#aelopment expenditures under the
shared contract and are shown net as researcheaetbgment costs. Company-sponsored research aetbdment costs are charged to
expense when incurred. Customer-sponsored reseadctievelopment activity amounted to $5 milliod 9 $nillion , and $30 million , in
2013, 2012, and 2011 , respectively. Researcldandlopment expenses amounted to $69 million /@n , and $62 million in 2013 ,
2012, and 2011, respectively.

Raw Materials

Raw materials are generally available in adequasatities from a number of suppliers; however,ln Gontrols segment we may utilize sole-
source suppliers. Thus, the failure and or ingbdita sole-source supplier to provide produch €ontrols segment could have an adverse
impact on the segment’s financial performance. ¥ahlternatives could be identified to replace a-swlurce supplier, a transition could result
in increased costs and manufacturing delays.

Environmental Protectio

We are subject to federal, state, local, and for&agys, regulations, and ordinances that goverinities or operations that may have adverse
environmental effects, such as discharges to dimater. These laws, regulations, and ordinancesatsa apply to handling and disposal
practices for solid and hazardous waste and imfmisiéity for the costs of cleaning up and for @@ntdamages resulting from sites of past
spills, disposals, or other releases of hazardohstances.

At various times, we have been identified as amqi@hy responsible party pursuant to the ComprehenEnvironmental Response,
Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980 (CERCLAhdhanalogous state environmental laws, for thenclpaf contamination resulting from
past disposals of hazardous wastes at certainntuanel former facilities and at sites to which among others, sent waste. CERCLA requires
potentially responsible persons to pay for cleapiugites from which there has been a release eatbned release of hazardous substances.
Courts have interpreted CERCLA to impose striatj@ind several liability on all persons liable étganup costs. As a practical matter,
however, at sites where there are multiple potiytiasponsible persons, the costs of cleanup alfyiare allocated among the parties
according to volumetric or other standards.

Information concerning our specific environmentiabllities is described in Notes 1.N and 16 to@mnsolidated Financial Statements
contained in Part Il, Iltem 8, of this Annual RepontForm 10-K.
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Executive Officer

Executive
Name Current Position Business Experience Age Officer Since

Martin R. Benante Executive Chairman Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors of 61 1999
Corporation since April 2000. Served as C
Executive Officer of the Corporation from April 20
prior to his retirement from that position in Aug
2013. He has been a Director of the Corporatione
1999.

David C. Adams President and Chief ExecutivePresident and Chief Executive Officer of 59 2005
Officer Corporation since August 2013. Prior to his prowm,
he served as Chief Operating Officer from Octc
2012 and as Coehief Operating Officer fror
November 2008. He has been a Director of
Corporation since August 2013.

Thomas P. Quinly Chief Operating Officer Chief Operating Officer of the Corporation sit 55 2010
October 2013. Prior to his promotion, he servettias
President of the Corporation from November 2010
served as President of Curti&ight Controls, Inc
from November 2008.

Glenn E. Tynan Vice President of Finance andVice President of Finance and Chief Financial @fif 55 2000
Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation since June 2002.
Michael J. Denton Vice President, Secretary, andVice President, Secretary, and General Counsdhe 58 2001
General Counsel Corporation since August 2001.
Glenn G. Coleman Vice President and Corporate Vice President and Corporate Controller of 46 2008
Controller Corporation since May 2008.
Harry S. Jakubowitz ~ Vice President and Treasurer Vice President of the Corporation since May 200d 61 2005
Treasurer of the Corporation since September 2005.
Paul J. Ferdenzi Vice President- Human Vice President Human Resources of the Corporai 46 2011
Resources, Associate Generalkince November 2011 and has served as Asst
Counsel, and Assistant General Counsel and Assistant Secretary of
Secretary Corporation since June 1999 and May 2
respectively.
Employee!

At the end of 2013, we had approximately 10,00pleyees, 6%of which are represented by labor unions and calvieyecollective bargainir
agreements.

Available informatior

We file annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly mpon Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, pruky statements for our annual
stockholders’ meetings, as well as any amendmeriteose reports, with the Securities and Exchargar@ission (SEC). The public may read
and copy any of our materials filed with the SEGhat SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Strelef,Washington, DC 20549. The public
may obtain information on the operation of the RuBlkeference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SB830The SEC also maintains an
Internet site at www.sec.gov that contains repgntsxy and information statements, and other infitiom regarding issuers that file
electronically with the SEC, including our filingBhese reports are also available free of changaigih our web site atww.curtisswright.com
as soon as reasonably practicable after we elecaibnfile.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

We have summarized below the significant, knownemalrisks to our business. Our business, findrciadition, and results of operations
cash flows could be materially and adversely impaét any of these risks materialize. Additionakrfactors not currently known to us or that
we believe are immaterial may also impair our bese financial condition, and results of operatidie risk factors below should be
considered together with information included elsere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K as welb#eer required filings by us to the
Securities Exchange Commission, such as our For@'§0Form 8-K’s, proxy statements for our anndsreholder meetings, and subsequen
amendments, if any.

A substantial portion of our revenues and earnidgpends upon the continued willingness of the @dsernment and our other customer:
the defense industry to buy our products and sesvic

In 2013 , approximately 30% of our revenues werévdd from or related to defense programs. U.Seied spending has historically been
cyclical, and defense budgets tend to rise wheogperd threats to national security increase thel lef concern over the country’s safety. At
other times, spending by the military can decre@senpeting demands for federal funds can put pressuall areas of discretionary spending
which could ultimately impact the defense budgetiesrease in U.S. Government defense spendingaoigels in spending allocation could
result in one or more of our programs being redudethyed, or terminated. Reductions in defensasirg spending may or may not have an
adverse effect on programs for which we providedpots and services. In the event expenditureseaigced for products we manufacture or
services we provide and are not offset by revefmees foreign sales, new programs, or products orises that we currently manufacture or
provide, we may experience a reduction in our reaesrand earnings and a material adverse effeaiobusiness, financial condition, and
results of operations.

As a U.S. Government contractor, we are subjeattamber of procurement rules and regulatic

We must comply with and are affected by laws amlilaions relating to the award, administratiorg aerformance of U.S. Government
contracts. Government contract laws and regulatdfest how we do business with our customers emsipme instances, impose added costs
on our business. A violation of specific laws aadulations could result in the imposition of fireesl penalties or the termination of our
contracts or debarment from bidding on contract®sE fines and penalties could be imposed fongatld follow procurement integrity and
bidding rules, employing improper billing practicasotherwise failing to follow cost accountingratiards, receiving or paying kickbacks, or
filing false claims. We have been, and expect tttioae to be, subjected to audits and investigatlpngovernment agencies. The failure to
comply with the terms of our government contractsld harm our business reputation. It could alsailtén our progress payments being
withheld.

In some instances, these laws and regulations ienfgosis or rights that are more favorable to theegument than those typically available to
commercial parties in negotiated transactions.éxample, the U.S. Government may terminate anypfjovernment contracts and, in
general, subcontracts, at its convenience as wdtiradefault based on performance. Upon termingtio convenience of a fixed-price type
contract, we normally are entitled to receive thechase price for delivered items, reimbursemenafiowable costs for work-in-process, and
an allowance for profit on work actually completadthe contract or adjustment for loss if compleid performance would have resulted in a
loss. Upon termination for convenience of a coshb&irsement contract, we normally are entitledeimbursement of allowable costs plus a
portion of the fee. Such allowable costs would ratyninclude our cost to terminate agreements withsuppliers and subcontractors. The
amount of the fee recovered, if any, is relatethéoportion of the work accomplished prior to teration and is determined by negotiation.

A termination arising out of our default could espaus to liability and have a material adversecefi@ our ability to compete for future
contracts and orders. In addition, on those cotgffac which we are teamed with others and arghprime contractor, the U.S. Government
could terminate a prime contract under which weaasabcontractor, irrespective of the quality of services as a subcontractor.

In addition, our U.S. Government contracts typicajpan one or more base years and multiple opgansy The U.S. Government generally
the right to not exercise option periods and mayemxercise an option period if the agency is ntisBad with our performance on the contract
or does not receive funding to continue the progrdrs. Government procurement may adversely affectash flow or program profitability.

A significant reduction in the purchase of our proid by the U.S. government could have a matediedise effect on our business. The risk
that governmental purchases of our products mangestems from the nature of our business withUtfe. government, where it may:

» terminate, reduce, or modify contracts or subcatdrd its requirements or budgetary constraineancfe
» cancel multiyear contracts and related orders if funds becamagailable; an
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» shift its spending prioritie
In addition, as a defense contractor, we are sttgeatsks in connection with government contrastsluding without limitation:

» the frequent need to bid on programs prior to cetimd the necessary design, which may result ion@seen technological difficulti
and/or cost overruns;

« the difficulty in forecasting long-term costsdaschedules and the potential obsolescence of prodeiated to long-term, fixed price
contracts;

« contracts with varying fixed terms that may hetrenewed or followed by follown contracts upon expiratic

« cancellation of the folloven production phase of contracts if program reeu@sts are not met in the development pt

» the failure of a prime contractor customer to penf@n a contrac

» the fact that government contract wins can be abateby other contractors; ¢

» the inadvertent failure to comply with any the UGvernment rules, laws and regulations, includiegFalse Claims Act or the Arr
Export Control Act.

Sequestration and regulatory changes related tdil®& Government Defense Budget could negativeglgdtrour revenues and results of
operations.

In January 2014, President Obama signed into lawCttnsolidated Appropriations Act, 2014, an omnigqusnding bill. The law provides
$520.5 billion for defense and $491.7 billion famdefense discretionary programs through SepteBMhe2014 and replaces what would have
been the second round of across-the-board sequesteisequestratiorthandated by the 2011 Budget Control Act. The amtiges for mode
sequester relief in FY14 and provides the DoD aaldhitl stability and flexibility to entertain muljiear contracts. Despite these benefits, the
DoD and contractors will still face significant dlemges over the next decade as a result of saqtiest While such reductions to future DoD
spending levels are largely undetermined, any galuin levels of DoD spending, cancellations olagle impacting existing contracts or
programs, including through sequestration, coultehmmaterial impact on the Corporation’s resultsperations, financial position, or cash
flows.

The success of our growth strategy is dependent apoability to complete acquisitions and integratcquired businesses.

Our strategy includes both growth through coreKitim¢ acquisitions and organic growth. As a resaitr future growth depends in part on our
ability to implement our acquisition strategy amgtaessfully integrate acquired businesses integisting operations. If we are unable to
identify suitable candidates, negotiate approp@atgisition terms, obtain financing, and succdbsintegrate acquired businesses into our
existing operations, our growth strategy may nostecessful. In addition, acquisitions involve nwouws risks, including difficulties in the
assimilation of the operations, technologies, amdipcts of the acquired company, the potential tddseey employees of the acquired comp.
and the diversion of our management’s attentiomfather business concerns. This is the case plarticin the fiscal quarters immediately
following the completion of an acquisition since thperations of the acquired business are intedjiate the acquiring businesses’ operations
during this period. We cannot be sure that we adgtturately anticipate all of the changing demahdsany future acquisition may impose on
our management or on our operational, financiad, management information systems. Once integratijired operations may not achieve
levels of revenue, profitability, or productivitpmparable to those of our existing operations oy otherwise not perform as we expected. We
may fail to discover liabilities relating to a pémgl acquisition during the due diligence investigat liabilities for which we, as the successor
owner, might be responsible. Although we seek toimmize the impact of potential undiscovered liala by structuring acquisitions to
minimize liabilities and obtaining indemnities awdrranties from the selling party, these methodg nw fully protect us from the impact of
undiscovered liabilities. For example, indemnitiesvarranties are often limited in scope, amoumd, duration and may not fully cover the
liabilities for which they were intended. If indeities or warranties are limited, the liabilitiesattare not covered by the limited indemnities or
warranties could have a material adverse effecdurbusiness and financial condition.
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We use estimates when accounting for long-ternracist Changes in estimates could affect our pbfiity and overall financial position.

Long-term contract accounting requires judgment relativassessing risks, estimating contract revennésasts, and making assumptions
schedule and technical issues. Due to the sizeatule of many of our contracts, the estimatiotot#l revenues and costs at completion is
complicated and subject to many variables. For g@nmnassumptions have to be made regarding théherigime to complete the contract as
costs also include expected increases in wageprares for materials. Similarly, assumptions haved¢ made regarding the future impact of
efficiency initiatives and cost reduction efforitscentives, awards, price escalations, liquida@uages, or penalties related to performance o
contracts are considered in estimating revenueparfit rates and are recorded when there is sefficinformation to assess anticipated
performance. It is possible that materially diffiramounts could be obtained, because of the gignife of the judgments and estimation
processes described above, if different assumpti@ne used or if the underlying circumstances wehange. Changes in underlying
assumptions, circumstances, or estimates may henatexial adverse effect upon future period finah@porting and performance. See
“Critical Accounting Estimates and Policies” in PHy Iltem 7 of this form 10-K.

If we fail to satisfy our contractual obligationsirocontracts may be terminated and we may incumi@ant costs or liabilities, includin
liquidated damages and penalties.

In general, our contracts may be terminated forfailuire to satisfy our contractual obligations.dadition, some of our contracts contain
substantial liquidated damages provisions and Gisdpenalties related to our failure to satisfy oantractual obligations. For example, the
terms of the Electro-Mechanical divisions’ AP1006ii& and AP1000 United States contracts with Wgbktimse include liquidated damage
penalty provisions for failure to meet contractdelivery dates if we caused the delay and the dess/not excusable. On October 10, 2013,
we received a letter from Westinghouse statinglentents to the maximum amount of liquidated daradi®wable under the AP1000 China
contract of approximately $25 million. To date, have not met certain contractual delivery datefeatthe AP 1000 China contract; however
there are significant uncertainties as to whichipsiare responsible for the delays, and we belie/bave adequate legal defenses.
Consequently, as a result of the above mattersayeincur significant costs or liabilities, includi penalties, which could have a material
adverse effect on our financial position, resufteperations, or cash flows.

Our backlog is subject to reduction and cancellatiohich could negatively impact our revenues aslits of operations.

Backlog represents products or services that ostooers have committed by contract to purchase trent otal backlog includes both funded
(unfilled orders for which funding is authorizegypsopriated, and contractually obligated by the@uer) and unfunded backlog (firm orders
for which funding has not been appropriated andémtractually obligated by the customer). The Caafion is a subcontractor to prime
contractors for the vast majority of our governmemsiness; as such, substantially all amounts ¢klbg are funded. Backlog excludes
unexercised contract options and potential ordedeuordering type contracts (e.g. Indefinite Dafyw/ Indefinite Quantity). Backlog is
adjusted for changes in foreign exchange ratessaratiuced for contract cancellations and termametin the period in which they occur.
Backlog as of December 31, 2013 was $1,716 milliBacklog is subject to fluctuations and is notessarily indicative of future sales. The
U.S. government may unilaterally modify or can¢gldontracts. In addition, under certain of our owrcial contracts, our customers may
unilaterally modify or terminate their orders ayaime for their convenience. Accordingly, certpiortions of our backlog can be cancelled or
reduced at the option of the U.S. government amaneercial customers. Our failure to replace candeadiereduced backlog could negatively
impact our revenues and results of operations.

Our future financial results could be adversely aofed by asset impairment charges.

At December 31, 2013 , we had goodwill and othtarigible assets, net of accumulated amortizatibapproximately $1,582 million , which
represented approximately 46% of our total as€ais.goodwill is subject to an impairment test oraanual basis and is also tested whenevel
events and circumstances indicate that goodwill beaympaired. Any excess goodwill resulting frore tnpairment test must be written off in
the period of determination. Intangible assetsgiothan goodwill) are generally amortized overubeful life of such assets. In addition, from
time to time, we may acquire or make an investnreatbusiness that will require us to record godidvaised on the purchase price and the
value of the acquired assets. We may subsequetrience unforeseen issues with such businesadhatsely affect the anticipated returns
of the business or value of the intangible assadstiggger an evaluation of the recoverability ko recorded goodwill and intangible assets for
such business. Future determinations of signifieaite-offs of goodwill or intangible assets aseault of an impairment test or any accelerate
amortization of other intangible assets could reweaterial adverse impact on our results of opmmatand financial condition.
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We operate in highly competitive markets.

We compete against companies that often have grestes volumes and financial, research, humanparéleting resources than we have. In
addition, some of our largest customers could dgvtie capability to manufacture products or pressdrvices similar to products that we
manufacture or services that we provide. This woeslt in these customers supplying their own petglor services and competing directly
with us for sales of these products or servicégifalhich could significantly reduce our revenuEarthermore, we are facing increased
international competition and crobsrder consolidation of competition. Our managenhbetieves that the principal points of competitiorour
markets are technology, product quality, perforneapeice, technical expertise, and timeliness tif’deg. If we are unable to compete
successfully with existing or new competitors iegh areas, our business, financial position, estilbperations, or cash flows, could be
materially and adversely impacted.

Our future growth and continued success is depanggmn our key personnel.

Our success is dependent upon the efforts of mioismanagement personnel and our ability to ataad retain other highly qualified
management and technical personnel. We face caimpefor management and qualified technical persbfmom other companies and
organizations. Therefore, we may not be able tinmeiur existing management and technical persamidl new management or technical
positions or vacancies created by expansion opugnat our existing compensation levels. Althoughhave entered into change of control
agreements with some members of senior managememt) not have employment contracts with our kegcekves. We have made a
concerted effort to reduce the effect of the Idssur senior management personnel through managesuecession planning. The loss of
members of our senior management and qualifiechteahpersonnel could have a material and advdfeeten our business.

Our international operations are subject to riskedavolatility.

During 2013, approximately 29% of our consolidatexenue was from customers outside of the Unitate§, and we have operating facilities
in foreign countries. Doing business in foreign mimies is subject to numerous risks, including withlimitation: political and economic
instability; the uncertainty of the ability of ndnS. customers to finance purchases; restrictadetipolicies; and complying with foreign
regulatory and tax requirements that are subjechémge. While these factors or the impact of tiiestrs are difficult to predict, any one or
more of these factors could adversely affect o@rafons. To the extent that foreign sales arestreted in foreign currencies and we do not
enter into currency hedge transactions, we ares@t risk of losses due to fluctuations in fonesgrrency exchange rates, particularly fol
Canadian dollar, the Euro, Swiss franc, and thédBrpound. Significant fluctuations in the valdetee currencies of the countries in which we
do business could have an adverse effect on oultsed operations.

We may be unable to protect the value of our ie¢tlial property.

Obtaining, maintaining, and enforcing our intelleadtproperty rights and avoiding infringing on iheellectual property rights of others are
important factors to the operation of our busin¥gkile we take precautionary steps to protect echmological advantages and intellectual
property and rely in part on patent, trademarldersecret, and copyright laws, we cannot assutéhtbarecautionary steps we have taken wil
completely protect our intellectual property riglBecause patent applications in the United Statesnaintained in secrecy until either the
patent application is published or a patent isadswe may not be aware of third-party patentermadpplications, and other intellectual
property relevant to our products that may blockuse of our intellectual property or may be usethirdparty products that compete with
products and processes. When others infringe omtltectual property rights, the value of our gwots is diminished, and we may incur
substantial litigation costs to enforce our rigl8snilarly, we may incur substantial litigation t®snd the obligation to pay royalties if others
claim we infringed on their intellectual propertghts. When we develop intellectual property ardhtelogies with funding from U.S.
Government contracts, the government has the sejfaé right to use that property.

In addition to our patent rights, we also rely ampatented technology, trade secrets, and confalénformation. Others may independently
develop substantially equivalent information anchtéques or otherwise gain access to or discloséeghnology. We may not be able to
protect our rights in unpatented technology, treelerets, and confidential information effectivalye require each of our employees and
consultants to execute a confidentiality agreemaéettie commencement of an employment or consulélgionship with us. There is no
guarantee that we will succeed in obtaining anaimatg executed agreements from all employees mswdtants. Moreover, these agreements
may not provide effective protection of our infortioa or, in the event of unauthorized use or disgfe, they may not provide adequate
remedies.
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Our operations are subject to numerous domesticiarinational laws, regulations, and restrictiors)d noncompliance with these laws,
regulations, and restrictions could expose ustesi penalties, suspension, or debarment, whiclddwmve a material adverse effect on our
profitability and overall financial conditior

We have contracts and operations in many partseofvbrld subject to United States and foreign lamg regulations, including the False
Claims Act, regulations relating to import-expoontrol (including the International Traffic in Arni®egulation promulgated under the Arms
Export Control Act), technology transfer restricks repatriation of earnings, exchange controks Rbreign Corrupt Practices Act, the U.K.
Anti-Bribery Act, and the anti-boycott provisionstbhe U.S. Export Administration Act. Although weve implemented policies and
procedures and provided training that we belieeesafficient to address these risks, we cannotagutee that our operations will always
comply with these laws and regulations. Failuraubyr our sales representatives or consultantsrmiply with these laws and regulations cc
result in administrative, civil, or criminal lialties and could, in the extreme case, result ipsnsion or debarment from government contract
or suspension of our export privileges, which cchage a material adverse effect on our business.

We are subject to liability under environmental faw

Our business and facilities are subject to numefedsral, state, local, and foreign laws and regara relating to the use, manufacture,
storage, handling, and disposal of hazardous naédexnd other waste products. Environmental lameigdly impose liability for investigatiol
remediation, and removal of hazardous materialsofimer waste products on property owners and tiwsedispose of materials at waste sites
whether or not the waste was disposed of legaltiieatime in question. We are currently addressimgronmental remediation at certain
current and former facilities, and we have beenathas a potentially responsible party along witfeobrganizations in a number of
environmental clean-up sites and may be namedrinegiion with future sites. We are required to dbaote to the costs of the investigation
and remediation and to establish reserves in aanfiial statements for future costs deemed prolzatfileestimable. Although we have
estimated and reserved for future environmentakdiation costs, the final resolution of these liibs may significantly vary from our
estimates and could potentially have an adverseteéin our results of operations and financial tpmsi

Unanticipated changes in our tax provisions or esyre to additional income tax liabilities could edf our profitability.

Our business operates in many locations under govemt jurisdictions that impose income taxes. Charig domestic or foreign income tax
laws and regulations, or their interpretation, dowsult in higher or lower income tax rates assiss changes in the taxability of certain
revenues or the deductibility of certain expensieeseby affecting our income tax expense and iofity. Corporate tax reform continues to
be a priority in the U.S. and other jurisdictio@hanges to the tax system in the U.S. could hayréfgiant effects, positive or negative, on our
effective tax rate and on our deferred tax asseddiabilities. In addition, audits by income taxtlorities could result in unanticipated
increases in our income tax expense.

Our current debt, and debt we may incur in thereiteould adversely affect our business and firarmbsition.

As of December 31, 2013, we had $960 million dftdmitstanding, of which $959 million is long-tedwabt. Our level of debt could have
significant consequences for our business includiguiring us to use our cash flow to pay the @pal and interest on our debt, reducing
funds available for acquisitions and other investtaén our business; making us vulnerable to ecandmwnturns and increases in interest
rates; limiting us from obtaining additional deaitd impacting our ability to pay dividends.

A percentage of our workforce is employed unddectiVe bargaining agreemen

Approximately 6% of our workforce is employed undelective bargaining agreements, which from timéme are subject to renewal and
negotiation. We cannot ensure that we will be sssfte in negotiating new collective bargaining agnents, that such negotiations will not
result in significant increases in the cost of kaloo that a breakdown in such negotiations will msult in the disruption of our operations.
Although we have generally enjoyed good relatioith Wwoth our unionized and non-unionized employédese are subject to labor actions, we
may experience an adverse impact on our operasgts.

For example, on August 24, 2012, the Electronic hd@ical Division (EMD) of Curtiss Wright's Flow Cwl segment experienced a strike at
its Cheswick, Pennsylvania facility. The finandiapacts of the strike were an $18 million and $8@iam shift in revenue and operating
income, respectively, from 2012 to 2013, due totémeporary suspension of work, and an additionah$kon unfavorable impact to operating
income as a result of unrecoverable absorptiorveflead costs.
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Substantial defaults by our customers related twoaaots receivable or the loss of significant cugimsitould have a significant negative img
on our business, results of operations, financaldition or liquidity.

A significant portion of our working capital consof accounts receivable from customers. If cust@mesponsible for a significant amount of
accounts receivable were to become insolvent @ratilse unable to pay for products and servicesjere to become unwilling or unable to
make payments in a timely manner, our businessltsesf operations, financial condition or liquigitould be adversely affected. An economic
or industry downturn could adversely and materiaffgct the servicing of these accounts receivabtéch could result in longer payment
cycles, increased collection costs, and defaulex@ess of management’s expectations.

Our earnings and margins depend in part on subamttr performance, as well as raw material and comgnt availability and pricing.

Our businesses depend on suppliers and subcomgrdotaaw materials and components. At times sabrectors perform services that we
provide to our customers. We depend on these stiactors and vendors to meet their contractuabatibbns in full compliance with customer
requirements. Generally, raw materials and purchasenponents are available from a number of diffeseippliers, though several suppliers
are our sole source of certain components. If @solrce supplier should cease or otherwise be@it@ieliver such components, our
operating results could be adversely impacteddtfiteon, our supply networks can sometimes expegerice fluctuations. Our ability to
perform our obligations as a prime contractor mayabversely affected if one or more of these sepplre unable to provide the agreed-upor
supplies or perform the agreed-upon services imaly and cost-effective manner. While we haverafied to mitigate the effects of increasec
costs through price increases, there are no asmsdmat higher prices can effectively be passeaitih to our customers or that we will be i

to offset fully or on a timely basis the effectshiher raw materials costs through price increases

Our business involves risks associated with complaxufacturing processes.

Our manufacturing processes depend on certain stgated and high-value equipment. Unexpectedrislof this equipment may result in
production delays, revenue loss, and significapairecosts. In addition, equipment failures cowdult in injuries to our employees. Moreover,
the competitive nature of our businesses requisee gontinuously implement process changes intttalachieve product improvements and
manufacturing efficiencies. These process changgsantimes result in production delays, qualitpoerns, and increased costs. Any
disruption of operations at our facilities due tpugment failures or process interruptions couldeha material adverse effect on our business.

The airline industry is heavily regulated, and & fail to comply with applicable requirements, oesults of operations could suffer.

Governmental agencies throughout the world, inclgdhe U.S. Federal Aviation Administration (FAA)dathe European Aviation Safety
Agency, prescribe standards and qualification mequénts for aircraft components, including virtyalll commercial airline and general
aviation products. Specific regulations vary froauetry to country, although compliance with FAA ugg@ments generally satisfies regulatory
requirements in other countries. We include, wlit products that we sell to our aircraft manufastucustomers, documentation certifying
that each part complies with applicable regulateguirements and meets applicable standards obehimess established by the FAA or the
equivalent regulatory agencies in other counttiesrder to sell our products, we and the produasnanufacture must also be certified by
individual OEM customers. If any of the materiatharizations or approvals qualifying us to supply products is revoked or suspended, thei
the sale of the subject product would be prohibitgdaw, which would have an adverse effect ontmsiness, financial condition, and results
of operations.

From time to time, the FAA or equivalent regulatagencies in other countries propose new reguktiorthanges to existing regulations,
which are usually more stringent than existing fatjons. If these proposed regulations are adogtedenacted, we may incur significant
additional costs to achieve compliance, which cdwslde a material adverse effect on our businasasndial condition, and results of operatic

Our future success will depend, in part, on ouligbto develop new technologies.

Virtually all of the products produced and soldusyare highly engineered and require sophistica@aufacturing and system-integration
techniques and capabilities. The commercial anégowent markets in which we operate are charaettby rapidly changing technologies.
The product and program needs of our governmentamercial customers change and evolve reguladgordingly, our future
performance depends in part on our ability to idgm®merging technological trends, develop and nfiacture competitive products, and bring
those products to market quickly at cost-effecfiviees.
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Potential product liability risks exist from theqaucts that we sel

We manufacture highly engineered products, and pumtiucts may contain design or manufacturing sroordefects, which may result in
product liability claims against us. For exampieDiecember 2013, we, along with other unaffiligtedties, received a claim from Canadian
Natural Resources Limited (CNRL) pertaining tora fand explosion at a delayed coker unit at C’s Fort McMurray refinery which resulted
in the injury of five CNRL employees, damage tog@ay and equipment, and various forms of conseiipldass such as loss of profit, lost
opportunities, and business interruption. Thedind explosion occurred when a CNRL employee byplasseain safety controls and opened
an operating coker unit. The total quantum of atedamages arising from the incident has not bieatied, but is estimated to meet or
exceed $1 billion . We currently maintain what vediéve to be suitable and adequate commercial gotypjand casualty, product liability, and
other forms of insurance to cover this matter ath@iopotential claims. There can be no assurameever, that we will be able to maintain
insurance on acceptable terms or that such insenailicbe provide adequate protection against tipedential liabilities. In the event of a
judgment against us on this matter or other clagwinst us, a lack of sufficient insurance covexagéd have a material adverse effect on
business, financial condition, and results of ofi@na. Moreover, even if we maintain adequate iasce, any successful claim could have a
material adverse effect on our business, finargadition, results of operations, or cash flows] an the ability to obtain suitable or adequate
insurance.

Increasing costs of certain employee and retiragefits could adversely affect our financial positioesults of operations, or cash flov

Our earnings may be positively or negatively impddiy the amount of income or expense we recorddopension and other postretirement
benefit plans. U.S. GAAP requires that we calcuilateme or expense for the plans using actuarialai@ns. These valuations reflect
assumptions relating to financial market and odwamomic conditions. Changes in key economic indisacan change the assumptions. The
most significant year-end assumptions used to astipension or other postretirement benefit exptorshe following year are the discount
rate, the expected long-term rate of return on pksets, expected future medical cost inflatiod,epected compensation increases. In
addition, we are required to make an annual measmeof plan assets and liabilities, which may lteswa significant change to equity
through a reduction or increase to other comprahermscome. For a discussion regarding how ounfaia statements can be affected by
pension and other postretirement benefit planswuattory policies, see “Management’s Discussion andlysis—Critical Accounting Estimate
and Policies—Pension and Other Postretirement Bshaf Part Il, Item 7 of this Form 10-K. Although.S. GAAP expense and pension or
other postretirement contributions are not direnthated, the key economic factors that affect (GBAP expense would also likely affect the
amount of cash the company would contribute tgo#nsion or other postretirement plans. Potentiasioe contributions include both
mandatory amounts required under federal law, Eyg@dretirement Income Security Act, and discretipicantributions to improve the
plans’ funded status. An obligation to make conttitns to pension plans could reduce the cashablaifor working capital and other
corporate uses.

Our operating results and financial condition may ddversely impacted by the current worldwide eatin@onditions.

We currently generate significant operating castv$l, which combined with access to the credit margeovides us with significant
discretionary funding capacity. However, financrarkets in the United States, Europe, and Asia baes experiencing extreme disruption in
recent years, including, among other things, ex¢rgniatility in security prices, severely diminishiquidity and credit availability, rating
downgrades of certain investments and decliningatans of others. While currently these conditibase not impaired our ability to operate
our business, there can be no assurance thatwilen®t be a further deterioration in financial rkats and confidence in major economies,
which could impact customer demand for our produdsvell as our ability to manage normal commeéreiationships with our customers,
suppliers, and creditors. We are unable to preletikely duration and severity of a disruptiorfimancial markets and adverse economic
conditions and the effects they will have on ousibass and financial condition.

Future terror attacks, war, natural disasters, dher events beyond our control could adversely ithpar businesse

Despite our concerted effort to minimize risk ta puoduction capabilities and corporate informatystems and to reduce the effect of
unforeseen interruptions to us through businessragty planning and disaster recovery plans, testattacks, war, natural disasters, such as
hurricanes, floods, tornados, pandemic diseasesther events, such as strikes by a significantoouer’s or supplier's workforce, could
adversely impact demand for or supply of our présland could also cause disruption to our facflibe systems, which could also interrupt
operational processes and adversely impact odutyaftilmanufacture our products and provide sesvexed support to our customers. We
operate facilities in areas of the world that ageosed to natural disasters, such as but not intgéurricanes, floods, tornados, and pandemi
diseases. Financial difficulties of our customeedays by our customers in production of their piaid, high fuel prices, the concern of anothe
major terrorist attack, and the overall decreasadahd for our products could adversely affect qarating results and financial position.
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Intrusion on our systems could damage our busir

We store sensitive data, including intellectualpandy, proprietary business information, and caatfitibl employee information, on our servers
and databases. Despite our implementation of fiteywsawitchgear, and other network security measuvar servers, databases, and other
systems may be vulnerable to computer hackersjqaiys electronic break-ins, sabotage, computersés, worms, and similar disruptions
from unauthorized tampering with our computer systeWe continue to review and enhance our comgytstems to try to prevent
unauthorized and unlawful intrusions, but in thiufa it is possible that we may not be able to en¢all intrusions. Such intrusions could
result in our network security or computer systémisig compromised and possibly result in the misampation or corruption of sensitive
information or cause disruptions in our serviceg WMight be required to expend significant capital eesources to protect against, remediate.
or alleviate problems caused by such intrusiong. guch intrusion could cause us to be non-compliatfit applicable laws or regulations,
subject us to legal claims or proceedings, disouptoperations, damage our reputation, and calessaf confidence in our products and
services, any of which could have a material adveffect on our business, financial condition, egglilts of operations.

There are risks associated with owning our comntooks

Like any equity security, our common stock is sabje a number of risks that may adversely impactsiare price including: there is a limi
trading market in our common stock; we may notimfuture be able to pay dividends on our commockstve may issue common stock for
acquisitions or other purposes that could be déutd current stockholders; and we have variouistakéover defenses such as our rights plan
and our ability to issue preferred stock that miagalirage a potential acquirer.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
Item 2. Properties.

Our corporate headquarters were located at a Idasiitly in Parsippany, New Jersey. As of Janubr2014, we relocated our corporate
headquarters to a leased facility in Charlotte thN@arolina. As of December 31, 2013 , we had 22#ifies worldwide. Approximately 66%
of our facilities operate as manufacturing and Begiing, metal treatment, or aerospace overhantglevhile the remaining 34% operate as
selling and administrative office facilities. Thember and type of facilities utilized by each of oeportable segments is summarized below:

Owned Facilities Location Flow Control Controls Surface Technologies Total

North America 18 3 9 30
Europe 3 1 11 15
Asia 1 — 1 2
Total 22 4 21 47
Leased Facilities Location Flow Control Controls Surface Technologies Total

North America 60 25 38 123
Europe 7 19 14 40
Asia 2 6 3 11
Total 69 50 55 174

Flow Control has principal manufacturing facilitiegated in Canada, Ohio, New York, Pennsylvamal, Bexas. Controls has principal
manufacturing facilities located in California, Gala, Oregon, and North Carolina. Surface Technefolgas principal manufacturing facilities
located in the United Kingdom. The buildings on peperties referred to in this Item are well mainéd, in good condition, and are suitable
and adequate for the uses presently being madhenf.tManagement believes the productive capacityoproperties is adequate to meet our
anticipated volume for the foreseeable future.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

In the ordinary course of business, we and ouridisisies are subject to various pending claims slait¢, and contingent liabilities. We do
believe that the disposition of any of these matterdividually or in the aggregate, will have atereal adverse effect on our consolide
financial position or results of operations.

In December 2013, the Corporation, along with otheaffiliated parties, received a claim, from Caaad\atural Resources Limited (CNRL)
filed in the Court of Queen's Bench of Alberta, idiad District of Calgary. The claim pertains tdanuary 2011 fire and explosion at a delayec
coker unit at its Fort McMurray refinery that reteal in the injury of five CNRL employees, damag@toperty and equipment, and various
forms of consequential loss such as loss of profit,opportunities, and business interruption. fiteeand explosion occurred when a CNRL
employee bypassed certain safety controls and dpemeperating coker unit. The total quantum afgdld damages arising from the incident
has not been finalized, but is estimated to meekoeed $1 billion. The Corporation maintains @asi forms of commercial, property and
casualty, product liability, and other forms ofunsnce; however, such insurance may not be adetjuateer the costs associated with a
judgment against us. The Corporation is currentighle to estimate an amount, or range of potelaaks, if any, from this matter. T
Corporation believes it has adequate legal defemsgsntends to defend this matter vigorously. Teporation's financial condition, results
operations, and cash flows, could be materiallgcéfd during a future fiscal quarter or fiscal yieaunfavorable developments or outcome
regarding this claim.

We have been named in approximately 243 pendinguasvthat allege injury from exposure to asbedtoaddition, to date, we have secured
dismissals with prejudice and without prejudicepproximately 140 and 255 lawsuits, respectivaty are currently in discussions for similar
dismissal of several other lawsuits, and have rehlfound liable or paid any material sum of moinesettlement in any case. We believe that
the minimal use of asbestos in our past and cuogettations and the relatively non-friable conditad asbestos in our products makes it
unlikely that we will face material liability in grasbestos litigation, whether individually or Iretaggregate. We do maintain insurance
coverage for these potential liabilities and wedwe adequate coverage exists to cover any unpatéd asbestos liability.
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Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable
PART II
Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases &quity Securities.

MARKET INFORMATION

Our common stock is listed and traded on the NevkYatock Exchange under the symbol CW.

Stock Price Range 2013 2012

High Low High Low
Common Stock
First Quarter $ 37.1¢  $ 33.4¢ % 4191 $ 35.3¢
Second Quarter 37.4¢ 30.6¢ 37.3¢ 29.07
Third Quarter 48.4( 36.4¢€ 33.11 28.5¢
Fourth Quarter 62.92 44.71 33.41] 28.9¢

As of January 1, 2014 , we had approximately 4/@8istered shareholders of our common stock, $iab@alue.

DIVIDENDS

In the second quarter of 2013, the Corporationeased its dividend to ten cents per share, an 1ihdeéase over the prior year dividenc
nine cents per share.

2013 2012
Common Stock
First Quarter $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
Second Quarter 0.1C 0.0¢
Third Quarter 0.1C 0.0¢
Fourth Quarter 0.1C 0.0¢
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SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY COMENSATION PLANS

The following table sets forth information regamliour equity compensation plans as of Decembef813the end of our most recer
completed fiscal year:

Number of
securities to
be issued upon Weighted average
exercise exercise price of Number of securities remaining
of outstanding outstanding available for future issuance unc
options, options, equity compensation plans
warrants, and warrants, and (excluding securities reflected in
Plan category rights rights the first column)
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders 3,184,313 (a) $34.68 2,540,731 (b)
Equity compensation plans not approved
by security holders None Not applicable Not applicable

(a) Consists of 3,007,70shares issuable upon exercise of outstanding aptémal vesting of performance shares, restrictedeshan
restricted stock units under the 2005 Long-Terneiniwe Plan, 82,848hares issuable under the Employee Stock PurcHase dh
93,765 shares outstanding under the 2005 Stockf@aton-Employee Directors.

(b) Consists of 1,710,472 shares available fourtutoption grants under the 2005 Long-Term IncentNan, 828,168hares remainir
available for issuance under the Employee Stockhlase Plan, and 2,08hares remaining available for issuance under @& &toc
Plan for Non-Employee Directors.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table provides information about aepurchases of equity securities that are regidteyeus pursuant to Section 12 of
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, dtineguarter ended December 31, 2013 .

Maximum

Number of
Total Number of  Shares that
Shares Purchased may

Total Number as Part of a yet be

of Publicly Purchased

shares Average Price  Announced Under the

purchased Paid per Share Program Program
October 1 — October 31 — 3 — — 2,599,21:
November 1 — November 30 — — — 2,599,21.
December 1 — December 31 — — — 2,599,21:
For the quarter ended — 8 — — 2,599,21.

We repurchase shares under a program announceebten®er 28, 2011, which authorizes the Corporatorpurchase up to 3,000,000
shares of our common stock, in addition to apprexéty 690,000 shares remaining under a previouslyasized share repurchase program,
and is subject to a $100 million repurchase lirotatUnder the current program, shares may be psethon the open market, in privately
negotiated transactions and under plans complyittgRules 10b5-1 and 10b-18 under the Securitieh&mnge Act of 1934, as amended.

The following performance graph does not constisigtiéciting material and should not be deemed fidedhcorporated by reference into any
our other filings under the Securities Act or thee&ities Exchange Act of 1934, except to the eéxterspecifically incorporate this informati
by reference therein.
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PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph compares the annual changkdrcumulative total return on our Company’s Comi8tock during the last five fiscal
years with the annual change in the cumulativd tetarn of the Russell 2000 Index, the S&P Smah®80 Index, and our s«constructed
proxy peer group. The proxy peer group companiesarfollows:

AAR Corp EnPro Industries Inc. Mueller Water Rrots Inc
Actuant Corp Esterline Technologies Corp. OrlBeilences Corp

Applied Industrial Technologies Inc Flowserve Corp Rockwell Collins Inc.

B/E Aerospace Inc GenCorp Inc. Spirit Aerosystétolings Inc
Barnes Group Inc Hexcel Corp Teledyne Technobkgie.
CIRCOR International Inc IDEX Corporation Triumg@roup Inc.

Crane Co. Kaman Corp Woodward Inc

Cubic Corp Moog Inc.

The graph assumes an investment of $100 on Dece3tb2008 and the reinvestment of all dividends pkiring the following five fiscal
years.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE FIVE YEAR TOTAL RETURN
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Curtiss=Wright Corp —l— S&P SmaliCap 600 Index
—&— Russell 2000 Peer croup

Company / Index 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
Curtiss-Wright Corp 10C 94.7¢ 101.5: 109.1: 102.5( 196.1¢
S&P SmallCap 600 Index 10C 125.5] 158.6( 160.2: 186.31 263.3]
Russell 2000 10C 127.1% 161.3: 154.5¢ 179.8¢ 249.6¢
Peer group 10C 135.4¢ 172.6¢ 171.9( 198.7: 298.9:

25




Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following table presents our selected finand&h from continuing operations. The table shddead in conjunction with Item 7,
Managemer's Discussion and Analysis of Financial ConditiamdaResults of Operationsnd Item 8Financial Statements and Supplemen
Data, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Five-Year Financial Highlights

CONSOLIDATED SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

(In thousands, except per share data) 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Net sales $ 2510,77. $ 2,097,711 $ 2,016,74. $ 1,85451 $ 1,781,97
Net earnings from continuing operations 137,98: 92,28¢ 118,62( 97,88¢ 93,17(
Total assets 3,458,27. 3,114,58! 2,635,54 2,233,14. 2,137,95
Total debt 959,93t 880,21! 586,43( 396,64« 465,009:
Earnings per share from continuing operation:

Basic $ 294 % 19¢ $ 25¢ $ 214 % 2.0¢

Diluted $ 28t $ 198 % 252 $ 212 % 2.04
Cash dividends per share $ 03¢ $ 03t $ 03z $ 03z $ 0.3z

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations.

Analytical Definitions

Throughout management’s discussion and analydisaricial condition and results of operations, tdrens “incremental” and “organic” are
used to explain changes from period to period. t€h@ “incremental” is used to highlight the impactuisitions had on the current year
results, for which there was no comparable priaryeeriod. Therefore, the results of operationsafmjuisitions are incremental for the first
twelve months from the date of acquisition. The agrimg businesses are referred to as the “orgamtes. definition of “organic” excludes the
effect of foreign currency translation.

COMPANY ORGANIZATION

Our Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Fineincondition and Results of Operations begins waittoverview of our company,
followed by economic and industry-wide factors imjirag our company and the markets we serve, a stsmo of the overall results of
operations, and finally a more detailed discussioiiose results within each of our reportable apieg segments.

We manage and evaluate our operations based qmdtiects and services we offer and the differedtidtries and markets we serve. Based o
this approach, we have three reportable segmelots: €ontrol, Controls, and Surface Technologies.flaher information on our products
and services and the major markets served by oee gegments, refer to the Business Descriptiétain|, Item | of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Market Analysis and Economic Factors

Economic Factors Impacting Our Marke

General Economy

Many of Curtiss-Wright's industrial businesses a@rigen in large part by global economic growth. Wllazconomies continue to slowly recover
from the 2008-2009 global recession, as well as fitwe aftermath of the tsunami that struck Japay &a2011. However, pockets of global
economic instability remain, particularly in Europe 2013, the U.S. economy, as measured by reasgtomestic product (GDP), showed «
modest growth of 1.9%, according to the most reestitnate, compared with a 2.8% increase in 2082aah8% increase in 2011. While U.S.



GDP continues to grow modestly from the global eroit recession, the U.S. continues to deal witlh fégels of unemployment, higher
taxes, and uncertainty in the housing market.
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Looking ahead to 2014, the broader U.S. economypgcted to continue to recover at a moderate pattecurrent estimates for U.S. real
GDP growth ranging from 2.5% to 3.0%. However, Wa@tonomies may continue to experience volatilitg tb the impact of Europe’s debt
crisis and possible contagion effects that couldenmine economic growth in Europe and the resheftorld. Overall, 2014 GDP growth in
world economies is expected to be higher than 2@t3)y Brazil, Russia, India, and China, while &pean economies are expected to incr
slightly. Given that backdrop, we remain cautiougtgimistic that our commercial and industrial metekwill continue to improve in 2014.

Defense

During 2013, approximately 30% of our business atiibuted to the defense sector, predominantthénUnited States, and characterized by
long-term programs and contracts driven primanhthe DoD budgets and funding levels. We have déheérsified portfolio of products and
services that supply all branches of the U.S. amilitwith content on many high performance programn platforms.

The U.S. Defense budget serves as a leading indiohbur defense market, and its future outlook b@en marked with some uncertainty.
Following a period of significant growth in defersggending and related supplemental budgets inrthéqus decade, future defense spending
as it relates to U.S. Defense spending, is expdotbd flat over the next five years. In Januar§£@President Obama signed into law the
Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2014, an omnibpsrsling bill. The law provides $520.5 billion foefénse and $491.7 billion for non-
defense discretionary programs through Septemhe2@®@! and replaces what would have been the seoond of across-the-board sequestel
cuts “sequestration” mandated by the 2011 BudgetrGbAct. The act provides for modest sequestifraen FY14 and provides the DoD
additional stability and flexibility to entertainutti-year contracts.

While we monitor the budget process as it relatggdgrams in which we participate, we cannot ptetthie ultimate impact of future DoD
budgets, which tend to fluctuate year-by-year amdjam-by-program. As a result, some of the budggctions and program cancellations
may negatively impact programs in which we parttép In our ground defense market, we anticipatargt vehicle upgrades and
modernization programs to continue to be funded thenext five years, although the timing is utaierfollowing years of rapid growth from
the supplemental defense budgets and the ongadvgdiswn of our forces from overseas operations.ithddhlly, we expect to benefit from
increased funding levels on C4ISR, electronic warfanmanned systems, and communications prograimis wur aerospace defense market.
In our naval defense market, we expect continuadifig for the U.S. shipbuilding program, particbfas it relates to production on the CVN-
79 Ford class aircraft carrier.

Commercial Aerospace

Approximately 17% of our revenue is derived frora tilobal commercial aerospace market, includingstivemercial jet, regional jet, and
commercial helicopter markets. Our primary focuthis market is OEM products and services for coneiakjets where we provide a
combination of flight control and utility actuatimystems, sensors, and other sophisticated eléxtr@s well as shot and laser peening
services, to our primary customers, in Boeing aimus. Shot and laser peening are also utilizetighly stressed components of turbine
engine fan blades, landing gear, and aircraft &tras.

The largest driver of our commercial aerospacenmssi is OEM parts, which is highly dependent on aeraft production. Industry data
supports a solid increase in commercial aircrafvdees over the next few years, as 2011 markeditst year in a multi-year production up-
cycle for the commercial aerospace market. In threeat cycle, OEM-oriented companies are expeaiguetform well, due to planned
increases in production by Boeing and Airbus, othlbegacy and new aircraft, with record-high bagklon the latter. In addition, according to
the International Air Transport Association (IATA)ir travel continues to be robust and is likelygach almost 3.3 billion passenger miles in
2014, although air freight is likely to remain riabaly flat. As such, following a solid performanoger the past three years, the commercial
aerospace business is expected to continue itslyiov2014. Industry experts also expect a modestii outlook for both regional and
business jets.

Oil and Gas

Approximately 18% of our revenue is derived frora thl and gas market. We have a diverse offeringroflucts to the oil and gas market,
including critical-function valves, valve systerntege process vessels, control electronics, arfdcitreatment services on highly stressed
metal components. Late in 2012, we expanded oerinff to service the emerging shale oil and gaketaincluding hydraulic fracturing
(fracking) techniques, and are now able to suppostream, midstream and downstream product offerMée also maintain a significant MRO
business that has been growing steadily for osspre-relief valve technologies as refineries oppastically service or upgrade equipment
that has been operating at full capacity in regeats. In 2013, our oil and gas revenues were sifiedt between the upstream production,
processing and environmental solutions businessglobal MRO business, and our large capital ptsjbasiness.
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The most prevalent driver impacting this marketdpital spending by refiners for maintenance, ugggacapacity expansion, safety
improvements, and compliance with environmentalil&ipns, which is experienced by both our domestid international customers. Refiner
profitability and global crude oil prices in genlerall impact their capital spending levels. In Z)the oil and gas market continued to be
hampered by a reduction in new capital equipmetiérardue to a lack of capital spending, particylarlinternational markets, despite a strong
rebound in MRO activity.

Crude oil prices, based on West Texas Interme(VsdiH), averaged slightly less than $98/bbl in 20d8lecting generally moderate economic
activity in the U.S. and Europe and increasing Néunerican supply. WTI crude oil prices are foréedso average $93/bbl in 2014 and
$90/bbl during 2015, according to the Energy Infation Administration (EIA), reflecting higher totatude oil production in 2013 despite
ongoing uncertainty in several international mask&lA expects the discount of the WTI crude oiterto Brent Crude Oil to average $12/bbl
in 2014. This increase in the projected WTI disdaeflects increasing uncertainty of the existiefiery infrastructure's ability to absorb
growing production of light sweet crude oil in NoeAmerica at current prices.

Looking ahead, we believe a base level of maintem&apital spending will result in continued MRGraand. Furthermore, as global
economies continue to rebound, we anticipate a stddenaround in our large capital projects busing$is includes our complete coker
deheading system, which enables safer coke drumatige during the refining process. We also withkao capitalize on opportunities in the
emerging shale oil and gas market, where we suppdygy production and processing equipment and@mwiental solutions.

Longer term, as global dependence on natural ressygersists, oil exploration deepens, and trahspguirements widen, we anticipate
additional opportunities will arise for energy puotk. Additionally, global environmental concernl drive incremental spending to comply
with more stringent emissions standards. We coatinuake a long-term view that energy and energgyrction, transmission, and
consumption will provide a foundation of economiowth.

Power Generatiol

Approximately 18% of our revenue is derived frora tommercial nuclear power generation market, wiversupply a variety of highly
engineered products and services, including reactolant pumps, control rod drive mechanisms, \&lwotors, spent fuel management,
containment doors, bolting solutions, and enteepresource planning and plant process controlsigifrour Energy segment.

According to the NRC, nuclear power comprises axprately 20% of all the electric power producedhn United States, with 100 reactors
operating across 65 nuclear power plants in 3gst@ur strong growth in recent years is a reuli®@U.S. plant recertification process.
Nearly all of the operating U.S. nuclear power @amave applied for or will be applying for-year plant life extensions as they reach the enc
of their current 40-year operating lives. As of Beber 31, 2013, 73 reactors have received planekfensions, applications from 14
additional reactors have been submitted and ardipgm@approval, and letters of intent to apply hbeen submitted from 15 more reactors with
expected application submittal dates from 2014uhho2020. During 2012, U.S. courts rejected the NR@aste confidence decision, requir

a general environmental impact study and evaluatfahe storage of spent nuclear fuel before furlifie extensions will be approved. As a
result of this legislation, no further license apgls (beyond the 73 completed or currently in pssg will be granted until the waste
confidence decision has been resolved, which is&rpl to take place in the fourth quarter of 2@l4rtiss-Wright's diverse product offering
may aid any necessary studies or spent fuel maregesulutions.

Additionally, as assessments and analysis froneteats at Fukushima continue to drive safety aliahiéty improvements, we have seen and
continue to expect increased opportunities worl@wat our vast portfolio of advanced nuclear tedbgies that are specifically designed to
enhance plant safety, fire safety, seismic desighcantrols, spent fuel storage, backup site poaratt,also comply with other regulatory
requirements on existing plants, particularly ther . regulations proposed by the NRC.

In addition to plant recertifications, there argeesal emerging factors that could precipitate goamsion in global commercial nuclear power
demand over the next several years. The EIA fotedhat worldwide total energy consumption is expédo increase at an average annual
of 0.3% between 2011 and 2040. Continued growtfiabal demand for electricity, especially in dey@tay countries with limited supply such
as China and India, will require increased capadtityaddition, the continued supply constraints andironmental concerns attributed to the
current dependence on fossil fuels have led t@assessment of the value of nuclear technologyeamtist efficient and environmentally
friendly source of energy available today. As ailiesve expect growth opportunities in this marketh domestically and internationally,
although the timing of orders remains uncertain.
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Domestically, four new build reactors are understarction, and applications for 22 new reactors3power plants have been submitted to th
NRC. Thus far, the Westinghouse AP1000 reactoigde$dr which we are the sole supplier of reactmylant pumps, has been selected fo
of the potential new reactors.

Internationally, new nuclear plant constructiomadsive. Currently, there are approximately 72 néam{s under construction in 15 countries,
with approximately 172 planned and over 312 moopgpsed. In particular, China intends to expandtuidear power capabilities significantly
through the construction of new nuclear power @laver the next several years.

As a result, we expect to see continued solid nelgroactivity and increased sales for our vastyasfanuclear technologies due to ongoing
maintenance and upgrade requirements on operaiirigar plants, a renewed interest in productsdsafety and extend the reliability of
existing reactors, and the continued emphasis a@wmagjhuclear power construction.

General Industrial

Approximately 17% of our revenue is derived front diversified offering to the general industrial met, which consists of industrial sensors
and control systems, surface treatment servicekmator and machine control systems. We supplypoaducts and service to OEMs and
industrial customers, including the transportatmemmercial trucking, off-road equipment, constiartt HVAC, automotive, and medical
industries. Our performance in this market is taicsensitive to the performance of the U.S. alotbgl economies, with gains in global GDP
and industrial production leading to higher volupearticular for our surface treatment services.

For 2013, we experienced a modest increase inengrgl industrial market, primarily related to iroped performance in sensors and controls
systems, most notably for electronic throttle colstrshift controls, and traction control systeaswell as surface treatment services including
shot peening, engineered coatings, and analygcaices. Increased demand for electronic contrstiesyis and sensors has been driven by the
need for improved operational efficiency, safegpeatability, reduced emissions, and greater ffielencies to customers worldwide. Looki
ahead, based on expectations for steadily impregedomic conditions both domestically and inteovally in 2014, the general industrial
market is likely to experience continued modestghobased on higher volumes across several inésstriwhich we participate.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31, Percent changes
2013 vs. 2012 vs.

(In thousands, except percentages) 2013 2012 2011 2012 2011
Sales:
Flow Control $ 1,299,670 $ 1,09534 $ 1,060,77 19% 3%
Controls 898,16¢ 726,67¢ 709,15¢ 24 % 2%
Surface Technologies 312,92: 275,68¢ 246,80! 14 % 12%

Total sales $ 2510,77. $ 2,097,711 $ 2,016,74 20 % 4%
Operating income:
Flow Control $ 116,51( $ 78,77¢ $ 103,42: 48 % (29)%
Controls 108,55¢ 86,51! 75,42! 25 % 15 %
Surface Technologies 50,99: 27,49 31,47¢ 85 % (13)%
Corporate and eliminations (42,44) (31,34%) (23,46¢€) (35)% (34)%

Total operating income $ 233,61¢ % 161,44t $ 186,85: 45 % (14)%
Interest expense (37,020 (26,329 (20,839 41 % 26 %
Other income, net 1,35¢ 24k 862 452 % (72)%
Earnings before income taxes 197,95: 135,36 166,88: 46 % (19%
Provision for income taxes (59,977 (43,079 (48,267) 39% (12)%
Earnings from continuing operations $ 137,98. $ 92,28¢ $ 118,62( 50 % (22)%
New orders $ 250843 $ 1,981,011 $ 2,029,41
Backlog $ 1,71562: $ 165394 $ 1,694,65

Sales

Sales increased $413 million , or 20% , in 2018 ¢@mpared with 2012 . The increase in sales i8 20primarily due to an increase in sales ir
our Flow Control and Controls segments of $ 204ioniland $ 171 million , respectively. The incre@ssales in our Flow Control and
Controls segment were primarily due to the incret@ampact of acquisitions of $204 million and $1milion , respectively. The increase in
sales in our Surface Technologies segment wasadie incremental impact of acquisitions of $26lionl and to a lesser extent strong organic
demand for our shot peening, coatings, and analydirvices.

Sales increased $ 81 million , or 4% , in 201X@spared with 2011. The increase in sales in 28 Heimarily due to an increase in sales in
our Flow Control and Surface Technologies segmei$s35 million and $ 29 million , respectively. @ncrease in sales in our Flow Control
segment was primarily due to the incremental impéetcquisitions of $50 million, while the increasesales in our Surface Technologies
segment was due to strong demand for our shot pgetvatings, and analytical services and the mergal impact of acquisitions.
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Net sales by mark

Year Ended December 31, Percent changes
2013 vs. 2012 vs.

(In thousands, except percentages) 2013 2012 2011 2012 2011
Defense markets:

Aerospace $ 277,59. % 307,26: $ 310,51! (10% (1)%

Ground 93,47: 107,41: 119,38: (13)% (10%

Naval 373,09! 337,69t 362,82t 10% (N%

Other 16,71: 27,14¢ 32,53¢ (38)% (17)%
Total Defense $ 760,87: $ 779,51¢ $ 825,25t (2% (6)%
Commercial markets:

Aerospace $ 418,36: $ 363,83 $ 299,81¢ 15% 21%

Oil and Gas 448,41 253,74! 241,36¢ 77% 5%

Power Generation 462,04: 433,74 385,45: 7% 13%

General Industrial 421,07 266,87: 264,84¢ 58 % 1%
Total Commercial $ 1,749,900 $ 1,318,190 $ 1,19148 33% 11%
Total Curtiss-Wright $ 251077 $ 2,097,711 § 2,016,74 20% 4%
Components of sales and operating income growttrédse):

2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011
Operating Operating
Sales Income Sales Income

Organic 1% 32% — % (12)%
Acquisitions/divestitures 19% 11% 5% ()%
Foreign currency —% 2% ()% ()%
Total 20% 45% 4% (19%

Year ended December 31, 2013 compared to year ended December 31, 2012

Sales

Defense sales decreased $19 million , or 2% , epaced to the prior year period, primarily duedwér sales in the aerospace defense and
ground defense markets. In our Flow Control segmental defense sales increased due to increasddgiion on the CVN#9, the ramping L

of production on the Virginia Class submarine pemgr and a new shipboard helicopter handling systamsact. This was partially offset by
lower levels of production on the DDG-1000 and DBGédestroyer programs and completion of produatiothe Advanced Arresting Gear
program. In our Controls segment, sales decreasmauily in the aerospace defense and ground deferasket. The decrease in sales in the
aerospace defense market was primarily due to lpwtuction levels on the Black Hawk and lower salEembedded computing and sensor:
and controls products supporting various helicoptegrams. In the ground defense market, salegedsed primarily due to lower production
levels on the Bradley platform and lower comparaiales of embedded computing products.

Commercial sales increased $432 million , or 33&0$1,750 million , as compared to the prior yearniqgd, mainly due to the incremental
impact of acquisitions, which primarily contributemhigher sales in the oil and gas and generalsitnél markets. Organic commercial sales
increased 3% from the comparable prior year petiodur Flow Control segment, organic commercidsaecreased due to lower sales in th
general industrial market as a result of a preyjoasnounced and expected customer loss in the evoiah heating, ventilation, and air
conditioning (HVAC) business. In our Controls segi®rganic commercial sales increased primarily tiuhigher sales of both our flight
control products on all major Boeing aircraft apedalty production support on Boeing's 787 airchathe commercial aerospace market. In
our Surface
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Technologies segment, organic commercial salesased primarily due to an increase in volume incoatings services as we continue to
benefit from the ramp up in OEM production rates.

Operating income

During the year ended December 31, 2013, operatowne increased $72 million , or 45% , to $234iovil, compared with the same period
in 2012, while operating margin increased 160 basists to 9.3% . Acquisitions contributed incret@mperating income of $17 million but
were 100 basis points dilutive to operating margicquisitions are generally dilutive to operatingngin during their first year due to purchase
price accounting adjustments and higher levelstainigible amortization expense. On a segment khsisncrease in operating income in our
Flow Control segment of $38 million , or 48% , tbl¥ million , was primarily due to certain chardleat occurred in the prior year period that
did not recur in the current year period, as déscrin the Flow Control results of operations désion, and the incremental contribution from
our Cimarron acquisition. In our Control's segmeperating income increased $22 million , or 25%$109 million , primarily due to a $7
million incremental impact of acquisitions, a $3lian curtailment gain as a result of changes inldIK. Pension Plans, and improved
profitability in our defense businesses as a rasdfyftior year restructuring initiatives. In ourrface Technologies segment, operating income
increased $23 million , or 85% , to $51 millionuedto $12 million of prior year restructuring chesghat did not recur in the current year and
related benefits of the restructuring activitiesyeell as increased organic coating sales, prisnarithe commercial aerospace market.

Nor-segment operating expense

Non-segment operating expense increased $11 milioi$42 million , primarily due to higher pensiorpexses and higher foreign currency
exchange losses.

Interest expens

Interest expense increased $11 million , to $3Tanil, primarily due to the issuance of $400 mitliof Senior Notes in February 2013 and
$100 million of Senior Notes in September 2013.iBgi2013, the Corporation's average debt outstgnalinl average borrowing rate was $
million and 3.4%, respectively, compared to $60&iom, and 3.9%, in the prior year period.

Effective tax rate

Our effective tax rates for 2013 and 2012 were @0aBd 31.8% , respectively. The decrease in tlee®fe tax rate in 2013, as compared to
2012, is primarily due to a reversal of certainuadion allowances as a result of improved profitgband an increase in research and
development tax credits from certain foreign operet.

Net earnings

Net earnings increas¢46 million , to $138 million , in 2013, as compéte the prior year period, primarily due to higloperating income in
all of our segments, partially offset by the highension and interest expense discussed above.

Comprehensive income

Pension and Postretirement adjustme

For 2013, the $87 million pension and postretirengaimn in other comprehensive income was mainlytdube actuarial gain resulting from
the annual year-end remeasurement. This was diolyem increase in the CW Plan discount rate frab&odto 4.75% and favorable asset returr
performance. In May 2013, the Company’s Board ioé&ors approved an amendment to the CW Pensiam Phe amendment, which is
effective January 1, 2014, resulted in a gain bk@otomprehensive income, net of tax, of $3 millionaddition, the amendment to the Metal
Improvement Company Salaried Staff pension sché&hi¢.) and the Penny & Giles Pension Plan (U.K.3uteed in a gain in other
comprehensive income, net of tax, of $2 million.

Foreign Currency Translation adjustmet

The decrease in foreign currency translation adjasts to comprehensive income of $33 million t& arfillion loss for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2013 is primarily due to a @serén the Canadian exchange rate versus the dll&: during the twelve month period



ended December 31, 2013 as compared to an indretise Canadian exchange rate versus the U.Srdhlting the twelve month period
ended December 31, 2012.
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Backlog and new orde!

Backlog increased 4% to $1,716 million at Decen8ier2013 from $1,654 million at December 31, 204@w orders increased $527 million
to $2,508 million at December 31, 2013 primarilyeda the incremental impact of acquisitions of $8&élfion.

Year ended December 31, 2012 compared to year ended December 31, 2011

Sales

Defense sales decreased $46 million, or 6%, as amdpo the prior year period, primarily due to émsales in the naval and ground defense
markets. In our Flow Control segment, lower defesales were due to the winding down of certain hdefense programs, partially offset by
increased production on the CVN-79. In our Contsglgment, sales decreased primarily in the groefehde market, due to lower production
levels on the TOW Improved Target Acquisition Syst¢TAS) and Abrams platforms, slightly offset bigher sales of turret drive systems to
international customers. Defense sales in our Berfachnologies segment were essentially flat.

Commercial sales increased $127 million, or 11%gcespared to the prior year period, driven by iasexl sales across all of our major
commercial markets. In our Flow Control segmenrtd,itttremental impact of acquisitions contributegbfably to our power generation mark
which was somewhat offset by lower sales due toesl@rders from our (HVAC) customers in the generdustrial market. In our Controls
segment, the incremental impact of acquisitiongrdmrted to increased sales in the general indalstrarket. In addition, higher sales of our
flight control products and the incremental impafcacquisitions contributed favorably to saleshia tommercial aerospace market. In our
Surface Technologies segment, strong demand frarhase businesses and the incremental impact fegoisitions contributed to higher se
in the commercial aerospace and general industidakets, respectively.

Operating income

Operating income decreased $25 million, or 14%gcespared to the prior year period. In our Flow Colrdegment, operating income
decreased $25 million to $79 million, impacted lytain one-time items, including a strike, addiibassembly and preparation for shipment
costs related to the Reactor Coolant Pumps (RG@Pshé AP1000 program, and restructuring costeumnControls segment, operating income
grew $11 million to $87 million, as a result of auost reduction and containment efforts and theetqul accretive impact and operational
improvements from our ACRA acquisition. In our Saa# Technologies segment, operating income dect&dsmillion to $27 million, and

was negatively impacted by $12 million of restruistg costs, of which $5 million were non-cash clesrgs we re-aligned our business for
strategic growth. Excluding restructuring costsraging income grew $8 million, to $40 million imoSurface Technologies segment.
Acquisitions, net of divestitures, were $3 millidilutive to year-to-date operating income, while #ffects of foreign currency translation were
not significant.

Nor-segment operating expense

Non-segment operating expense increased $8 milli&81omillion, primarily due to higher pension expenghe increase in pension expense
was primarily due to a decrease in the discousta@fibur pension benefit obligation.

Interest expens

Interest expense increased $5 million to $26 mmilliw2012, primarily due to higher average debelewand borrowing rates compared to the
same period in 2011.

Effective tax rate

Our effective tax rates for 2012 and 2011 were %@ .8nd 28.9%, respectively. The increase in thectffe tax rate in 2012, as compared to
2011, is primarily due to a $4.1 million researdhd @evelopment tax credit recognized in 2011 tichhadt recur in the current year period.

Net earnings

Net earnings decreased $26 million to $92 millie2012, as compared to the prior year period, priyndue to the impacts of the strike a



additional investments on the AP1000 program within Flow Control segment, restructuring costsun $urface Technologies segment, and
higher interest expense and effective tax ratesudiged above.
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Comprehensive income

Pension and Postretirement adjustme

For 2012, the $16 million pension and postretirenhess in other comprehensive income was mainlytdube actuarial loss resulting from the
annual year-end remeasurement. This was drivendegiease in the CW Plan discount rate from 4.5%0% and was partially offset by
favorable asset return performance.

Foreign Currency Translation adjustmet

The increase in foreign currency translation adpastts to comprehensive income of $44 million, t6 ##lllion in comprehensive income, for
the twelve months ended December 31, 2012 is pifirthre to an increase in the Canadian, BritishriRpand Euro exchange rates during the
twelve month period ended December 31, 2012 as amdpo an decrease in the Canadian, British P@amtiEuro exchange rate during the
twelve month period ended December 31, 2011.

Backlog and new orde!

Backlog decreased 2% to $1,654 million at Decer3fie2012 from $1,695 million at December 31, 204&w orders decreased $48 millior
2012 as compared to the prior year period, primaliie to the timing of funding on certain navalatefe programs and lower demand of ca
refinery projects and services in the oil and gasket. Acquisitions, net of divestitures, contrédit$$86 million of incremental new orders.

RESULTS BY BUSINESS SEGMENT
Flow Control

The following tables summarize sales, operatingiime and margin, and new orders, and certain itexpadting comparability within the Flow
Control segment.

Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands, except percentages) 2013 2012 2011 2013 vs 2012 2012 vs 2011
Sales $ 1,299,670 $ 1,09534 $ 1,060,77 19% 3%
Operating income 116,51( 78,77¢ 103,42: 48 % (24)%
Operating margin 9.C% 7.2% 9.7% 18C bps (250) bp:
Items impacting comparability
Restructuring charges — (3,690 (200) NM NM
Change in estimate:
AP1000 — (23,68 (9,72)) NM NM
Tech Transfer — 14,21 — NM NM
Impacts of strike’: (11,34¢)
New orders $ 1,233,78 % 977,377 $ 1,072,96 26 % (9)%
Backlog $ 1,058,721 $ 1,087,68 $ 1,154,14 (3)% (6)%

NM - not meaningful

(1) On August 24, 2012, workers at EMD's Cheswidannsylvania facility went on strike. The finahémpacts of the strike were an $18
million and $6 million shift in revenue and openatincome, respectively, from 2012 to 2013, duthéotemporary suspension of wi
and an additional $5 million unfavorable impacbp®erating income as a result of unrecoverable alisorof overhead costs. On
September 24, 2012, the Company ratified an agneewith the union to end the strike.
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Components of sales and operating income growttrédse):

2013 vs 2012 2012 vs 2011
Operating Operating
Sales Income Sales Income
Organic — % 36% — % (23)%
Acquisitions/divestitures 189% 11% 4% ()%
Foreign currency — % 1% ()% — %
Total 19% 48% 3% (29)%

Year ended December 31, 2013 compared to year ended December 31, 2012
Sales

Sales increased $204 million , or 19% , to $1,3U0an , as compared to the prior year period, @ity due to the incremental impact of our
Cimarron, Phonix, and AP Services acquisitions civluontributed $135 million, $53 million, and $17lion, of incremental sales,
respectively.

Sales in the defense market increased 6% due r@aieed production on the CVN -79 aircraft carriegpam, the ramping up of production on
the Virginia Class submarine program, and a neptslard helicopter handling systems contract. This partially offset by lower levels of
production on the DDG-1000 and DDG-51 destroyegmms, and completion of production on the Advangedsting Gear program.

Sales in the commercial market increased 24% ,gifyndue to the incremental impact of our Cimaresmd Phénix acquisitions, which
favorably impacted sales in the oil and gas madetyell as our AP Services acquisition, which fabty impacted sales in the power
generation market. In the power generation magketiuding the impact of our AP Services acquisitivigher sales of instrumentation and
control products and deliveries of our spent fuahagement NETCO SNAP-IN® product used in existipgrating reactors, more than offset
competitive pressure from low natural gas pricesfewer plant outages. Sales in the oil and gakebavere essentially flat, excluding the
impact of Phonix and Cimarron acquisitions, aseased pressure relief valve sales were mostlytdffstower levels of production for
international capital refinery products. In the g industrial market, lower sales were primadilye to a previously announced customer loss

Operating income

Operating income increased $38 millioor 48%, to $117 million , and operating margin increasefl h8sis points to 9.0% . Acquisitions
contributed $9 million of incremental operatinganee. Excluding the items impacting comparabilityatbin the first table above and the
contributions from acquisitions, operating incomasvessentially flat as higher compensation costsfha offset improved performance in our
oil and gas division as a result of in-sourcing &iron manufacturing.

Backlog and new orde!

Backlog decreased $29 million to $1,059 milliorcampared to the prior year period. New orders imed $256 million to $1,234 million ,
from the prior year period, primarily due to incremtal new orders from acquisitions of $210 million.

Year ended December 31, 2012 compared to year ended December 31, 2011
Sales

Sales increased $35 million, or 3%, as compareldegrior year period, primarily due to higher salethe commercial market of 7%,
somewhat offset by lower sales of 6% in the defenaeket. The incremental impact of acquisitions,afelivestitures, contributed $40 millic
or 4%, of incremental sales, while the effectsapéign currency rate changes decreased curremidpgsies by $2 million or less than 1%.

35






The increase in sales in our commercial marketpwasarily due to the incremental effects of our 2@tquisitions of Anatec and LMT, which
favorably impacted sales in our power generatiorkataTo a lesser extent, the incremental impacturf2011 Douglas acquisition, a supplier
of aviation towing tractors, improved sales in oammercial aerospace market. In our oil and gaketancreased aftermarket MRO and
pressure relief valve projects and the incremeantphct of our Cimarron acquisition more than offiset lower orders for capital refinery
projects and services. In our general industriaketa sales decreased due to slower orders frotl9&C customers due to slowing econor
conditions.

The decrease in sales in our defense market wasply due to the temporary suspension of prodaatio certain naval defense programs as
result of the strike, which shifted revenue rectignimilestones into 2013. In addition, the timwigoroduction on the Virginia class submatr
program, the completion of production on the AdwhArresting Gear and the Electromagnetic Aircdrafinching System programs and
certain aircraft handling systems programs, coutetd to lower naval defense sales.

Operating income

Operating income decreased $25 million, or 24979 million, as compared to the prior year peri@gerating income was unfavorably
impacted by several factors including the impadhefstrike, unanticipated additional costs in @mtion with the assembly and shipment ot
RCPs for the China AP1000 nuclear reactor of $2#amj and restructuring charges of $4 million. Sammat offsetting these unfavorable ite
was a favorable change in estimate of our cosinagsons on the AP1000 technology transfer contfBloe change in estimate was primarily
due to the achievement of several significant rtoless for the AP1000 program, including the finadlification of the RCPs and a reduced
scope of work being performed by third party sugnsli Excluding the impact of these items, operatiegme decreased slightly primarily due
to higher than anticipated costs for the constomctif super vessels and lower orders for capifalesy products and services in our oil and ga
business. Acquisitions reduced operating incom&annillion.

Backlog and new orde!

Backlog decreased $66 million to $1,088 milliorcampared to the prior year period. New orders desereé $96 million, primarily due to the
timing of funding on certain naval defense programd lower demand of capital refinery projects sexvices in the oil and gas market.
Acquisitions contributed $40 million to new ordengjile the prior year period included $18 millioharders associated with a divested
business line.

Controls

The following tables summarize sales, operatingrime and margin, and new orders, and certain itenp@éting comparability within tl
Controls segment.

Year Ended December 31, Percent Changes
2013 vs. 2012 vs.

2013 2012 2011 2012 2011

(In thousands, except percentages)
Sales $ 898,16¢ $ 726,67¢ 3% 709,15¢ 24% 2%
Operating income 108,55¢ 86,51¢ 75,42 25% 15%
Operating margin 12.1% 11.% 10.€% 20 bps 13C bps

Restructuring charges — (3,42¢) — NM NM

Curtailment gain 2,81¢ — — NM NM
New orders $ 961,24t % 727,35: % 709,19: 32% 3%
Backlog $ 653,46t $ 563,29¢ $ 538,13¢ 16% 5%

NM - not meaningful
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Components of sales and operating income growttrédse):

2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011
Operating Operating
Sales Income Sales Income
Organic — % 13% (2% 18 %
Acquisitions/divestitures 24 % 8% 5% (3)%
Foreign currency — % 4% (D% — %
Total 24% 25% 2% 15%

Year ended December 31, 2013 compared to year ended December 31, 2012

Sales

Sales increased $171 million , or 24% , to $898ionil, from the comparable prior year period, priityadue to the incremental impact of our
Williams Controls, PG Drives, Exlar, Arens, and\Rer acquisitions, which contributed $59 million 684illion, $44 million, $14 million, and
$7 million of incremental sales, respectively.

Defense sales decreased 7%, as compared to the@aioperiod, primarily in the defense aerospaaeket, due to lower production levels on
the Black Hawk and Global Hawk, lower sales of eduesl computing products on helicopter programs,Jandr sales of sensing products on
other foreign military aircraft. In the ground de$e market, sales decreased primarily due to lpwagtuction levels on the Bradley platform,
lower comparable sales of turret drive systems,lewedr sales of embedded computing products.

The increase in sales in the commercial marketpsiasarily due to the aforementioned acquisitionsgied with strong organic growth in the
commercial aerospace market. Sales in the comnherriaspace market increased primarily due to lmighkes of our flight control products
all major Boeing aircraft, as well as strong demfordsensor and control products serving the regjifgt and commercial helicopter markets.

Operating income

Operating income increased $22 million , or 25% $109 million , compared with the same period@42, while operating margin was
essentially flat at 12.1% . Acquisitions contrildif®7.1 million of operating income and were 180idasints dilutive to current period results.
Current year results were favorably impacted byréadment gain as a result of a change in our &hsion plans and certain licensing
agreements that were entered into during the year.

Excluding the items impacting comparability notadhe first table above, contributions from acdiosis, and foreign currency translation,
operating income, and margin were essentiallyafiabbenefits driven by our prior year restructuiimiiatives within our defense businesses
offset acquisition dilution and the impact of puask price accounting adjustments from our fourtirign 2013 acquisitions.

Backlog and new orde!

Backlog increased $90 million to $653 million atd@enber 31, 2013 from $563 million at December 31,22 New orders increased $234
million , as compared to the prior year, primadlye to the incremental impact of acquisitions dnillion.

Year ended December 31, 2012 compared to year ended December 31, 2011

Sales

Sales increased $18 million, or 2%, as compareldetgrior year period, driven by increases in themercial markets of 18%, partially offset
by lower sales in the defense markets of 6%. Adiipiis contributed $33 million, or 5%, to the inase in sales, while the effect of foreign
currency translation decreased sales by $5 miltori%.

The increase in sales in the commercial marketpsiasarily due to 22% growth in the commercial agaxse market due to higher sales of
our flight control products on Boeing aircraft agmhergent and specialty production support on Béging7 aircraft. In addition, strong



demand for sensor and control products servingagmnal jet and commercial helicopter markets Gbuted to increased commercial
aerospace sales. To a lesser extent, the increheéietzst of repairs and overhaul sales from our AC&Rquisition contributed favorably to the
commercial aerospace market.
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The decrease in sales in the defense market wasiilsi due to lower production levels on the TOWAR and Abrams platform in the ground
defense market. To a lesser extent, sales decraafezldefense aerospace market, primarily dileeaavinding down of the Global Hawk
program and lower production work on the V-22 Ogpeogram.

Operating income

Operating income increased $11 million, or 15%$8@ million, as compared to the prior year peri@gerating margin increased 130 basis
points from the prior year period to 11.9%, prirhadue to our cost containment efforts and the etqubaccretive impact and operational
improvements from our ACRA acquisition. ACRA hadikutive impact on operating income in the compégalsior period due to higher
intangible amortization expenses and purchase atioguadjustments. Acquisitions completed in therflio quarter of 2012 had a dilutive
impact on operating income of $2 million.

Backlog and new orde!

Backlog increased 5% to $563 million at December2B12 from $538 million at December 31, 2011. Neders increased $18 million, as
compared to the prior year period, primarily du¢hi® incremental impact of acquisitions of $47 imillsomewhat offset by lower orders in our
defense business.

Surface Technologies

The following tables summarize sales, operatingime and margin, new orders, and certain items itmgacomparability within the Surfa
Technologies segment.

Year Ended December 31, Percent Changes
(In thousands, except percentages) 2013 2012 2011 2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011
Sales $ 312,92: % 275,68¢ $ 246,80! 14% 12%
Operating income 50,99: 27,49« 31,47¢ 85% (13)%
Operating margin 16.2% 10.(% 12.8% 63C bps (280) bp:
Restructuring and impairment charges — (12,085 — NM NM
New orders $ 313400 $ 276,27¢ $ 247,25 13% 12 %

NM - not meaningful

Components of sales and operating income growttrédese):

2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011
Operating Operating
Sales Income Sales Income
Organic 4% 82 % 6 % (12)%
Acquisitions 10% 4% 7% 1%
Foreign currency —% ()% ()% (2%
Total 14% 8t % 12% (19)%
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Year ended December 31, 2013 compared to year ended December 31, 2012

Sales

Sales increased $37 million , or 14% , to $313iaril| from the comparable prior year period, primadie to a $26 million incremental imp
from our Gartner acquisition, which contributedrigTmental sales to the oil and gas and general fnidusarkets. In addition, sales in the
commercial aerospace market were up 10% due tocaease in volume in coatings, shot peening, aset lpeening services as we continue tc
benefit from the ramp up in OEM production ratelsisTperformance was partially offset by lower satethe aerospace defense market for ou
shot and laser peening services.

Operating income

Operating income increased $23 million , or 85% $%1 million and operating margin increased 63ldpoints to 16.3% . Our Gartner
acquisition contributed $1 million of incrementgevating income and was 110 basis points dilutveutrent period results.

Excluding the $12 million of restructuring chardgeghe prior year, and contributions from acqusis and foreign currency translation in the
current year, operating income and margin increasiedarily due to operational benefits as the restitlosing an underperforming facility in
the prior year.

New orders

New orders increase$37 million to $313 million, compared with the same period in 2012, primadile to the incremental impact of
Gartner acquisition.

Year ended December 31, 2012 compared to year ended December 31, 2011

Sales

Sales increased $29 million, or 12%, as comparéke@rior year period, due to increased demanosaaill of our major lines of business and
markets, particularly for our shot peening, coairand analytical services. Sales in the commeaeiaspace and general industrial market
increased 18% and 10%, respectively. Acquisitiamgridbuted $17 million to current year sales witile effects of foreign currency translation
decreased sales $3 million.

Operating income

Operating income, excluding the effects of restring charges, increased $8 million, or 26%, to 84ilion, and operating margin increase:
14.4%, a 160 basis point improvement over the pear. The improvement was driven primarily by @ased sales volume resulting in
favorable absorption of fixed overhead costs, nyambur shot peening and coatings businesses.

New orders

New orders increased $29 million, from the prioalyalue to increased orders for coatings and sfetipg services. Acquisitions contribu
$17 million of new orders to the current period.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources and Uses of Cash

We derive the majority of our operating cash inflisam receipts on the sale of goods and servicdsash outflow for the procurement of
materials and labor; cash flow is therefore suli@eharket fluctuations and conditions. A substrgortion of our business is in the defense
sector, which is characterized by long-term congradost of our long-term contracts allow for salddilling points (progress or milestone)
that provide us with cash receipts as costs argried throughout the project rather than upon embttompletion, thereby reducing working



capital requirements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

December 31,

2013 December 31, 201 December 31, 201
Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ 237,827 % 152,47 $ 201,85
Investing activities (313,69 (492,999 (251,82)
Financing activities 140,13t 254,24 179,80«
Effect of exchange rates (1,009 3,91¢ (3,562
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equisalent $ 63,27, $ (82,369 $ 126,26¢

Year ended December 31, 2013 compared to year ended December 31, 2012

Cash provided by operating activities increased@8ion to $238 millionduring the twelve months ended December 31, 201 8pmpared t
the prior year period, primarily due to higher casinings, the timing of vendor payments in theentryear, and the timing of advanced
collections.

Investing Activities
Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures were $72 million in 20%3ampared to $83 millioim 2012. Capital expenditures were lower in 20K3¢@mpared t
2012, primarily due to our Flight Systems faciktypansion in 2012.

Acquisitions

During 2013 we acquired five businesses and expemintinue to seek "tuck in" acquisitions that emesistent with our long-term growth
strategy. A combination of cash resources, inclgdiash on hand, funds available under our credéeagent, and proceeds from our Senior
Notes, were utilized to fund the acquisitions, vbhhiotaled$236 million . In 2012, we acquired eight businesséh a total purchase price of
$460 million .

Additional acquisitions will depend, in part, orethvailability of financial resources at a costapital that meet our stringent criteria. As such
future acquisitions, if any, may be funded throtigd use of our cash and cash equivalents, throdditi@nal financing available under the
credit agreement, or through new financing altéveat

40




Financing Activities
Debt Issuance

On February 26, 2013, the Corporation issued $4ldmof Senior Notes (the "2013 Notes"). The 30otes consist of $225 million of
3.70% Senior Notes that mature on February 26, 28230 million of 3.85% Senior Notes that matureFabruary 26, 2025, and $75 million
of 4.05% Senior Notes that mature on February @882 An additional $100 million of 4.11% Seniorth® were issued on September 26,
2013 that mature on September 26, 2028. The 2018sNwe senior unsecured obligations, equal in afpayment to the Corporation's
existing senior indebtedness. The Corporatiortsaiption, can prepay at any time all or any pathe 2013 Notes, subject to a make-whole
payment in accordance with the terms of the Notelse Agreement. In connection with the issuaftiee 2013 Notes, the Corporation p
customary fees that have been deferred and arg beiortized over the term of the 2013 Notes. Utideterms of the Note Purchase
Agreement, the Corporation is required to maintartain financial ratios, the most restrictive dfigh is a debt to capitalization limit of

60%. The debt to capitalization ratio is calculatethg the same formula for all of the Corporasaiebt agreements and is a measure of the
Corporation's indebtedness (as defined per thesNitechase Agreement and Credit Agreement) toadeaition, where capitalization equals
debt plus equity. The Corporation had the abilitypdrrow additional debt of $1.3 billion withoutol@ting our debt to capitalization covenant.
The 2013 Notes also contain a cross default prawvigiith respect to the Corporation’s other semadiebtedness.

In September 2013, we repaid the $125 million 2683 or notes that had matured.

Revolving Credit Agreeme

As of December 31, 2013, the Corporation had $30omiof borrowings under the 2012 Senior UnsecUuRedolving Credit Agreement (the
Credit Agreement or credit facility) and $42 mitiian letters of credit supported by the creditligci The unused credit available under the
Credit Agreement at December 31, 2013 was $408mjlivhich could be borrowed in full without violag) any of our debt covenants.

Repurchase of Common St

On September 28, 2011, the Company received aattimm from its board of directors to enter intshare repurchase program. The share
repurchase program authorizes the Company to psealyato approximately 3,000,000 shares of its comstock, in addition to
approximately 690,000 shares remaining under aiquiely authorized share repurchase program, asghiect to a $100 million repurchase
limitation.

The Company did not repurchase any shares of iitsram stock during 2013. During the twelve monthdeehDecember 31, 2012, the
Company repurchased approximately 830,000 sharesrafommon stock for $26 million.

Dividends

In the second quarter of 2013, the Corporationeiased its quarterly dividend to ten cents ($0.1§Haae, an 11.1% increase over the prior ye:
dividend. Cash used to make dividend payments duhie twelve months ended December 31, 2013 an2 @@te $18 million and $16
million , respectively.

Year ended December 31, 2012 compared to year ended December 31, 2011

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities decreased§iflidon to $152 million during the twelve montheded December 31, 2012 as compare
the prior year period, primarily due to lower adead payments on long-term contracts and, to adessent, lower net earnings.

Investing Activities

Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures were $83 million in 208Zampared to $84 million in 2011. Capital expeumdis in 2012, as compared to 2011, v
essentially flat as facility expansions in 2011hivitour oil and gas and commercial aerospace bssisewere offset by higher investments in
2012 in the Surface Technologies segment for lpgening equipment and international facility imprments. Capital expenditures relate



primarily to new and replacement machinery and gment, the expansion of new product lines withmltlusiness segments, and the
construction of new facilities and upgrade of erigffacilities.
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Acquisitions and divestitures of busines

During both 2012 and 2011, we acquired eight bissieg and expect to continue to seek acquisiti@stle consistent with our long-term
growth strategy. A combination of cash resourasduding cash on hand, funds available under ceglitagreement, and proceeds from our
Senior Notes were utilized to fund our acquisitiomkich totaled $460 million and $178 million in2Dand 2011, respectively. Additional
acquisitions will depend, in part, on the availdpibf financial resources at a cost of capitak tim@et our stringent criteria. As such, future
acquisitions, if any, may be funded through theafsaur cash and cash equivalents, through additifimancing available under the credit
agreement, or through new financing alternatives.

Our 2012 heat treat divestiture resulted in $52ionilof cash proceeds while divestitures in 201sufied in $8 million of proceeds.

Financing Activities

Debt Issuance

In August 2012, we amended and refinanced ouriegistedit facility by entering into a Third Amerdiand Restated Credit Agreement
(Credit Agreement) with a syndicate of financiadtitutions, led by Bank of America N.A., Wells FardN.A, and JP Morgan Chase Bank, M
The proceeds available under the Credit Agreenrentosbe used for working capital, internal growvtiiatives, funding of future acquisitions,
and general corporate purposes. Under the tertiedEredit Agreement, we have a borrowing capadi§500 million. In addition, the Credit
Agreement provides an accordion feature which alag/to borrow an additional $100 million. As ofdeeber 30, 2012, we had $47 million
in letters of credit supported by the credit fagiind $287 million of borrowings under the crdditility. The unused credit available under the
credit facility at December 31, 2012 was $166 wiilliwhich we had the ability to borrow in full witht violating our debt to capitalization
covenant.

The Credit Agreement contains covenants that weidenusual and customary for an agreement otyhiss for comparable commercial
borrowers, including a maximum consolidated net-defcapitalization ratio of 60 percent. The agreairhas customary events of default,
such as non-payment of principal when due; nonpaywifenterest, fees, or other amounts; cross-paymefault and cross-acceleration with
the Corporation’s other senior indebtedness.

Borrowings under the Credit Agreement will accrueiest based on (i) Libor or (ii) a base rateneftiighest of (a) the federal funds rate plus
0.5%, (b) BofA’s announced prime rate or (¢) thedeurrency rate plus 1%, plus a margin. The intags and level of facility fees are
dependent on certain financial ratios, as defimettié Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement atseiges customary fees, including
administrative agent and commitment fees. In cotimeevith the Credit Agreement, we paid customaapsaction fees that have been defe
and are being amortized over the term of the Crsgiieement.

On December 8, 2011, we issued $300 million of &eNbtes (the "2011 Notes"). The 2011 Notes comfi$tL00 million of 3.84% Senior
Notes that mature on December 1, 2021 and $20®mif 4.24% Senior Series Notes that mature orebser 1, 2026. The 2011 Notes
senior unsecured obligations, equal in right ofrpawt to our existing senior indebtedness. We, abption, can prepay at any time all or any
part of our 2011 Notes, subject to a make-wholargEayt in accordance with the terms of the Note PagelAgreement. In connection with our
2011 Notes, we paid customary fees that have befemrdd and are being amortized over the term p26a1 Notes. We are required under
Note Purchase Agreement to maintain certain firmatios, the most restrictive of which is a debtapitalization limit of 60%. The 20!
Notes also contain a cross default provision withather senior indebtedne:

Repurchase of Common St

During the twelve months ended December 31, 20E2Company repurchased approximately 830,000 sb&ms common stock for $26
million. During the twelve months ended DecemberZil1, the Company repurchased 261,000 sharag @baimon stock for $8 million.

Dividends

In the second quarter of 2012, the Corporationeiased its quarterly dividend to nine cents ($0a08hare, a 12.5% increase over the prior ye:
dividend. Cash used to make dividend payments duhie twelve months ended December 31, 2012 antl @@te $15 million, and $15
million, respectively.
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Prior debt issuance

On December 1, 2005, we issued $150 million of % ™enior Series Notes (the "2005 Notes"). Our 200&s mature on December 1, 2017
and are senior unsecured obligations, equal int dfpayment to our existing senior indebtedness, &Y our option, can prepay at any time all
or any part of our 2005 Notes, subject to a maketapayment in accordance with the terms of theeNRatrchase Agreement. In connection
with our 2005 Notes, we paid customary fees thaelmeen deferred and are being amortized oveethe af our 2005 Notes. We are required
under the Note Purchase Agreement to maintaininditeancial ratios, the most restrictive of whisha debt to capitalization limit of 60%. T
2005 Notes also contains a cross default proviitim our other senior indebtedness.

On September 25, 2003, we issued $200 million of@eNotes (the "2003 Notes"). The 2003 Notes csindi of $75 million of 5.13% Senior
Notes that matured and were repaid on Septemb&@02B, and $125 million of 5.74% Senior Notes thatured and were repaid on Septerr
25, 2013.

Capital Resources

Cash in Foreign Jurisdictions

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 201334&Bemillion, of which $149 million were held bgrkign subsidiaries. Our Canadian
subsidiaries held a substantial portion of the Camyfs cash and cash equivalents, approximatelyn#ifidn at December 31, 2013. Our
domestic operations generate significant cash ftom operations, however, such amounts were uspdyedown the Company's revolving
credit facility and for general corporate purposetuding funding the purchase of acquisitions. rEh@re no legal or economic restrictions,
absent certain regulatory approvals in China, whese than $4 million of our foreign cash residesthe ability of any of our subsidiaries to
transfer funds. The Company regularly assesseasts needs and the available sources to fund tieesks. Our assessment does not
demonstrate the need to repatriate foreign casltastu equivalents to fund U.S. operations.

Cash Utilization

Management continually evaluates cash utilizatiter@atives, including share repurchases, acqoistiand increased dividends to determine
the most beneficial use of available capital resesirWe believe that our cash and cash equivaleash, flow from operations, available
borrowings under the credit facility, and abilityraise additional capital through the credit mtglae sufficient to meet both the short-term
and long-term capital needs of the organizatiotipiting the return of capital to shareholders thtodividends and share repurchases and
growing our business through acquisitions.

Debt Complianct

As of December 31, 2013 , we were in compliancé ait debt agreements and credit facility covenantduding our most restrictive
covenant, which is our debt to capitalization réitiait of 60%. As of December 31, 2013 we had thiity to incur total additional
indebtedness of $1.3 billion without violating alebt to capitalization covenant.

Future Commitments

Cash generated from operations should be adequatedt our planned capital expenditures of appratéhg $80 to $90 million and expected
dividend payments of approximately $25 million @12 . There can be no assurance, however, thatilveowtinue to generate cash from
operations at the current level. If cash generatad operations is not sufficient to support theperating requirements and investing activi
we may be required to reduce capital expenditlr@spw from our existing credit line, refinance @fon of our existing debt, or obtain
additional financing. While all companies are sabje economic risk, we believe that our cash ash@quivalents, cash flow from operati
and available borrowings are sufficient to meehlbe short-term and long-term capital needs obtiganization.

In 2013, we made contributions of approximatel{ $4llion to the Curtiss-Wright Pension Plan angi@at to make contributions of
approximately $40 million in 2014 . In additionrelugh 2018 , we expect to make cumulative pendiam gontributions of $101 million . For
more information on our pension and other postratent benefits plans, please see Note 17 to thedlidated Financial Statements.
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The following table quantifies our significant faéucontractual obligations and commercial commitises of December 31, 2013 :

(In thousands) Total 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter
Debt Principal

Repayments $ 959,93¢ $ 1,33 $ 33 % 16 $ 200,000 $ — $ 758,55!
Interest Payment on

Fixed Rate Debt 402,46: 39,94( 39,90¢ 39,90¢ 39,20¢ 31,64 211,85t
Operating Leases 211,41 32,97( 29,80« 25,87¢ 22,43¢ 18,10¢ 82,21¢
Total $ 157381 $ 74,24 % 69,74t % 65,80 $ 261,64 $ 49,75 $ 1,052,63

We do not have material purchase obligations. Mbsur raw material purchase commitments are madetty pursuant to specific contract
requirements.

We enter into standby letters of credit agreemantsguarantees with financial institutions and @ungtrs primarily relating to future
performance on certain contracts to provide praglant services and to secure advance paymentsweedweived from certain international
customers. At December 31, 2013 , we had contingahilities on outstanding letters of credit duefallows:

(In thousands) Total 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter @
Letters of Credit $ 5577¢ $ 994t $ 4,74: 3 2580 $ 2,83 $ 2,78 % 9,66:

(1) Amounts indicated as Thereafter are letters ofititbdt expire during the revolving credit agreemtemm but will automatically renew
the date of expiration. In addition, amounts exelbdnk guarantees of approximately $23.2 million .
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Non-GAAP Measures

Management reviews key performance indicators dinlyirevenue, segment operating income and margitsnew orders, among others. In
addition, we consider certain measures to be usefmanagement and investors when evaluating oenatipg performance for the periods
presented. These measures provide a tool for @uaduaur ongoing operations from period to peribdese metrics, however, are not measure
of financial performance under accounting pringpienerally accepted in the United States of Amagi@&AAP) and should not be considere
substitute for measures determined in accordantte®AAP. The non-GAAP financial measures that wseldise are organic revenue and
organic operating income - defined as revenue gedabing income, excluding the impact of foreignrency fluctuations and contributions
from acquisitions and divestitures made duringcineent year.

Year Ended December 31, 2013

Flow Control Controls Surface Technologies Corporate & Other Total Curtiss - Wright

2013 2012 Chg 2013 2012 Chg 2013 2012 Chg 2013 2012 Chg 2013 2012 Chg
Sales
Organic 1,097.( 1,095. —% 726.¢ 726.1 —% 286.¢ 2757 4% — — 2,110.: 2,097 1%
Incremental (1) 204.¢ — 170.2 — 25.¢ — — — 400.5 —
Foreign Currency Fav
(Unfav) (2) 1.7 — 1€ — 0.2 — — — 0.1 —
Total net sales 1,299.0 1,095. 1% 898.2 726.1 24% 312.¢ 275.1 14% — — 2,510.¢ 2,097.0 20%
Operating income (expense)
Organic 106.¢ 78.¢ 3€% 98.1 86.5 12% 50.2 27.5 82% (419 (31.9) 34% 213 161.t 32%
Ol Margin % 9.7% 7.2% 25C bps 13.5% 11.5% 16C bps 17.5% 10.(% 75C bps 10.1% 7.7% 24Cbps
Incremental (1) 9.1 — 7.1 — 1.C — (0.4) 16.€ —
Foreign Currency Fa'
(Unfav) (2) 0.€ — &3 — 0.2 — 0.2 315 —
Total operating
income (expense) 116.5 78.¢ 48% 108.t 86.£ 25% 51.C 27. 85% (42.5) (319 35% 233.t 161.t 45%
Ol Margin % 9.C% 7.2% 18C bps 12.1% 11.% 2C bps 16.2% 10.(% 63C bps 9.3% 7.7% 16C bps

M The term incremental is used to highlight the int@eqyuisitions had on the current year resultswtaich there was no comparable prior year dataréfbee, the results of
operations for acquisitions are incremental forfitet twelve months from the date of acquisitiolare removed from our organic results. Additipnahe results of operations

for divested businesses are removed from the cabfgaprior year period for purposes of calculatnganic results. The remaining businesses arereeféo as organic.

(2)Organic results exclude the effects of currentqaeforeign currency translation.
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Critical Accounting Estimates and Policies

Our consolidated financial statements and accomrmipgmpotes are prepared in accordance with accagiptimciples generally accepted in the
United States of America. Preparing consolidatedrfcial statements requires us to make estimateassumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and esgemhese estimates and assumptions are affgcthd bpplication of our accounting polici
Critical accounting policies are those that reqaipelication of managemeastimost difficult, subjective, or complex judgmerdfen as a resu
of the need to make estimates about the effeatsatiers that are inherently uncertain and may ahamgubsequent periods. We believe that
the following are some of the more critical judgrnareas in the application of our accounting pedhat affect our financial condition and
results of operations:

Revenue Recognitic

The realization of revenue refers to the timingt®fecognition in our accounts and is generallysidered realized or realizable and earned
when the earnings process is substantially compledeall of the following criteria are met: 1) pgaisive evidence of an arrangement exists; 2
delivery has occurred or services have been redp@jeur price to our customer is fixed or deterafile; and 4) collectability is reasonably
assured.

We determine the appropriate method by which wegsize revenue by analyzing the terms and conditafreach contract or arrangement
entered into with our customers. Revenue is reaeghon certain product sales, which representoappately 55% of our total revenue, as
production units are shipped and title and rislose$ have transferred. Revenue is recognized enceelype contracts, which represents
approximately 17% of our total revenue, as servizesendered. The majority of our service reveraueggenerated within our Surface
Technologies’ segment. The significant estimatesna&e in recognizing revenue are primarily for ldagm contracts generally accounted for
using the cost-to-cost method of percentage of ¢etiop accounting that are associated with thegiheslevelopment and manufacture of
highly engineered industrial products used in coneméand defense applications.

Percentage of completion accounting

Revenue recognized using the cost-to-cost methpementage of completion accounting representprbajmately 18% of our total net sales
in 2013 . The average length of our contractstiize the cost to cost method of percentage afigetion accounting is 4 years. This method
recognizes revenue and profit as the contractsressgowards completion. Under the cost to coshotkdf percentage of completion
accounting, sales and profits are recorded basddeoratio of costs incurred to an estimate ofsascompletion.

Application of the cost to cost method of perceataffcompletion accounting requires the use ofageable and dependable estimates of the
future material, labor, and overhead costs thdtheilincurred and a disciplined cost estimatingesysin which all functions of the business are
integrally involved. These estimates are determbyeesked upon industry knowledge and experience oéngineers, project managers, and
financial staff. These estimates are significamt eflect changes in cost and operating perform#émoeighout the contract and could have a
significant impact on our operating performancejustinents to original estimates for contract rewerastimated costs at completion, and the
estimated total profit are often required as waxkgpesses throughout the contract and more infoom& obtained, even though the scope of
work under the contract may not change. These @saae recorded on a cumulative basis in the pénmgdare determined to be necessary.

Under the cost to cost method of percentage-of-detiop accounting, provisions for estimated lossesincompleted contracts are recognizec
in the period in which the likelihood of such lossee determined to be probable. However, costshaaleferred in anticipation of future
contract sales if follow-on production orders aeemhed probable. Amounts representing contract eéhardgers are included in revenue only
when they can be estimated reliably and theirzatiin is reasonably assured.

In 2013 , the aggregate net changes in estimatesndfact costs resulted in an increase to sal@®perating income of $7 million and $3
million , respectively. In 2012, the aggregate gta@nges in estimates of contract costs resultaddiecrease to sales and operating incon$® of
million and $13 million , respectively. The aggregaet changes in estimates of contract costs(fbt 2vere not material to the consolidated
statement of operations for such annual period.
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Inventory

Inventory costs include materials, direct labod parchasing and manufacturing overhead costs hadrie stated at the lower of cost or mai
where market is limited to the net realizable vallve estimate the net realizable value of our ihmées and establish reserves to reduce the
carrying amount of these inventories to net reblzaalue, as necessary. We continually evalua@adequacy of the inventory reserves by
reviewing historical scrap rates, on-hand quarstiéie compared with historical and projected usageld, and other anticipated contractual
requirements. We generally hold reserved inventorgxtended periods, before scrapping and dispasinhe reserved inventory, which
contributes to a higher level of reserved inventefgtive to the level of annual inventory writdsofThe stated inventory costs are also
reflective of the estimates used in applying the@eatage-of-completion revenue recognition method.

We purchase materials for the manufacture of compisrfor sale. The decision to purchase a set ifpanta particular item is influenced by
several factors including: current and projectadeprfuture estimated availability, existing andjpcted contracts to produce certain items, an
the estimated needs for our businesses.

For certain of our long-term contracts, we utilpregress billings, which represent amounts biledustomers prior to the delivery of goods
and services and are recorded as a reduction émtiory and receivables. Amounts are first appleedrtbilled receivables and any remainder is
then applied to inventory. Progress billings areggally based on costs incurred, including dirests, overhead, and general and
administrative costs.

Pension and Other Postretirement Bene

In consultation with our actuaries, we determiredppropriate assumptions for use in determiniadiétility for future pension and other
postretirement benefits. The most significant efsthassumptions include the number of employeesnithaceive benefits, their tenure, their
salary levels, their projected mortality, expeateiirn on plan assets, the discount rates useetéondine plan obligations, and the trends in th
costs of medical and other health care benefitdrcase of the postretirement benefit obligati@smnges in these assumptions, if significant
in future years, may have an effect on our penaihpostretirement expense, associated pensiopaatiettirement assets and liabilities, and
our annual cash requirements to fund these plans.

The discount rate used to determine the plan keslgfgations as of December 31, 2013, and the anperiodic costs for 2014, was increased
from 4.0% to 4.75% for the Curtiss-Wright PensidanPand from 3.75% to 4.5% for the EMD postretirairgenefit plan to reflect current
economic conditions. The rates reflect the hypdathetates at which the projected benefit obligagicould be effectively settled or paid out to
participants on that date. We determine our distmtes utilizing selected bond yield curves depetbby our actuaries, by using the rates of
return on high-quality, fixed-income corporate bsmrdailable at the measurement date with matuthigsmatch the plan’s expected cash
outflows for benefit payments. The discount ratetfi@ Curtiss-Wright Restoration and postretirentantefit plans increased to 4.5% and
3.5%, respectively, in 2013 to reflect the shodigration of liabilities of these plans. These chemgontributed to a reduction in the benefit
obligation of $34 million. The rate of compensatinorease for the pension plans remained at a werlghverage of 4.0% based upon a grade
scale of 5.0% to 3.0% that decrements as pay isescavhich reflects the experience over the passyend the Company’s expectation of
future salary increases. We also utilized the RFO20ortality tables, which assume mortality impnoats into the future for the U.S. pension
and postretirement benefit plans.

The overall expected return on assets assumptioasisd primarily on the expectations of future ganance. Expected future performance is
determined by weighting the expected returns fehesset class by the plan’s asset allocationekpected returns are based on long-term
capital market assumptions provided by our inveatraensultants. We have consistently used the 8di&6as a long-term overall average
return, and consider this rate to be a reasonalslenaption of the future long-term investment regurn

The long-term medical trend assumptions start witlurrent rate that is in line with expectationstf@ near future. The trend’s rate is then
graded down over time until it reaches an ultintate that is close to expectations for growth inFGDhe reasoning is that medical trends
cannot continue to be higher than the rate of GE®th in the long term. The health care cost tnetds used to determine the benefit
obligations of the plans as of December 31, 20t8,the annual periodic costs for 2013 were on #ialitrend of 8.0% grading down to an
ultimate trend of 5.0% in 2026. In 2010 and 20&3pectively, we modified the EMD and Williams pestement benefit designs for post-65
retirees. This effectively capped the plans toreitmedical inflation. As a result, any change i éixpectation of these rates to return to a
normal level should not have a material impacth@enamount of expense we recognize.

The timing and amount of future pension incomexgrease to be recognized each year is dependeheatetmographics and expected
compensation of the plan participants, the expeictedest rates in effect in future years, inflatiand the actual and expected investment



returns of the assets in the pension trust.
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The funded status of the Curtiss-Wright Pensiom Riareased by $116 million in 2013, primarily doghe increase in the discount rate used
to value plan obligations at December 31, 2013aTasser extent, the increase in the funded stessglue to positive asset returns of 19.2% i
2013. Recent favorability in financial market penfiance and increasing interest rates have decreasddture cash funding requirements anc
future pension expense. We contributed $41 millwthe Curtiss-Wright Pension Plan in 2013, anceekpo contribute approximately $101
million more over a five year period beginning 12. Additionally, we expect pension expense of §illion associated with this plan in
2014.

The following table reflects the impact of changeselected assumptions used to determine the €ustatus of the Company’s U.S. qualified
and nonqualified pension plans as of December @13 2in thousands, except for percentage pointgdian

Increase in
Percentage Benefit Increase in
Assumption Point Change Obligation Expense
Discount rate 0.25% $ 18,27¢ $ 2,47¢
Rate of compensation increase 0.25% 2,75¢ 68¢€
Expected return on assets (0.25% — 1,071

See Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statesrfenfurther information on our pension and pdstenent plans.

Environmental Reservt

We provide for environmental reserves on a sitesibgbasis when, in conjunction with internal amteenal legal counsel, it is determined that
a liability is both probable and estimable. In maages, the liability is not fixed or capped whemnfirst record a liability for a particular site.
only a range of potential liability can be estinth#sxd no amount within the range is more probdide tinother, a reserve will be established
the low end of that range. At sites involving mpiki parties, we accrue environmental liabilitiesdzhupon our expected share of the liability,
taking into account the financial viability of oather jointly liable partners. Judgment is requivdten we make assumptions and estimate
expected to be incurred for environmental remealiadictivities because of, among other factorsiatifies in assessing the extent and type of
environmental remediation to be performed, the itchpadcomplex environmental regulations and remtémhatechnologies, and agreements
between potentially responsible parties to shathércost of remediation. In estimating the futiability and continually evaluating the
sufficiency of such liabilities, we weigh certamcfors including our participation percentage dua settlement by or bankruptcy of other
potentially responsible parties, a change in thérenmental laws requiring more stringent requiratsean increase or decrease in the
estimated time required to remediate, a chandedestimate of future costs that will be incurredamediate the site, and changes in
technology related to environmental remediation.dé/enot believe that continued compliance with emvinental laws applicable to our
operations will have a material adverse effect enfimancial condition or results of operation. Hower, given the level of judgment and
estimation used in the recording of environmergakrves, it is reasonably possible that materififfgrent amounts could be recorded if
different assumptions were used or if circumstamge® to change, such as environmental regulatonsmediation solution remedies.

As of December 31, 2013, our environmental resetealed $16 million , the majority of which isnlp term. Approximately 27.4% of the
environmental reserves represent the current \afloer anticipated remediation costs and are rextadinted primarily due to the uncertaint
timing of expenditures. The remaining environmentakrves are discounted to reflect the time vafuroney since the amount and timing of
cash payments for the liability are reasonablymieitgable. All environmental reserves exclude anieptial recovery from insurance carrier:
third-party contribution legal actions.
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Purchase Accountin

We apply the purchase method of accounting to oguiaitions. Under this method, we allocate the cbdusiness acquisitions to the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed based on thdimastd fair values at the date of acquisition, camipreferred to as the purchase price
allocation. As part of the purchase price allogaior our business acquisitions, identifiablemgiale assets are recognized as assets apart
from goodwill if they arise from contractual or ettlegal rights, or if they are capable of beingasated or divided from the acquired business
and sold, transferred, licensed, rented, or exabdnbhe purchase price is allocated to the undegltangible and intangible assets acquirec
liabilities assumed based on their respectiverfairket values, with any excess recorded as goodiwél determine the fair values of such
assets and liabilities, generally in consultatiathwhird-party valuation advisor's. Such fair value asseassnequire significant judgments a
estimates such as projected cash flows, discoteg,reoyalty rates, and remaining useful lives @t differ materially from actual results. The
analysis, while substantially complete, is finaliz® later than twelve months from the date of &ition. The fair value of assets acquired 1

of cash) and liabilities assumed of our 2013 aétiois were estimated to be $285 million and $48iom , respectively.

Goodwill

We have $1,110 million in goodwill as of Decembir 2013 . Generally, the largest separately idehi# asset from the businesses that we
acquire is the value of their assembled workforedgch includes the additional benefit receivedhifrmanagement, administrative, marketing,
business development, engineering, and technicplog®es of the acquired businesses. The success atquisitions, including the ability to
retain existing business and to successfully coenfetand win new business, is based on the additinenefit received from management,
administrative, marketing, and business developnsemngntific, engineering, and technical skills &mdwledge of our employees rather tha
productive capital (plant and equipment, technolamgd intellectual property). Therefore, sincengfiale assets for assembled workforces are
part of goodwill, the substantial majority of theid@ngible assets for our acquired business aciquisifire recognized as goodwill.

The recoverability of goodwill is subject to an aahimpairment test based on the estimated fairevaf the underlying businesses. We test fo
goodwill impairment at the reporting unit level, st is at or one level below the operating segnevel. The test is performed in the fourth
quarter, which coincides with the preparation af fixe-year strategic operating plan. Additionalfjgodwill is tested for impairment when an
event occurs or if circumstances change that wodck likely than not reduce the fair value of aomipg unit below its carrying amount.

Determining the fair value of a reporting unitisigmental in nature and involves the use of sigaift estimates and assumptions that we
believe are reasonable but inherently uncertaitu@aesults may differ from those estimates. Tlowate the fair value of a reporting unit, we
consider both comparative market multiples as agkstimated discounted cash flows for the rempttinit. The significant estimates and
assumptions include, but are not limited to, rewegrowth rates, operating margins, and future emianand market conditions. The discount
rates are based upon the reporting unit's weigatedage cost of capital.

The first step in the analysis is to identify amtgntial impairment by comparing the carrying vaddi¢he reporting unit to its fair value. As a
supplement, we conduct additional sensitivity asialyo assess the risk for potential impairmenefagon changes in the key assumptions
such as the discount rate, expected ltarg: growth rate, and cash flow projections. lfirapairment is identified, the second step is to snee
the impairment loss by comparing the implied falue of goodwill with the carrying value of the glvdll on the reporting unit. Based upon
the completion of our annual test, we determinad tthere was no impairment of value and that @lbréng units estimated fair values, with
exception of the oil and gas reporting unit witthie Flow Control segment, were substantially inesscof their carrying amounts. Therefore, it
is not reasonably likely that significant changeshiese estimates would occur that would resudniimpairment charge.

Our oil and gas reporting urstfair value exceeded its net book value by 20%e Hey assumption that drives the estimated fdirevaf our oi
and gas reporting unit are the revenue and cogqgtions. If the revenue projections were not ablbe obtained due to continued low orders
for capital refinery projects or if we are unaldeobtain the projected cost synergies by succegsfitégrating Cimarron, acquired in 2012, it
would have a negative effect on the estimatedvilire of our oil and gas reporting unit.
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As of December 31, 2013, the amount of goodwilldar oil and gas reporting unit amounted to $188on. While we determined that there
was no goodwill impairment of the oil and gas rejmgrunit as of October 31, 2013 , management naes to actively evaluate the current anc
expected revenue and earnings performance of poetieg unit and is actively managing the succdsafegration of the Cimarron

acquisition. A significant adverse change in bessclimate or a change in strategic directionaictipg the businessrevenue or earnings, 1
inability to achieve the revenue and cost projeticesulting from the successful integration of &iran, a material negative change in
relationships with the reporting unit’'s significantstomers, a significant decline or delay in @ptojects, unanticipated competition, or an
adverse action or assessment by a regulator, wegldre an interim assessment prior to the nextired annual assessment as of October 31
2014 . If management determines that impairmergtgxihe impairment will be recognized in the peilowhich it is identified.

Other Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets are generally the reswdtqbiisitions and consist primarily of purchaseatht®logy, customer related intangibles, and
trademarks. Intangible assets are recorded atfdieiralues as determined through purchase actmyriased on estimates and judgments
regarding expectations for the estimated futurerdétx earnings and cash flows arising from follmwsales. Definitdived intangible assets &
amortized on a straight-line basis over their eatad useful lives, which generally range from 2@oyears, while indefinite-lived intangible
assets are not amortized. Customer related intlsgisimarily consist of customer relationshipsjchtreflect the value of the benefit derived
from the incremental revenue and related cash flsa direct result of the customer relationship.réiew the recoverability of all intangible
assets, including the related useful lives, whenevents or changes in circumstances indicatethieatarrying amount might not be
recoverable. We would record any impairment inrdporting period in which it has been identified.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures adout Market Risk.

We are exposed to certain market risks from chaimgiggerest rates and foreign currency exchantgsras a result of our global operating anc
financing activities. We seek to minimize any mitlerisks from foreign currency exchange rate fattons through our normal operating and
financing activities and, when deemed appropriair@ugh the use of derivative financial instrumel¥® used forward foreign currency
contracts to manage our currency rate exposurésgliire year ended December 31, 20ir8addition, in order to manage our interest resle,
we may, from time to time, enter into interest mt&ps to balance the ratio of fixed to floatintg rdebt. We do not use such instruments for
trading or other speculative purposes. Informatemarding our accounting policy on financial ingtents is contained in Note 1-L to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Interest Rate

The market risk for a change in interest rategdeslprimarily to our debt obligations. Our fixederénterest exposure was 94% and 65% , at
December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2Q&2pectively. In order to manage our interest exiposure, from time to time, we enter into irgt
rate swap agreements to manage our mix of fixezlaatl variable-rate debt. With the interest ratepsagreements that were in place as of
December 31, 2013, and December 31, 2012 , oed fiate interest exposure was 55% and 40%, regplctAs of December 31, 2013, a
change in interest rates of 1% would have an impactonsolidated interest expense of less thaniidm Information regarding our 2013,
2011, 2005 and 2003 Notes, Revolving Credit Agregnand Interest Rate Swaps is contained in Not® 18e Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rai

Although the majority of our sales, expenses, aghdlows are transacted in U.S. dollars, we dehmarket risk exposure to changes in
foreign currency exchange rates, primarily aslétes to the value of the U.S. dollar versus thead&n dollar, the British pound, the Euro,
the Swiss franc. Any significant change againstUt®. dollar in the value of the currencies of #hosuntries in which we do business could
have an effect on our business, financial conditéo results of operations. If foreign exchangesavere to collectively weaken or strengther
against the dollar by 10%, net earnings would H@en reduced or increased, respectively, by apmpately $23 million as it relates
exclusively to foreign currency exchange rate expes

Financial instruments expose us to counter-pagglitrisk for non-performance and to market riskdbanges in interest and foreign currency
rates. We manage exposure to counter-party crisllithrough specific minimum credit standards, déification of counter-parties, and
procedures to monitor concentrations of credit.fisle monitor the impact of market risk on the fafue and cash flows of our investments by
investing primarily in investment grade interestiieg securities, which have short-term maturiti¥e. attempt to minimize possible changes
in interest and currency exchange rates to amdhatsre not material to our consolidated resultgperations and cash flows.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

(In thousands, except per share data)

Net sales
Product sales
Service sales
Total net sales

Cost of sales

Cost of product sales
Cost of service sales
Total cost of sales
Gross profit

Research and development expenses

Selling expenses

General and administrative expenses
Operating income
Interest expense

Other income, net

Earnings before income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Earnings from continuing operations

Discontinued operations, net of taxes
Earnings from discontinued operations
Gain on divestiture

Earnings from discontinued operations

Net earnings

Basic earnings per share:

Earnings from continuing operations

Earnings from discontinued operations

Total

Diluted earnings per share:

Earnings from continuing operations

Earnings from discontinued operations
Total

Dividends per share
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

For the years ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
2,07496 $  1,710,75 1,690,06.
435,80 386,95 326,67
2,510,77. 2,097,711 2,016,74:
1,412,62 1,178,11! 1,143,82
287,05 260,85t 215,96
1,699,67 1,438,97: 1,359,79!
811,00: 658,74 656,94
(68,872 (59,715 (62,115
(153,33() (125,20) (119,43%)
(355,262 (312,38 (288,541
233,61 161,44 186,85«
(37,020 (26,329 (20,839
1,35¢ 24F 862
197,95: 135,36: 166,88:
(59,977) (43,079) (48,267)
137,98 92,28¢ 118,62
— 3,04: 7,76¢
— 18,51 —
— 21,55t 7,76¢
137,98 $ 113,84 126,38¢
29/ $ 1.9¢ 2.5€
— 0.4€ 0.17
29/ $ 2.44 2.7%
2.8t $ 1.9t 2.5z
— 0.4% 0.17
2.8¢ $ 2.4C 2.6¢
03¢ $ 0.3t 0.3
46,99 46,74: 46,37:
47,91 47 41 47,01

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the years ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Net earnings
Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation, net of fax

$ 137,98. $ 113,84: $ 126,38

(6,619 25,95¢ (18,477)
Pension and postretirement adjustments, net gqbfax 87,38¢ (16,33) (43,84¢)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 80,76 9,62: (62,319

Comprehensive income $ 218,74t $ 123,46 $ 64,07

(1) The tax benefit (expense) included in othanprehensive income for foreign currency translatidjustments for 2013, 2012 , and 2011
were $(0.9) million , $0.7 million , and $(2.6) fioh , respectively.

(2) The tax benefit (expense) included in othenprehensive income for pension and postretiremdiosaments for 2013 , 2012 , and 2011
were $(49.4) million , $9.1 million , and $26.7 haih , respectively.

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

At December 31,

(In thousands, except share data) 2013 2012
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 175,29: $ 112,02:
Receivables, net 603,59. 578,31:
Inventories, net 452,08 397,47:
Deferred tax assets, net 47,65( 50,76(
Other current assets 58,66( 37,19¢
Total current assets 1,337,28 1,175,76:
Property, plant, and equipment, net 515,71¢ 489,59:
Goodwill 1,110,422 1,013,301
Other intangible assets, net 471,37¢ 419,02:
Other assets 23,46: 16,91:
Total assets $ 3,458,27. $ 3,114,58!
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term and short-term debt $ 1,33 % 128,22!
Accounts payable 186,94: 157,82!
Accrued expenses 142,93! 131,06°
Income taxes payable 78¢ 7,79:
Deferred revenue 164,34: 171,62:
Other current liabilities 38,25! 43,21«
Total current liabilities 534,59: 639,74t
Long-term debt 958,60: 751,99(
Deferred tax liabilities, net 123,64« 50,45(
Accrued pension and other postretirement benesitsco 138,90« 264,04
Long-term portion of environmental reserves 15,49¢ 14,90¢
Other liabilities 134,32t 80,85¢
Total liabilities 1,905,56! 1,801,99i

Contingencies and Commitments (Note 13, 16, 18,24nd
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common stock, $1 par value,100,000,000 shares azgloat December 31, 2013 and 2012;
49,189,702 shares issued at December 31, 20130dr#] GQutstanding shares were 47,638,83¢

December 31,2013 and 46,449,934 at December 32, 201 49,19( 49,19(

Additional paid in capital 150,61¢ 151,88

Retained earnings 1,380,98 1,261,37

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 25,25¢ (55,509

Common treasury stock, at cost (1,550,867 shal®seember 31, 2013 and 2,739,768 share

December 31, 2012) (53,349 (94,35()
Total stockholders' equity 1,552,70! 1,312,59:
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 345827 §  3,114,58

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cashiged by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
(Gain) loss on fixed asset disposals
Gain on bargain purchase
Gain on divestiture
Deferred income taxes
Share-based compensation
Impairment of assets

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, neusinesses acquired and disposed of:

Accounts receivable, net
Inventories, net
Progress payments
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Income taxes
Net pension and postretirement liabilities
Other current and long-term assets and liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sales and disposals of long-liveetsiss
Proceeds from divestitures
Acquisitions of intangible assets
Additions to property, plant, and equipment
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired
Additional consideration paid on prior year aciosis
Net cash used for investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings under revolving credit facility
Borrowings of debt
Payment of revolving credit facility
Principal payments on debt
Repurchases of company stock
Proceeds from share-based compensation plans
Dividends paid
Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange-rate changes on cash
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalent
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities:
Capital expenditures incurred but not yet paid
Recognition of asset retirement obligation
Property and equipment acquired under build totsanitsaction

For the years ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
$ 137,98: $ 113,84« $ 126,38t
121,49 93,89¢ 88,30(
77 (419 (670)
— (910) —
— (29,919 (1,299)
5,92¢ (3,879 3,34¢
7,34¢ 9,42¢ 9,621
887 4,98¢ —
6,59¢ 26,52 (78,85()
(25,499 (30,100 (21,129
(6,13) (7,929 11,26
8,561 (7,290 15,62
(7,289 (34,430) 51,72
(16,81) 15,21 3,917
(1,630 (1,139 (4,239
6,29¢ 4,571 (2,160)
237,82 152,47 201,85:
1,34¢ 2,551 2,491
— 52,12: 8,10(
— (1,769 (22)
(72,249 (82,95)) (84,32)
(236,13Y) (460,439 (178,08()
(6,669 (2,529 —
(313,69)) (492,999) (251,82)
983,10¢ 576,93« 1,002,601
500,00 — 300,00
(1,229,14) (296,141 (1,112,81)
(125,03)) — —
— (25,709 (8,179
27,45( 15,49: 11,74¢
(18,37) (16,39) (14,89)
2,137 57 1,34%
140,13t 254,24: 179,80
(1,009) 3,91¢ (3,56)
63,27: (82,369 126,26t
112,02 194,38 68,11¢
$ 175,29 $ 112,020 $ 194,38
$ 4546 $ 1,47¢  $ 3,60(
$ — % 6,90, $ —
$ 6,225 $ — 3 —

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In thousands)

Accumulated

Additional Other
Common Paid Retained Comprehensive

Stock in Capital Earnings Income (Loss) Treasury Stock
January 1, 2011 $ 48,55¢ $ 130,090 $ 1,052,420 $ (2,817 $ (88,199
Net earnings — — 126,38 — —
Other comprehensive income, net of tax — — — (62,319 —
Dividends paid — — (14,899 — —
Stock options exercised, net of tax 321 5,312 — — 8,64¢
Other — (259 — — 25¢
Share-based compensation — 8,04¢ — — 1,57¢
Repurchase of common stock — — — — (8,17¢)
December 31, 2011 $ 48,87¢ $ 143,19. $ 1,16392! $ (65,13) $ (85,890()
Net earnings — — 113,84« — —
Other comprehensive income, net of tax — — — 9,62: —
Dividends paid — — (16,399 — —
Stock options exercised, net of tax 311 6,431 — — 10,071
Restricted stock — (6,239 — — 6,23:
Other — (414 — — 414
Share-based compensation — 8,901 — — 521
Repurchase of common stock — — — (25,70
December 31, 2012 $ 49,19 $ 151,88 $ 1,261,37 $ (55,509 $ (94,35()
Net earnings — — 137,98: — —
Other comprehensive income, net of tax — — — 80,76" —
Dividends paid — — (18,377 — —
Stock options exercised, net of tax — (5,729 — — 34,45
Restricted stock, net of tax — (2,127 — — 5,79¢
Other — (330 — — 33C
Share-based compensation — 6,92( — — 43C
December 31, 2013 $ 49,19 $ 150,61t $ 1,380,98 $ 25,25¢  $ (53,349

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Curtiss-Wright Corporation and its subsidiarie®(@orporation or the Company) is a diversified mational manufacturing and service
company that designs, manufactures, and overhaetésppn components and provides highly enginepreducts and services to the
aerospace, defense, automotive, shipbuilding, gsieg, oil, petrochemical, agricultural equipmeatlroad, power generation, security, and
metalworking industries.

A. Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tu®ants of the Corporation and its majorityned subsidiaries. All intercompany transact
and accounts have been eliminated.

B. Use of Estimates

The financial statements of the Corporation havenh@epared in conformity with accounting princgptgenerally accepted in the United State
of America (U.S. GAAP), which requires managementnike estimates and judgments that affect thertehamount of assets, liabilities,
revenue, and expenses and disclosure of contigeets and liabilities in the accompanying findrst@ements. The most significant of these
estimates includes the estimate of costs to comen-term contracts under the percentage-of-cetigol accounting methods, the estimate o
useful lives for property, plant, and equipmensiciow estimates used for testing the recovetglili assets, pension plan and postretiremen
obligation assumptions, estimates for inventoryotdscence, estimates for the valuation and usieg bf intangible assets, warranty reserves
legal reserves, and the estimate of future envieoai costs. Actual results may differ from thesgneates.

C. Revenue Recognition

The realization of revenue refers to the timingt®fecognition in the accounts of the Corporation is generally considered realized or
realizable and earned when the earnings procastbh#gantially complete and all of the followingteria are met: 1) persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists; 2) delivery has occurred arices have been rendered; 3) the Corporation’fddts customer is fixed or determinable;
and 4) collectability is reasonably assured.

We determine the appropriate method by which wegeize revenue by analyzing the terms and conditafreach contract or arrangement
entered into with our customers. Revenue is re@eghon product sales as production units are stippd title and risk of loss have
transferred. Revenue is recognized on servicedgp&acts as services are rendered. The signifestithates we make in recognizing revenue
are primarily for long-term contracts generally @aected for using the cost-to-cost method of peagmbf completion accounting that are
associated with the design, development and manuéof highly engineered industrial products usedommercial and defense applications.
Under the cost-to-cost percentage-of-completiorhotbf accounting, profits are recorded pro rasasebl upon current estimates of direct and
indirect costs to complete such contracts. Chaimgestimates of contract sales, costs, and prafésecognized using the cumulative catch-up
method of accounting. This method recognizes irctireent period the cumulative effect of the change current and prior periods. The effect
of the changes on future periods of contract paréorce is recognized as if the revised estimatebbad the original estimate. A significant
change in an estimate on one or more contractsl¢@aye a material effect on the Corporation’s cbdated financial position, results of
operations, or cash flows. In 2013, there werendividual significant changes in estimated contcadts at completion. In 2012, the
Corporation incurred unanticipated additional ca$t$23.7 million on its long-term contract with Bfanghouse for disassembly, inspection,
and preparation for shipment costs related toghetor coolant pumps (RCPs) that the Corporatisupglying for the AP1000 nuclear power
plants in China. In addition, the Corporation refgat a cumulative catch up benefit of $14.2 milliefated to a change in estimate on its
technology transfer contract on the AP1000 nugbeagram. In 2011, the Corporation incurred unapéted additional costs of $9.7 million to
address a localized heating issue in the RCPs.

Losses on contracts are provided for in the pdriosthich the losses become determinable and thessxaf billings over cost and estimated
earnings on long-term contracts is included in deférevenue.
Corrections to Prior Years Amounts

The presentation of net sales and cost of salg®iprior year's statement of earnings has bearated to separately present the componel
product and service revenues and costs of saléscitnge in presentation did not affect total ness, total cost of sales, total gross profit,



operating income, or net earnings.
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D. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of money market fundscantmercial paper that are readily convertible taeh, all with original maturity dates of
three months or less.

E. Inventory

Inventories are stated at lower of cost or maReaduction costs are comprised of direct matendllabor and applicable manufacturing
overhead.

F. Progress Payments

Certain long-term contracts provide for interimibis as costs are incurred on the respective actistr Pursuant to contract provisions,
agencies of the U.S. Government and other custoanergranted title or a secured interest for maleend work-in-process included in
inventory to the extent progress payments arevedeAccordingly, these receipts have been repaseal reduction of unbilled receivables .
inventories, as presented in Notes 4 and 5 to thes@idated Financial Statements.

G. Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are carried atlesstaccumulated depreciation. Major renewals atigtments are capitalized, while
maintenance and repairs that do not improve omelxtiee life of the asset are expensed in the péehieygl are incurred. Depreciation is compi
using the straight-line method based upon the astidhuseful lives of the respective assets.

Average useful lives for property, plant, and equént are as follows:

Buildings and improvements 5 to 40 years
Machinery, equipment, and other 3 to 15 years

H. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are generally the result of aifips and consist primarily of purchased techggl@ustomer related intangibles, trademarks
and technology licenses. Intangible assets aret@adron a straight-line basis over their estimatseful lives, which range from 1 to 6ars.
See Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statenfenfarther information on other intangible assets

I. Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Corporation reviews the recoverability of athgj-lived assets, including the related usefuldjwehenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amouiat lohg-lived asset might not be recoverable. Ifinegl, the Corporation compares the
estimated fair value determined by either the wulisted future net cash flows or appraised valubdaelated asset’s carrying value to
determine whether there has been an impairmean #sset is considered impaired, the asset iewidtbwn to fair value, in the period in wh
the impairment becomes known. In 2013, the Corpmrakcognized an impairment of $0.9 million in @eal and administrative expenses
related to certain fixed assets where it was detethat the carrying value exceeded the estinfaiedalue. In 2012, the Corporation
recognized an impairment of $5.0 millionGeneral and administrative expenses, in conoetith its 2012 restructuring plan, a componei
which was exiting a facility.

J. Goodwill

Goodwill results from business acquisitions. Thepg@oation accounts for business acquisitions kycaling the purchase price to the tangible
and intangible assets acquired and liabilities m&sl Assets acquired and liabilities assumed aaded at their fair values, and the excess o
the purchase price over the amounts allocatecc@ded as goodwill. The recoverability of goodvslisubject to an annual impairment test or

whenever an event occurs or circumstances chaag@tiuld more likely than not result in an impaimherhe impairment test is based on the
estimated fair value of the underlying busines$as. Corporation’s goodwill impairment test is penfied as of October 31 of each year. See

Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statementfuidher information on goodwil
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K. Pre-Contract Costs

The Corporation, from time to time, incurs costbégin fulfilling the statement of work under a sifie anticipated contract that has yet to be
obtained from a customer. If it is determined thatrecoveries of these costs are probable, the wdlsbe capitalized, excluding any start-up
costs which are expensed as incurred. When ciranoss change and the contract is no longer deernbdhlge, the capitalized costs will be
recognized in earnings. Capitalized pre-contrastcwere $1.8 million and $3.0 million at Decem®g&r 2013 and 2012 , respectively.

L. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Accounting guidance requires certain disclosurganding the fair value of financial instruments.elto the short maturities of cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payabteaccrued expenses, the net book value of timeseial instruments is deemed to
approximate fair value. See Notes 9 and 13 to thres@lidated Financial Statements for further infation on the Corporation's Financial
Instruments.

M. Research and Development

The Corporation funds research and developmentamnaogfor commercial products and independent rekeard development and bid and
proposal work related to government contracts. [@ment costs include engineering and field supfasrhew customer requirements.
Corporation-sponsored research and developmerd acsexpensed as incurred.

Research and development costs associated withncestsponsored programs are capitalized to invertod are recorded in cost of sales
when products are delivered or services perforiadds received under shared development contraxts i@duction of the total development
expenditures under the shared contract and arershetias research and development costs.

N. Environmental Costs

The Corporation establishes a reserve for a patestivironmental remediation liability on a site $ite basis when it concludes that a
determination of legal liability is probable and thmount of the liability can be reasonably estaddtased on current law and existing
technologies. Such amounts, if quantifiable, reftee Corporation’s estimate of the amount of tizdility. If only a range of potential liability
can be estimated and no amount within the rang®ie probable than another, a reserve will be bskedd at the low end of that range. At
sites involving multiple parties, the Corporatiataies environmental liabilities based upon itseexed share of the liability, taking into
account the financial viability of other jointhalble partners. Such reserves are adjusted as mesgesmnd remediation efforts progress or as
additional information becomes available. Approxiela27% of the Corporation’s environmental ressras of December 31, 2013, represen
the current value of anticipated remediation cast$ are not discounted primarily due to the una#staf timing of expenditures. The
remaining environmental reserves are discountedftect the time value of money since the amoundttaning of cash payments for the
liability are reliably determinable. All environmigh reserves exclude any potential recovery frosaiance carriers or third-party legal actions
See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statesrfentadditional information.

0. Accounting for Share-Based Payments

The Corporation follows the fair value based metbbdccounting for share-based employee compemsatioich requires the Corporation to
expense all share-based employee compensatiore-Based employee compensation is a non-cash expieesethe Corporation settles these
obligations by issuing the shares of Curtiss-Wrightporation instead of settling such obligationthwash payments.

Compensation expense for all non-qualified shat@ng, performance shares, performance-basedatestishares, time-based restricted stock
and performance-based restricted stock units grazed on a graded schedule over the requisitécegueriod for the entire award based on
the grant date fair value.

P. Earnings Per Share

The Corporation is required to report both basioiegs per share (EPS), based on the weighted-geenamber of Common shares
outstanding, and diluted earnings per share, baisd¢ke basic EPS adjusted for all potentially ditishares issuable. The calculation of EPS |
disclosed in Note 14 to the Consolidated Finarsfatements.
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Q. Income Taxes

The Corporation accounts for income taxes usingiset and liability method. Under the asset afilliiy method, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for future tax conseqemattributable to differences between the fir@rstatement carrying amounts of existing
assets and liabilities and their respective taxbathe effect on deferred tax assets and liagslif a change in tax laws is recognized in the
results of operations in the period the new lavesesracted. A valuation allowance is recorded tacedhe carrying amounts of deferred tax
assets unless it is more likely than not that aasdets will be realized.

The Corporation records amounts related to uncent@ome tax positions by 1) prescribing a minim@woognition threshold a tax position is
required to meet before being recognized in tharfimal statements and 2) the measurement of tieen@tax benefits recognized from such
positions. The Corporation’s accounting policyastassify uncertain income tax positions thatrareexpected to be resolved in one year as :
non-current income tax liability and to classifyarest and penalties as a component of Intereginsegpand General and administrative
expenses, respectively. See Note 12 to the Comgetid-inancial Statements for further information.

R. Foreign Currency

For operations outside the United States of Ameheahaprepare financial statements in currenciberahan the U.S. dollar, the Corporation
translates assets and liabilities at period-enth@axge rates and income statement amounts usinf@piedigverage exchange rates for the
period. The cumulative effect of translation adjushts is presented as a component of accumulated @mprehensive income within
stockholders’ equity. This balance is affected dmgfgn currency exchange rate fluctuations anchbyatcquisition of foreign entities. Gains anc
(losses) from foreign currency transactions artuaged in General and administrative expenses witigrresults of operations, which amour

to $2.6 million , $(2.3) million , and $(0.8) mibin for the years ended December 31, 2013, 204@ 2@11 , respectively.

S. Derivatives

Forward Foreign Exchange and Currency Option Conts:

The Corporation uses financial instruments, sudiogard exchange and currency option contracthgtige a portion of existing and
anticipated foreign currency denominated transastidhe purpose of the Corporatisifidreign currency risk management program is doice
volatility in earnings caused by exchange ratetflatons. All of the derivative financial instruntsrare recorded at fair value based upon
guoted market prices for comparable instrumentt) thie gain or loss on these transactions recdrdedkarnings in the period in which they
occur. These gains and (losses) are classifieceasr@l and administrative expenses in the Congelidatatements of Earnings and amounted
to $(6.2) million , $0.9 million , and $(0.7) mibin for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012@h#l, respectively. The Corporation does
not use derivative financial instruments for tragor speculative purposes.

Interest Rate Risks and Related Strate

The Corporation’s primary interest rate exposusglits from changes in U.S. dollar interest ratd& Torporatiors policy is to manage inter
cost using a mix of fixed and variable rate delbie Torporation periodically uses interest rate stapnanage such exposures. Under these
interest rate swaps, the Corporation exchangepeatfied intervals, the difference between fixad #oating interest amounts calculated by
reference to an agreed-upon notional principal arhou

For interest rate swaps designated as fair valdgdse(i.e., hedges against the exposure to chamtjes fair value of an asset or a liability ol
identified portion thereof that is attributableaarticular risk), changes in the fair value @& thiterest rate swaps offset changes in the fair
value of the fixed rate debt due to changes in gtdriterest rates.
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T. Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Adoption of New Standar

Other Comprehensive Income: Presentation of Coh@rsive Income

In February 2013, new guidance was issued that dsnitie current comprehensive income guidance. n€leguidance requires entities to
disclose the effect of each item that was reclaskif its entirety out of accumulated other conheresive income and into net income on eact
affected net income line item. For reclassificati@ms that are not reclassified in their entiietp net income, a cross-reference to other
required disclosures is required. The new guidénte be applied prospectively for annual reportiegiods beginning after December 15,
2012 and interim periods within those years. Tdh@péion of this new guidance did not have an impacthe Corporation’s consolidated
financial position, results of operations, or cfletwvs.

2. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Heat Treating Business

On March 30, 2012 , the Corporation sold the assedsreal estate of its heat treating business;twitd been reported in the Surface
Technologies segment, to Bodycote plc for $52 onilli The heat treating business’ operating resuéisncluded in discontinued operations in
the Corporation’s Consolidated Statement of Eamfiog all periods presented.

Components of earnings from discontinued operatwasas follows for the year ended December 31.:

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Net sales $ — 3 10,78 $ 36,51(
Earnings from discontinued operations before inctemes — 4,92¢ 12,52
Provision for income taxes — (1,88¢) (4,752
Gain on divestiture, net of taxes of $11,400 — 18,51: —
Earnings from discontinued operations $ — $ 21,55¢ $ 7,76¢

Legacy Distribution Business

On July 29, 2011 , the Corporation sold the assetfse legacy distribution business within the Fl@antrol segment to McJunkin Red Man
Corporation for $4.6 million in cash. The deterntioa was made to divest the business as it wasoratidered a core business of the
Corporation. The disposal resulted in a loss of than $0.1 million and was not reported as a distcoed operation as the amounts are not
considered significant. The business contribute®l Binillion in sales and a pretax loss of $0.3ionillfor the year ended December 31, 2010.

Hydro-pneumatic (Hydrop) product line

On September 29, 2011 , the Corporation sold teeta®f the Hydrop suspension business, withifCtirgrols segment, to Stromsholmen AB,
a subsidiary of the Barnes Group for CHF 3.1 mill{d3.5 million ) in cash. The determination wasd® to divest the business as it was not
considered a core business of the Corporation digposal resulted in a $1.3 million pre-tax gaid aras not reported as discontinued
operations as the amounts are not considered isigmiif This business contributed $0.8 million ifesdor the year ended December 31, 2010.
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3. ACQUISITIONS

The Corporation continually evaluates potentialisitjons that either strategically fit within ti@orporation’s existing portfolio or expand the
Corporation’s portfolio into new product lines aljacent markets. The Corporation has completaghaber of acquisitions that have been
accounted for as business combinations and hauttegsn the recognition of goodwill in the Corptica's financial statements. This good\
arises because the purchase prices for these basmgeflect the future earnings and cash flowrpielén excess of the earnings and cash f
attributable to the current product and customeasthe time of acquisition. Thus, goodwill inBetly includes the know-how of the
assembled workforce, the ability of the workforodurther improve the technology and product offgs, and the expected cash flows resu
from these efforts. Goodwill may also include expdcsynergies resulting from the complementarytesgia fit these businesses bring to
existing operations.

The Corporation allocates the purchase price atiéite of acquisition based upon its understandireofair value of the acquired assets and
assumed liabilities. In the months after closirgyitee Corporation obtains additional informatio@ithese assets and liabilities, including
through tangible and intangible asset appraisal$ aa the Corporation learns more about the neegyieed business, it is able to refine the
estimates of fair value and more accurately allota® purchase price. Only items identified athefacquisition date are considered for
subsequent adjustment. The Corporation will mgl@priate adjustments to the purchase price altmtarior to completion of the
measurement period, as required.

In 2013, the Corporation acquired five busineseesi aggregate purchase price of $236.1 millahqgf which are described in more detalil
below. In 2012, the Corporation acquired eight besses for an aggregate purchase price of $468idminet of cash acquired, all of which
are described in more detail below. In 2011, thep@@tion acquired eight businesses for an aggequathase of $183.3 million , all of which
are described in more detail below.

The amounts of net sales and net loss includdukifCbrporation’s consolidated statement of earrfiraga the acquisition date to the period
ended December 31, 2013 are $74.0 million and $8I®n , respectively.

The following table summarizes the estimated falues of the assets acquired and liabilities asduahéhe date of acquisition for alll
acquisitions consummated during 2013, 2012 , &id 2

(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Accounts receivable $ 2597 % 53,75 $ 19,07¢
Inventory 30,93( 52,22¢ 23,81
Property, plant, and equipment 18,06¢ 40,91t 22,52¢
Other current assets 3,22¢ 7,244 1,182
Intangible assets 102,75: 182,68: 53,71%
Current and non-current liabilities (19,599 (44,61°) (13,510
Pension and postretirement benefits (6,472) (8,149 —
Deferred income taxes (19,920 (51,83() (2,309
Debt assumed — (13,819 —
Due to seller (2,856 (240 —
Net tangible and intangible assets 132,10: 218,16¢ 104,50:
(Gain on Bargain Purchase) — (910 —
Purchase price 236,13! 462,41t 183,32t
Goodwill $ 104,03: $ 245,15¢ $ 78,82t

Supplemental Pro Forma Statements of Operations Data (Unaudited)

The assets, liabilities and results of operatidrith® businesses acquired in 2011 were not materifle Corporation’s consolidated financial
position or results of operations, and therefoefprma financial information for such businessuasigions is not presented.
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The following table presents unaudited consolidg@tedforma financial information for the combinexbults of the Corporation and its
completed business acquisitions during the yeae@tecember 31, 2013 and 2012 as if the 2013 atignshad occurred on January 1,
2012 . Pro forma results were previously discldeedhe 2012 acquisitions as if the 2012 acquisiibad occurred on January 1, 2011, and tf
2012 pro forma provided below was prepared usiegtime assumption.

(In thousands, except per share data) 2013 2012

Net sales $ 258039 $ 2548,72
Net earnings from continuing operations 144,34: 99,05
Diluted earnings per share from continuing opersio 3.01 2.0¢

The unaudited pro forma consolidated results wegpared using the acquisition method of accourdimdjare based on the historical financial
information for a 12 month period. The unaudited farma consolidated results are not necessaidlicaive of what our consolidated results
of operations actually would have been had we cetaglthe acquisitions on January 1, 20kRaddition, the unaudited pro forma consolid
results do not purport to project the future resaftoperations of the combined company nor do théigct the expected realization of any cost
savings associated with the acquisition. The urtadgiro forma consolidated results reflect prinyattile following pro forma pre-tax
adjustments:

« Elimination of historical intangible asset animation expense (approximately $0.7 million and3%aillion in 2013 and 2012,
respectively).

» Additional amortization expense (approximatedyBmillion and $23.0 million in 2013 and 2012, pestively) related to the fair value
of identifiable intangible assets acquired.

» Additional depreciation expense (approximately3million and $1.8 million in 2013 and 2012, restively) related to the fair value
adjustment to property, plant and equipment acquire

» Elimination of the fair value adjustments to aisifion-date inventory that has been sold in 26fL83.7 million , and recognition in
2012 of the full value of the fair value adjustmémticquisition date inventory.

* Reclassification of $2.1 million of the Corpadoat's 2013 acquisition costs directly attributatiethe acquisition into 2012. Included in
these costs are advisory, investment banking ayal &nd regulatory costs incurred by the Corponafidhe Corporation records
acquisition costs in General and administrativecesgs.

» Elimination of historical interest expense (appmately $0.6 million and $6.8 milliom 2013 and 2012, respective

« Additional interest expense (approximately $#i8ion and $26.3 million in 2013 and 2012, respesly) associated with the
incremental borrowings that would have been inautoeacquire these companies as of January 1, 2012

FLOW CONTROL

2013 Acquisitions

Ovalpath

On October 1, 2013, the Corporation acquired #sets of Ovalpath, Inc. for $2.3 million in casheTAsset Purchase Agreement contains
representations and warranties customary for aaction of this type, including a portion of theghase price held back as security for
potential indemnification claims against the sellédre Asset Purchase Agreement also provides faingent consideration based on
achievement of certain sales targets. Based oestiteated amount of sales over the five -year nreasent period, the Corporation recorded &
liability of the estimated fair value of the corgamt consideration in the amount of $1.5 million .

Based in San Jose, CA, Ovalpath has developedpsigiary software platform utilizing mobile techogly to enable applications that provide
significant efficiencies within a nuclear plant. @&wath operates within the Nuclear Group divisibthe Flow Control segment.
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Gulf33 Valve Pros, LLC

On September 16, 2013, the Corporation acquire@ssets of Gulf33 Valve Pro, LLC for $3.3 millincash. The Asset Purchase Agreemer
contains representations and warranties custorosa®y fransaction of this type, including a portafrthe purchase price retained as security fo
potential indemnification claims against the selManagement funded the purchase from the Corpaoratrevolving credit facility.

Based in Louisiana, Gulf33 provides valve repait araintenance services to the offshore oil anchgm&et and operates within the Oil and
Gas Systems division of the Flow Control segment.

Phdnix Group

On February 28, 2013 , the Corporation acquirethalloutstanding shares of Phdnix Holding GmbHS®7.9 million , net of cash

acquired. The Share Purchase and Transfer Agrderoetains a purchase price adjustment mechanishnegmmesentations and warranties
customary for a transaction of this type, includangortion of the purchase price deposited intooss@s security for potential indemnification
claims against the seller. Management funded tihehase from the Corporation’s revolving creditlfgcand excess cash at foreign locations.

Phdonix, headquartered in Germany, is a designernardifacturer of valves, valve systems, and relsigqbort services to the global chemical,
petrochemical and power (both conventional andeargimarkets. Phénix has 282 employees and opdratinix Valves in Volkmarsen,
Germany; Strack, located in Barleben, Germany;agime Control Valves, located in Hanover, Germ&fanix also owns sales subsidiaries
with warehouses in Texas and France.

Revenues of the acquired business were approxiyr®66.0 million in 2012. The business operatesiwithe Marine & Power Products
Division of Curtiss-Wright's Flow Control segment.

The purchase price of the acquisition has beeratial to the net tangible and intangible assetsimtjwith the remainder recorded as
goodwill on the basis of estimated fair valuesfaiisws:

(In thousands) Phdnix Gulf 33 Ovalpath Total

Accounts receivable $ 12,22¢ $ 581 $ 85 $ 12,89:
Inventory 20,35¢ 101 — 20,45¢
Property, plant, and equipment 12,57¢ 26¢ — 12,84«
Other current and non-current assets 2,15¢ — — 2,15¢
Intangible assets 42,79: 1,26( 60C 44,65
Current and non-current liabilities (7,499 (239 (18 (7,759
Pension and postretirement benefits (6,472 — — (6,477)
Deferred income taxes (14,407 — — (14,409
Due to seller — (622) (1,750

Net tangible and intangible assets 61,73: 1,35(C (1,089 64,37
Purchase price 97,88¢ 3,32¢ 2,25( 103,46«
Goodwill $ 36,15¢ $ 1,97¢ $ 333 % 41,46
Tax deductible goodwiill $ — 197¢ $ 3,33:

2012 Acquisitions

Cimarron Energy

On November 21, 2012 , the Corporation acquireda@iom Energy, Inc. through the acquisition of 100Bthe membership interests of
Cimarron Energy Holding Company, LLC, for a nettcasirchase price of $132.6 million . The Purchagees@ment contains a purchase price
adjustment mechanism and representations and wiaganstomary for a transaction of this type,tidahg a portion of the purchase price
deposited into escrow as security for potentiabindification claims against the seller. Managenfi@mded the purchase from the



Corporation’s revolving credit facility.
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Cimarron is a manufacturer of highly customized andineered energy production, processing, and@mwviental solutions for the U.S. oil ¢
gas industry. Cimarron has 368 employees and ddugatered in Norman, OK. Revenues of the acquitesiness were approximately $98
million for the year ended 2011. The business dpsnaithin the Oil and Gas Systems division of ff@wv Control segment.

A.P. Services, LLC

On November 5, 2012 , the Corporation acquired AR/iSes, LLC, through the acquisition of 100% o thembership interests of A.P.
Holdco, LLC, the parent company of the operatintitgrfor a cash purchase price of $30.4 milliocFhe agreement also contains
representations and warranties customary for aaction of this type, including a portion of theghase price deposited into escrow as
security for potential indemnification claims aggtithe seller. Management funded the purchase thenCorporatiors revolving credit facility

A.P. Services is a supplier of fluid sealing tedbg@s and services to the nuclear and fossil p@&eeration markets, with proven
performance in delivering solutions that improverlreliability and safety and also reduce openatiod maintenance costs. A.P. Services ha
84 employees and is based in Freeport, PA. Revenfuibe acquired business were approximately $2Bomifor the year ended 2011. The
business operates within the Nuclear Group divisibtihe Flow Control segment.

Other Flow Control

During 2012, the Corporation acquired three prodlnes in two separate transactions for an aggeegatchase price of approximately $7
million . These product lines serve the commenciallear power market and consist of original eq@phand re-engineered replacement
products for obsolete equipment and product tedgyo$upporting steam generators on nuclear reacwrs of the acquisitions resulted in the
recognition of a gain on bargain purchase of $0IBom, as the value of assets acquired of $1.thianiexceeded the purchase price of $0.3
million . The Corporation integrated these prodinets within the Nuclear Group division of the Fl@ontrol segment.

The purchase price of the acquisitions has beeoatkd to the net tangible and intangible assefgix] with the remainder recorded as
goodwill on the basis of estimated fair valuesfaiisws:

(In thousands) AP Services Cimarron Other Flow Total
Accounts receivable $ 2,80 % 21,70¢ $ — 3 24,51:
Inventory 2,38¢ 18,98: 23€ 21,61:
Property, plant, and equipment 3,48¢ 8,094 — 11,58:
Other current assets 204 61¢ — 82z
Intangible assets 8,00( 55,00( 4,681 67,68:
Current and non-current liabilities (1,127 (21,439 (75) (22,63()
Deferred income taxes (3,069 (18,857 — (21,917
Due to seller — — (240 (240
Net tangible and intangible assets 12,70 64,11¢ 4,60: 81,42:
Gain on bargain purchase — — (910 (910
Purchase price 30,36( 132,58: 6,97 170,17¢
Goodwill $ 17,65¢ $ 68,46! $ 3,28. % 89,66
Tax deductible goodwill $ 13,55 § — 3 3,28:

2011 Acquisitions

Anatec International, Inc. and Lambert, MacGill ghtas, Inc. (LMT)

On December 2, 2011 , the Corporation acquire@d#sets of Anatec International, Inc, and Lambe#gg¢@ill, Thomas, Inc. (Anatec and LMT)
for $35.2 million in cash, including a purchasecpradjustment of $1.2 million . The Asset Purch@geeement contains customary
representations and warranties, including a poufdaine purchase price deposited into escrow asrisgdor potential indemnification claims
against the seller. Management funded the purdnasethe Corporation’s revolving credit facility.sfof December 31, 2012, all funds held in



escrow have been released to the seller with nmslautstanding.
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Anatec and LMT perform testing and inspection segsifor commercial nuclear power plants to ensafietys operational soundness, and
compliance with regulatory codes. Anatec and LMErapes within the Nuclear Group division of thewriGontrol segment. Anatec and LMT
have 50 full-time personnel and manage an additee@sonal workforce of approximately 150 duringlear plant maintenance outages.
Anatec and LMT are headquartered in San Clememew@h four additional facilities to support nualeplant operations in the U.S. Reven
of the acquired business were approximately $20amifor the year ended 2010.

Douglas Equipment Ltd.

On April 6, 2011 , the Corporation acquired the amets of Douglas Equipment Ltd. (Douglas) for.81gillion ( $20.1 million ) in cash. The
Business Transfer Agreement contains customargseptations and warranties, including a portiothefpurchase price deposited into esc
as security for potential indemnification claimsagt the seller. Management funded the purchase ine Corporation’s revolving credit
facility.

Douglas designs and manufactures aircraft handlystems for the defense and commercial aerospagetmaand operates within the Marine
and Power Products division of the Flow Controlrsegt. Douglas has approximately 1&8ployees and is headquartered in Cheltenham,
Revenues of the acquired business were approxiyr®28 million for the year ended 2010.

The purchase price of the acquisitions has beeoatkd to the net tangible and intangible assefgix] with the remainder recorded as
goodwill on the basis of estimated fair valuesfaisws:

(In thousands) Anatec Douglas Total
Accounts receivable $ 4,68t $ (7L 5,63(
Inventory — 10,91 10,91
Property, plant, and equipment 1,581 61¢ 2,20(
Other current assets 18t 30¢ 494
Intangible assets 14,93¢ 6,697 21,63
Current liabilities (818) (5,039 (5,85¢)
Net tangible and intangible assets 20,56¢ 14.,44¢ 35,01¢
Purchase price 35,20: 20,09« 55,29¢
Goodwill $ 14,63. $ 5,64¢ $ 20,28(
Tax deductible goodwill $ 14,63 $ 5,64¢

CONTROLS

2013 Acquisitions

Arens Controls

On October 4, 2013, the Corporation acquired 100%e membership interests of Arens Controls, L(A€ens) for $95.6 millionin cash, ne
of purchase price adjustments and cash acquirezlPlichase Agreement contains customary repreigrstaind warranties, including a
portion of the purchase price deposited into esaswecurity for potential indemnification claingaanst the seller. Management funded the
purchase from the Corporation’s revolving creddilfty.

Arens is a designer and manufacturer of higilgineered, precision operator interface contnatsower management systems for comme
and off-road industrial vehicles. The acquired bass operates within the Avionics & Industrial digh of the Controls segment.

Arens has approximately 120 employees and is heatiqad in Arlington Heights, lllinois. Revenuestiogé acquired business were
approximately $57 million for the year ended 2012.



Parvus

On October 1, 2013, the Corporation acquired 100%e share capital of Parvus Corporation (Parfars)$37.1 million in cash, net of cash
acquired. The Stock Purchase Agreement contairieroasy representations and warranties, includipgréion of the purchase price deposited
into escrow as security for potential indemnifioaticlaims against the seller. Management fundeguhehase from the Corporation’s
revolving credit facility.
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Parvus is a designer and manufacturer of rugged foma factor computers and communications sulsystfor the aerospace, defense,
homeland security, and industrial markets. The medlbusiness operates within the Defense Solutidrision of the Controls segment.

Parvus has approximately 50 employees and is hea#ged in Salt Lake City, Utah. Revenues of thguaed business were approximately
$20 million for the year ended 2012.

The purchase price of the acquisitions has beeoatkd to the net tangible and intangible assefgiaax] with the remainder recorded as
goodwill on the basis of estimated fair valuesfaiisws:

(In thousands) Parvus Arens Total
Accounts receivable $ 3,63¢ $ 9,441 $ 13,08(
Inventory 5,122 5,34¢ 10,47:
Property, plant, and equipment 43t 4,78 5,22
Other current assets 104 97z 1,07¢
Intangible assets 15,00( 43,10( 58,10(
Current and non-current liabilities (3,859 (7,997 (11,84Y
Deferred income taxes (5,519 — (5,51¢)
Due to seller (484) — (489
Net tangible and intangible assets 14,44¢ 55,65¢ 70,10z
Purchase price 37,05¢ 95,61: 132,67:
Goodwill $ 22,61F $ 39,95¢ $ 62,56¢
Tax deductible goodwiill $ — % 39,95/

2012 Acquisitions

Exlar Corporation

On December 28, 2012 , the Corporation acquirethalbutstanding shares of Exlar Corporation fat.$8nillion , net of cash acquired. The
Stock Purchase Agreement contains a purchasegijustment mechanism and representations and wias@ustomary for a transaction of
this type, including a portion of the purchase @uieposited into escrow as security for potentidémnification claims against the seller.
Management funded the purchase from the Corporatiemolving credit facility.

Exlar is a provider of motion control solutionsesgfically electric actuators, to industigading customers in a variety of end markets iiolg
factory automation, food process/packaging andggngrocess, and military applications. Exlar empl@$3 people and is headquartered in
Chanhassen, Minnesota, with a sales and servime oféar Frankfurt, Germany. Revenues of the aedusiness were approximately $40.0
million in 2011. The business will operate withiretintegrated Sensing division of the Controls semgm

PG Drives Technology

On November 1, 2012 , the Corporation acquirechtteassets of PG Drives Technology, a businesstiSipirent plc, for $63.2 million in
cash. The Asset Purchase Agreement contains custeamesentations and warranties. Management thtigepurchase from the
Corporation’s revolving credit facility and availalzash on hand in foreign locations.

PG Drives Technology is a designer and manufactfrlighly engineered controllers and drives used wide variety of advanced electric-
powered industrial and medical vehicles. PG Drivas 186 employees and operates principally fromséggd and manufacturing site in
Christchurch, UK, with additional sales and techhgupport offices in the U.S., Taiwan, China, Hé&tang, South Korea, and Australia.
Revenues of the acquired business were approxiyr®®8.0 million in 2011. The business operatesiwithe Avionics and Industrial division
of the Controls segment.



Williams Controls

On October 31, 2012 , the Corporation enteredandefinitive merger agreement to acquire Willianm€ols in a cash tender offer of $15.42
per share. Total cash consideration for the sharelsiding the value of restricted stock and stopkions, was approximately $109.1 million ,

net of cash acquired of $10.2 million . The Corpioraalso assumed $13.8 million in bank debt. Ma&magnt funded the purchase from the
Corporation’s revolving credit facility.
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Williams Controls is a designer and manufacturenighly engineered electronic sensors and eleatrthmottle controls for offoad equipmen
heavy trucks, and military vehicles. Williams emyd®94 people and operates principally from theadguarters in Portland, Oregon, with
additional production facilities in China and IndiRevenues of the acquired business were approxiyrsb4.4 million for their last fiscal year
ending September 30, 2012. The business operatigis Wie Avionics and Industrial division of the @ols segment.

The purchase price of the acquisitions has beenai#d to the net tangible and intangible assejsiied with the remainder recorded as
goodwill on the basis of estimated fair valuesfadisws:

Williams

(In thousands) PG Drives Controls Exlar Total
Accounts receivable $ 7,59¢ $ 10,38: $ 585: $ 23,83:
Inventory 10,54: 10,43¢ 8,03¢ 29,01«
Property, plant, and equipment 1,58¢ 16,137 4,90z 22,62¢
Other current assets 22C 4,51¢ 1,68¢ 6,42:
Intangible assets 25,20( 44,00( 36,40( 105,60(
Current and non-current liabilities (4,739 (11,13) (6,067) (21,93)
Pension and postretirement benefits — (8,149 — (8,149
Deferred income taxes (244) (14,820 (14,849 (29,919
Debt assumed — (13,819 — (13,819
Net tangible and intangible assets 40,16: 37,55¢ 35,96 113,68t
Purchase price 63,21¢ 109,07 84,70¢ 257,96.
Goodwill $ 23,05¢ $ 7151¢ $ 48,74, % 144,27
Tax deductible goodwiill $ 23,05¢ $ — 3 —

2011 Acquisitions

South Bend Controls

On October 11, 2011 , the Corporation acquiredaisets of South Bend Controls (SBC) for $11.2 amlin cash, including a purchase price
adjustment of $0.3 million . The Asset Purchaseeg&grent contains customary representations andnti@saincluding a portion of the
purchase price deposited into escrow as securitpdtential indemnification claims against the selManagement funded the purchase
primarily from the Corporation’s revolving credédility and available cash on hand.

SBC is a designer and manufacturer of highly eragie, solenoid-based components used in critiqaicgtions serving the aerospace,
defense, industrial, and medical markets. Bas&birth Bend, Indiana, SBC has 63 employees, witbrurépresentation for 38embers of th
workforce. Revenues of the acquired business wggsaimately $8.0 million in 2010. The businessmapes within the Integrated Sensing
division of the Controls segment.

ACRA Control Ltd.

On July 28, 2011 , the Corporation acquired athefissued and outstanding capital stock of ACRAt@0 Ltd. (ACRA) for €42.6 million
(approximately $61.1 million ) in cash, net of caslyuired. The Share Purchase Agreement contastgroary representations and warranties
including a portion of the purchase price depositéa escrow as security for potential indemnificatclaims against the seller. Management
funded the purchase primarily from the Corporasa@volving credit facility and cash generated friomeign operations.

ACRA is a supplier of data acquisition systems aetivorks, data recorders, and telemetry grounatafor both defense and commercial
aerospace markets and operates within the IntehBeasing division of the Controls segment. ACRA ha8 employees on the date of
acquisition and operates from a leased facilitimblin, Ireland. ACRA had revenues of approximat@®d.5 million ( $26.2 million ) for its
fiscal year ended March 31, 2011.
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Predator Systems, Inc.

On January 7, 2011 , the Corporation acquirechalissued and outstanding capital stock of Predatstems, Inc. (PSI) for $13.5 million in
cash. The Stock Purchase Agreement contains custaamaesentations and warranties, including aigof the purchase price deposited intc
escrow as security for potential indemnificatioaicis against the seller. Management funded thehpsecfrom the Corporation’s revolving
credit facility.

PSI designs and manufactures motion control commsrand subsystems for ground defense, ordnandamge, and aerospace applications
and operates within the Flight Systems divisiothef Controls segment. PSI had 45 employees ag afate of the acquisition and is
headquartered in Boca Raton, FL. Revenues of their@tl business were approximately $8.0 milliontfar year ended December 31, 2010.

The purchase price of the acquisitions has beeoatkd to the net tangible and intangible assefgix] with the remainder recorded as
goodwill on the basis of estimated fair valuesfaiisws:

(In thousands) South Bend ACRA PSI Total
Accounts receivable $ 1,63t $ 8,901 $ 86z $ 11,39¢
Inventory 2,99( 6,53¢ 1,85¢ 11,38¢
Property, plant, and equipment 727 1,60(C 2,10( 4,42
Other current assets 32 45¢€ 67 55¢
Intangible assets 3,50( 17,05¢ 4,70( 25,25¢
Current and non-current liabilities (64¢) (6,04¢) (190 (6,886
Deferred income taxes — (2,309) — (2,309)
Net tangible and intangible assets 8,23¢ 26,19¢ 9,39t 43,83(
Purchase price 11,17¢ 61,05: 13,50: 85,73:
Goodwill $ 2,93¢ $ 34,85¢ % 4,10¢ $ 41,90:
Tax deductible goodwill $ 293¢ $ — % 4,10¢

SURFACE TECHNOLOGIES

2012 Acquisitions

F.W. Gartner Thermal Spraying, Ltd.

On December 31, 2012 , the Corporation acquire@s$sets of F.W. Gartner Thermal Spraying, Ltd. (G}, for approximately $35.5 million
in cash. The Asset Purchase Agreement containscagse price adjustment mechanism and represergatial warranties customary for a
transaction of this type, including a portion o fhurchase price deposited into escrow as sedarigotential indemnification claims against
the seller. Management funded the purchase frontthporation’s revolving credit facility.

Gartner is a provider of thermal spray coatingslferoil and gas, petrochemical, power generatiad,other industrial markets in the U.S.
Gartner operates out of two leased facilities amtfouston, TX area and employs 115 people. Reverfubs acquired business were
approximately $19 million for the year ended Decemil, 2011.

The purchase price of the acquisitions has beeoatkd to the net tangible and intangible assefgixl with the remainder recorded as
goodwill on the basis of estimated fair valuesfaiisws:
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(In thousands) Gartner

Accounts receivable $ 5,411
Inventory 1,59¢
Property, plant, and equipment 6,70t
Intangible assets 9,40(
Current and non-current liabilities (56)
Due to seller —
Net tangible and intangible assets 23,05¢
Purchase price 35,497
Goodwill $ 12,43¢
Tax deductible goodwiill $ 12,43t
2011 Acquisitions

IMR Test Labs

On July 22, 2011 , the Corporation acquired thetassf IMR Test Labs (IMR), for approximately $2@n@lion in cash. The Corporation paid
$18.0 million at closing, with a portion of the phase price retained as security for potentialnmuécation claims. The purchase price
retention of $2.0 million was paid to the seller2D13. Management funded the purchase primanin fihe Corporation’s revolving credit
facility and available cash on hand.

The agreement also provides for contingent conaiiber based on achievement of certain sales taf§ased on the estimated amount of sale:
over the two -year measurement period, the Corjpora¢corded a liability of the estimated fair valof the contingent consideration in the
amount of $1.6 million . In 2012, $0.6 million wpaid to the sellers related to 2011 performanc@0l8B, a final payment of $1.0 million was
paid related to 2012 performance. Additional pusehgrice of $0.2 million was also recorded relatethe agreement’s purchase price
adjustment mechanism, resulting in final cash aersition paid of $21.8 million .

IMR is a provider of mechanical and metallurgiesting services for the aerospace, power generatimhgeneral industrial markets. Revel
of the acquired business were approximately $14llomfor the year ended December 31, 2010.

Surface Technologies Division of BASF Corporation

On April 8, 2011 , the Corporation acquired certssets of BASF Corporation’s Surface Technolo@@#sSF) business for $20.5 million in
cash. The Asset Purchase Agreement contains custeapaesentations and warranties and provided faurchase price adjustment based on
the value of inventory at closing. The purchasegédjustment is reflected in the disclosed pureipise. Management funded the purchase
from the Corporation’s revolving credit facility.

BASF's Surface Technologies business is a supgpfiaretallic and ceramic thermal spray coatings priim for the aerospace and power
generation markets and expands the coatings céjgshilithin the Surface Technologies segment. Biginess has approximately 150
employees at three operating facilities locateBast Windsor, CT, Wilmington, MA, and Duncan, S@vBnues of the acquired business wer:
approximately $29.0 million for the year ended Daber 31, 2010.

The purchase price of the acquisitions has beenai#d to the net tangible and intangible assejsiied with the remainder recorded as
goodwill on the basis of estimated fair valuesfadisws:
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(In thousands) BASF IMR Total
Accounts receivable $ — $ 2,05C $ 2,05(
Inventory 1,51« — 1,51«
Property, plant, and equipment 12,77« 3,12¢ 15,89¢
Other current assets — 13¢ 13¢
Intangible assets 3,00( 3,83( 6,83(
Current liabilities (269 (50%) (768)
Net tangible and intangible assets 17,02t 8,63: 25,65¢
Purchase price 20,50: 21,80: 42,30:
Goodwill $ 347¢ $ 13,16¢ $ 16,64«
Tax deductible goodwill $ 347¢ $ 13,16¢
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4. RECEIVABLES

Receivables include current notes, amounts bitbezlistomers, claims, other receivables, and uchi@enue on long-term contracts,
consisting of amounts recognized as sales butithed bSubstantially all amounts of unbilled recailes are expected to be billed and collecte
in the subsequent year. An immaterial amount ofll@tbreceivables are subject to retainage prowsid he amount of claims and unapprovec
change orders within our receivables balancesnameaterial.

Credit risk is diversified due to the large numbgentities comprising the Corporation’s customasdand their geographic dispersion. The
Corporation is either a prime contractor or subi@uibr to various agencies of the U.S. GovernniRetenues derived directly and indirectly
from government sources (primarily the U.S. Goveenthwere 30% and 37% of consolidated revenue®1i3 2nd 2012 , respectively. Total
receivables due primarily from the U.S Governmeeten$205.1 million and $201.6 million at Decembgr 2013 and 2012 , respectively.
Government (primarily the U.S. Government) unbiliedeivables, net of progress payments, were $82lion and $87.6 million at
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The composition of receivables is as follows aBetember 31:

(In thousands) 2013 2012

Billed receivables:

Trade and other receivables $ 44484: $ 402,89:
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts (6,857) (7,019

Net billed receivables 437,98: 395,87¢

Unbilled receivables:

Recoverable costs and estimated earnings not billed 184,12( 207,67¢
Less: Progress payments applied (18,517 (25,249

Net unbilled receivables 165,60t 182,43!

Receivables, net $ 60359. $ 578,31

The net receivable balance at December 31, 2013uded $32.0 million related to the Corporatiod®l3 acquisitions.
5. INVENTORIES

Inventoried costs contain amounts relating to lterga contracts and programs with long productioties;, a portion of which will not be
realized within one year. Long term contract ineeptincludes an immaterial amount of claims or oimilar items subject to uncertainty
concerning their determination or realization. Imeies are valued at the lower of cost or markkeé composition of inventories as of
December 31 is as follows:

(In thousands) 2013 2012
Raw material $ 231,21¢ $ 224,61
Work-in-process 114,37. 92,76
Finished goods and component parts 117,44« 107,17:
Inventoried costs related to U.S. Government ahdrdbng-term contracts 58,79¢ 38,00(
Gross inventories 521,83: 462,54
Less: Inventory reserves (54,400 (50,339
Progress payments applied, principally relate@itgiterm contracts (15,349 (14,747
Inventories, net $ 452,08 $ 397,47

The net inventory balance at December 31, 2018idlezl $26.4 million related to the Corporation’s 2@tquisitions.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012 , inventory aistudes capitalized contract development cost8a@f2$million and $23.8 million ,
respectively, related to certain aerospace anchdefprograms. These capitalized costs will bediaigid as production units are delivered tc
customer. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012 , $18l®n and $5.4 million , respectively, are schidlito be liquidated under existing firm



orders.

71




6. PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT

The composition of property, plant, and equipmergs follows as of December 31:

(In thousands) 2013 2012

Land $ 2425( $ 23,250
Buildings and improvements 218,55: 205,30¢
Machinery, equipment, and other 800,57: 725,55¢
Property, plant, and equipment, at cost 1,043,37. 954,11¢
Less: Accumulated depreciation (527,65¢) (464,52)
Property, plant, and equipment, net $ 515,71t $ 489,59

Depreciation expense for the years ended Decenih@033 , 2012 , and 2011 was $71.6 million , $62il8on , and $59.5 million ,
respectively.

The net property, plant, and equipment balancesgebber 31, 2013 , included $17.7 million relatethe Corporation’s 2013 acquisitions.

7. GOODWILL

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwillZ843 and 2012 are as follows:

Surface
(In thousands) Flow Control Controls Technologies Consolidated
December 31, 2011 $ 328,21¢ $ 385,78: $ 45,43¢ $ 759,44
Acquisitions 88,97! 146,97: 11,91 247,86
Divestitures — — (3,649 (3,649
Goodwill adjustments (707) 42¢ — (27¢)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 1,697 8,03¢ 187 9,92:
December 31, 2012 $ 418,18: $ 541,22t $ 53,89( $ 1,013,30
Acquisitions $ 41,46¢ $ 62,56¢ $ — $ 104,03
Goodwill adjustments 42¢ (3,689 52t (2,735
Foreign currency translation adjustment (1,459 (2,72 13 (4,170
December 31, 2013 $ 458,62: $ 597,37¢ $ 54,42¢ $ 1,110,42

The purchase price allocations relating to thermssies acquired are initially based on estimates Corporation adjusts these estimates base
upon final analysis including input from third pagppraisals, when deemed appropriate. The detatiminof fair value is finalized no later
than twelve months from acquisition. Goodwill adjnents represent subsequent adjustments to thegsagrice allocation for acquisitions as
determined by the respective accounting guidangpeirements based on the date of acquisition.

During 2013 , the Corporation finalized the allécatof the purchase price for all businesses aedquirior to 2013 The adjustments to t
Corporation's purchase price allocation were ndensdl.

The Corporation completed its annual goodwill inngeant testing as of October 31, 2013, 2012 , &d Znd concluded that there was no
impairment of value. The estimated fair value & thporting units also substantially exceedede¢lended book value, with the exception of
the oil and gas reporting unit, in the Flow Consegment. Based on the annual impairment tesCdngoration determined that the oil and ga:
reporting unit’s estimated fair value was not sabsally in excess of its carrying amount.
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8. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

Intangible assets are generally the result of aifipris and consist primarily of purchased techggl@ustomer related intangibles, and
trademarks. Intangible assets are amortized owdulis/es that generally range between 1 and 20s/e

The following table summarizes the intangible assetjuired (including their weighted-average uskfaek) by the Corporation during 2013
and 2012 . No indefinite lived intangible assetsenscquired in 2013 or 2012 .

(In thousands, except years data) 2013 2012

Amount Years Amount Years
Technology $ 21,10: 135 $ 46,83. 13.9
Customer related intangibles 73,14¢ 16.9 122,04 15.6
Other intangible assets 8,50¢ 3.3 16,64: 8.1
Total $ 102,75: 151 $ 185,52( 14.6

The following tables present the cumulative compmsiof the Corporation’s intangible assets as e€&mber 31:

(In thousands)

Accumulated

2013 Gross Amortization Net

Technology $ 213,88( $ (88,6449 $ 125,24«
Customer related intangibles 430,60« (127,199 303,41(
Other intangible assets 66,43¢ (23,71) 42,72¢
Total $ 710,92¢ $ (239,549 % 471,37¢

(In thousands)

Accumulated

2012 Gross Amortization Net

Technology $ 186,86¢ $ (76,067 $ 110,80:
Customer related intangibles 337,55¢ (95,88() 241,67¢
Other intangible assets 86,15’ (29,616 66,54
Total $ 610,58 $ (191,56) $ 419,02:

Amortization expense for the years ended Decembe?2®13 , 2012 , and 2011 was $49.9 million , $3iillion , and $28.8 million ,
respectively. The estimated future amortizationezge of intangible assets is as follows:

(In thousands)

2014 $ 46,83:
2015 43,74¢
2016 42,79:
2017 42,17:
2018 40,58¢
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9. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Forward Foreign Exchange and Currency Option Conts:

The Corporation has foreign currency exposure milyna the United Kingdom, Europe, and Canada.e Torporation uses financial
instruments, such as forward and option contréstsedge a portion of existing and anticipateditpreurrency denominated transactions.
purpose of the Corporation’s foreign currency nisknagement program is to reduce volatility in esgaicaused by exchange rate
fluctuations. Guidance on accounting for derivativstruments and hedging activities requires camgsao recognize all of the derivative
financial instruments as either assets or liab#itht fair value in the Consolidated Balance Sheets

Interest Rate Risks and Related Strate

The Corporation’s primary interest rate exposusgelits from changes in U.S. dollar interest ratd& Torporatiors policy is to manage inter
cost using a mix of fixed and variable rate delbie Torporation periodically uses interest rate sstapnanage such exposures. Under these
interest rate swaps, the Corporation exchangepeatfied intervals, the difference between fixad #oating interest amounts calculated by
reference to an agreed-upon notional principal arhou

For interest rate swaps designated as fair valdgdse(i.e., hedges against the exposure to chamtjes fair value of an asset or a liability ol
identified portion thereof that is attributableaarticular risk), changes in the fair value @& thiterest rate swaps offset changes in the fair
value of the fixed rate debt due to changes in gtariterest rates.

In March 2013, the Corporation entered into fixeeflbating interest rate swap agreements to contbertinterest payments of (i) ti$10(
million , 3.85% notes, due February 26, 2025 , fenfixed rate to a floating interest rate based-dhonth LIBOR plus a 1.77%pread, and (i
the $75 million , 4.05% notes, due February 26.802om a fixed rate to a floating interest ragséd on 1-Month LIBOR plus a 1.73%6reac

In January 2012, the Corporation entered into fitk@€loating interest rate swap agreements to cdrthie interest payments of (i) the $200
million , 4.24% notes, due December 1, 2026 , feofixed rate to a floating interest rate based-&ahth LIBOR plus a 2.02%pread, and (i
$25 million of the $100 million , 3.84% notes, ddecember 1, 2021 , from a fixed rate to a floatitgrest rate based on 1-Month LIBQ@Ris
a 1.90% spread.

The notional amounts of the Corporation’s outstagdinterest rate swaps designated as fair valugdsedere $400 million and $225 milliat
December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012.

The fair value accounting guidance requires the¢tasand liabilities carried at fair value be dféss and disclosed in one of the following th
categories:

Level 1: Quoted market prices in active marketsdentical assets or liabilities that the compaagy the ability to access.

Level 2: Observable market based inputs or unobsésinputs that are corroborated by market dath as quoted prices, interest rates, and
yield curves

Level 3: Inputs are unobservable data points tteahat corroborated by market data.

Based upon the fair value hierarchy, all of theviand foreign exchange contracts and interest vas@s are valued at a Level 2.

Effects on Consolidated Balance She

The location and amounts of derivative instrumairt\alues in the consolidated balance sheet dosvbe
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December 31,

(In thousands) 2013 2012
Assets
Designated for hedge accounting
Interest rate swaps $ — 3 677
Undesignated for hedge accounting
Forward exchange contracts $ 605 $ 25C
Total asset derivatives (A) $ 60 $ 927
Liabilities
Designated for hedge accounting
Interest rate swaps $ 49,84t % 1,41¢
Undesignated for hedge accounting
Forward exchange contracts $ 277 % 17¢
Total liability derivatives (B) $ 50,12: $ 1,58¢

(A) Forward exchange derivatives are included iheDturrent assets and interest rate swap assetscarded in Other assets.

(B) Forward exchange derivatives are included ineDturrent liabilities and interest rate swapilibs are included in Other liabilities.

Effects on Consolidated Statements of Earn

Fair value hedge

The location and amount of gains or losses on Hugéd fixed rate debt attributable to changes énntlarket interest rates and the offse
gain (loss) on the related interest rate swapghfoyears ended December 31, were as follows:

Gain/(Loss) on Swap Gain/(Loss) on Borrowings
December 31,
(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011
Income statement classification:
Other income (loss), net $ (49,84Y) $ (742) $ — $ 4984 $ 74z $ —

Undesignated hedges

The location and amount of gains and (losses) mzed in income on forward exchange derivative @mts not designated for het
accounting for the years ended December 31, wefalaws:

December 31,

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011
Forward exchange contracts:

General and administrative expenses $ (6,19¢) $ 88: $ (654)
Debt

The estimated fair value amounts were determinettiéyCorporation using available market informatiwhich is primarily based on quoted
market prices for the same or similar issues da3ezember 31, 2013 . The fair value of our debtrimsents are characterized as a Level 2
measurement in accordance with the fair value fibya The estimated fair values of the CorporatidiXed rate debt instruments at Decembe
31, 2013, aggregated $887 million compared torgyicey value of $900 million . The estimated faalwes of the Corporation’s fixed rate debt



instruments at December 31, 2012 , aggregated §886n compared to a carrying value of $574 miflio

The carrying amount of the variable interest rabtépproximates fair value because the interéss$ mxe reset periodically to reflect current
market conditions.
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The fair values described above may not be indieaif net realizable value or reflective of futtaé@ values. Furthermore, the use of different
methodologies to determine the fair value of carfanancial instruments could result in a differestimate of fair value at the reporting date.

Nonrecurring measuremer

In connection with our 2012 restructuring initiajwthe Corporation formally announced a plan tseegerations at a certain facility within
our Surface Technologies segment during the fagutirter of 2012. This decision resulted in a reidaodf the useful life of the asset group at
the facility. In accordance with the provisiongloé Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assetsdguice of FASB Codification Subtopic
360-10, long-lived assets held and used with gicaramount of $4.8 million were written down teethfair value of zero, resulting in an
impairment charge of $4.8 million , which was irsdd in General and administrative expenses duniedvwelve month period ended
December 31, 2012. The fair value of the impairnedisirge was determined using the income approashtbe reduced useful life of the asset
group. In accordance with the fair value hierarchg,impairment charge is classified as a LevekEasaurement as it is based on significant
other observable inputs.

10. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accrued expenses consist of the following as ofddemer 31:

(In thousands) 2013 2012

Accrued compensation $ 88,10¢ $ 73,64
Accrued commissions 12,83 11,34«
Accrued interest 9,73( 4,99¢
Accrued taxes other than income taxes 4,62¢ 3,10¢
Accrued insurance 4,88t 6,06:
Other 22,75z 31,91t
Total accrued expenses $ 142,93¢ $ 131,06

Other current liabilities consist of the followiag of December 31.:

(In thousands) 2013 2012

Warranty reserves $ 1591 $ 18,16¢
Litigation reserves 984 2,001
Additional amounts due to sellers on acquisitions 5,25( 8,27¢
Reserves on loss contracts 4,067 3,152
Deferred tax liability 3,17¢ 1,75¢
Pension and other postretirement liabilities 4,28( 4,16¢
Environmental reserves 804 1,49:
Other 3,771 4,201
Total other current liabilities $ 38,25. $ 43,21+

The accrued expenses and other current liabiliti€ecember 31, 2013 included $5.1 million and $dillon , respectively, related to the
Corporation’s 2013 acquisitions.

The Corporation provides its customers with waiggnbn certain commercial and governmental prodstBmated warranty costs are char
to expense in the period the related revenue tgrézed based on the terms of the product warrdéimgyrelated estimated costs, and
quantitative historical claims experience. Thesaneges are adjusted in the period in which acatesililts are finalized or additional informat
is obtained. The following table presents the clearig the Corporation’s warranty reserves:
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(In thousands) 2013 2012

Warranty reserves at January 1, $ 18,16¢ $ 16,07¢
Provision for current year sales 8,56¢ 8,43
Current year claims (7,749 (4,649
Change in estimates to pre-existing warranties (3,109 (3,169
Increase due to acquisitions 10z 1,74:%
Foreign currency translation adjustment (68) (270
Warranty reserves at December 31, $ 1591 $ 18,16¢

11. RESTRUCTURING ACTIVITIES
The Corporation did not have any material restmirctuinitiatives in 2013.

2012 Restructuring Initiative

The Corporation focuses on being the low-cost glewof its products by reducing operating costsiamlementing lean manufacturing
initiatives, which have in part led to the involant termination of certain positions and the coidstion of facilities and product lines.

During the year ended 2012, the Corporation reabrdstructuring costs by segment as follows:

Surface
(In thousands) Flow Control Controls Technologies  Consolidated
Cost of sales $ 1,377 % 2,351 $ 7,05C $ 10,77¢
Selling expenses 43( — — 43(
General and administrative 1,88: 1,07t 5,03¢ 7,99:
Total $ 3,69C $ 3,42¢ % 12,08 % 19,20:

During 2012, the Corporation committed to a planestructure existing operations through a redadtiovorkforce and consolidation of

operating locations. The plan impacted all threthefCorporation’s reportable segments and resitdtedsts incurred of $19 million . In the
Flow Control and Controls segments, restructuriogt< of $4 million and $3 million , respectivelyere primarily for severance and benefit
costs associated with headcount reductions. IiStiieace Technologies segment, restructuring cdsk3 million were primarily for severance

and benefits costs and $5 million of non-cash closta fixed asset write-down due to the ceaseofis@ operating facility.

The Corporation has completed its restructuriniygiets under the 2012 restructuring plan.

During the year ended 2011, the Corporation, ifriesv Control segment, incurred $0.2 million of seance and benefit costs related to

headcount reductions within General and administaxpenses.

The following table summarizes the cash componefitise Corporation’s restructuring plans. Accruestructuring costs are included in Other

current liabilities in the accompanying balanceeshe
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Severance and  Abandonment

(In thousands) Benefits of facility costs Total

December 31, 2011 $ — 3 — % —

Provisions 7,32¢ 6,88 14,21

Payments (6,30€) (781) (7,08%)

Adjustments — — —

December 31, 2012 $ 1,02 $ 6,10¢ $ 7,12¢

Provisions — — —

Payments (774) (5,519 (6,297)

Adjustments $ (24¢) $ (587 $ (833)

December 31, 2013 $ —  $ — % —

12. INCOME TAXES

Earnings before income taxes for the years endegbker 31 consist of:

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011
Domestic $ 97,65:! $ 54,94: $ 94,80¢
Foreign 100,30( 80,42: 72,07"

$ 197,95. $ 135,36: $ 166,88:

The provision for income taxes for the years eridedember 31 consists of:

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Current:

Federal $ 25,73: $ 18,82 $ 19,771
State 6,23( 5,08¢ 5,51¢
Foreign 22,08: 23,03 19,63

54,04+ 46,94 44,92:

Deferred:

Federal 7,98 75€ 6,84(
State 644 (1,122) (697)
Foreign (802) (5,172) (3,235

7,82¢ (5,53€) 2,90¢

Valuation allowance (1,896 1,66t 432

Provision for income taxes $ 59,97: $ 43,07: $ 48,26:




The effective tax rate varies from the U.S. fedstatutory tax rate for the years ended Decembgpr@icipally:

2013 2012 2011

U.S. federal statutory tax rate 35.C% 35.C% 35.C%
Add (deduct):

State and local taxes, net of federal benefit 1.c 1.€ 2.1
Rate changes (0.2 (0.2 0.3
R&D tax credits (1.6 (1.0 (4.7)
Foreign earning® 4.0 4.9 (3.9
All other, net (0.9 0.7 —
Effective tax rate 30.2% 31.e% 28.€%

(1) - Foreign earnings primarily include the nepamt of differences between local statutory ratesthe U.S. Federal statutory rate, the cost c
repatriating foreign earnings, and the impact @frges to foreign valuation allowances.

The components of the Corporation’s deferred taetasand liabilities at December 31 are as follows:

(In thousands) 2013 2012
Deferred tax assets:
Environmental reserves $ 9,91: $ 10,08¢
Inventories 20,19 20,05:
Postretirement/postemployment benefits 12,64: 13,99:
Incentive compensation 6,72 10,29¢
Accrued vacation pay 5,74¢ 5,37:
Warranty reserves 5,07 4,77¢
Share-based payments 7,71¢ 9,44:
Pension plans 43,68 92,73t
Net operating loss 9,82¢ 10,017
Other 14,79: 17,04:
Total deferred tax assets 136,31° 193,81:
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation 52,24; 50,46¢
Goodwill amortization 65,64+ 53,94¢
Other intangible amortization 81,63« 76,00¢
Other 8,19¢ 4,59¢
Total deferred tax liabilities 207,71t 185,02:
Valuation allowance 6,321 8,531
Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) $ (77,720 $ 26C

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reflectethe Corporation’s consolidated balance sheeeaebber 31 as follows:

(In thousands) 2013 2012

Net current deferred tax assets $ 47,65( $ 50,76(
Net current deferred tax liabilities 3,17¢ 1,75¢
Net noncurrent deferred tax assets 1,44¢ 1,70¢
Net noncurrent deferred tax liabilities 123,64« 50,45(
Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) $ (77,720 $ 26C

79






The Corporation has income tax net operating l@ssyforwards related to international operationsaapproximately $24.8 milliorof which
$14.5 million have an indefinite life and $10.3 linih expire through 2022The Corporation has federal and state incoma¢toperating lo
carryforwards of approximately $27.1 million whiekpire through 2033 . The Corporation has recoeferred tax asset 68.8 millior
reflecting the benefit of the loss carryforwards.

Management assesses the available positive antiveegaidence to estimate if sufficient future tabaincome will be generated to utilize the
existing deferred tax assets. A significant pietceljective negative evidence evaluated was theutatine loss incurred over the three-year
period ended December 31, 2013 in certain of th@ation’s foreign locations. Such objective evide limits the ability to consider other
subjective evidence such as projections for futpmosvth. The Corporation decreased its valuatioovaihce by $1.9 million , to $6.3 million ,
as of December 31, 2013, in order to measure belypobrtion of the deferred tax asset that morayikean not will be realized. The amount of
the deferred tax asset considered realizable, herveauld be adjusted if estimates of future tagd@htome during the carryforward period are
reduced or if objective negative evidence in thenfof cumulative losses is no longer present aritiadal weight may be given to subjective
evidence such as projections for growth.

Income tax payments of $69.4 million were made(h®, $42.7 million in 2012 , and $47.6 million2011 .

The amount of undistributed foreign subsidiariesiggs considered to be permanently reinvesteavfach no provision has been made for
U.S. federal or foreign taxes at December 31, 2048 $297.1 million . It is not practicable to estimthe amount of tax that would be payable
if these amounts were repatriated to the UniteteStdnowever, foreign tax credits may partialitisef any tax liability.

The Corporation has recognized a liability in Otlbilities for interest of $1.6 million and petiak of $1.1 million as of December 31, 2013.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amoeininrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Balance at January 1, $ 11,30: $ 576¢ $ 4,49(
Additions for tax positions of prior periods 1,511 4,591 91t
Additions for tax positions related to the currgaar 1,76¢ 1,01¢ 584
Settlements (3,869 (53 (66)
Lapses of statute of limitations (140 (28) (101)
Foreign currency translation 51 3 2
Balance at December 31, $ 10,62 $ 11,30 $ 5,76¢

In many cases the Corporation’s uncertain tax postare related to tax years that remain subfeekédmination by tax authorities.

The following describes the open tax years, by mi@w jurisdiction, as of December 31, 2013:

United States (Federal) 2008 - present
United States (Various states) 1998 - present
United Kingdom 2006 - present
Canada 2007 - present

The Corporation does not expect any significannglea to the estimated amount of liability assodiatéh its uncertain tax positions through
the next twelve months. Included in the total unggized tax benefits at December 31, 2013, 20122841 is $7.6 million , $9.0 millionand
$4.0 million , respectively, which, if recognizedould favorably affect the effective income taxerat

80




13. DEBT

Debt consists of the following as of December 31.:

(In thousands) 2013 2013 2012 2012
Estimated Fair Estimated Fair
Carrying Value Value Carrying Value Value
Industrial revenue bond, due 2023 $ 8,40 $ 8,40 $ 8,40( $ 8,40(
Revolving credit agreement, due 2017 50,00( 50,00( 286,80( 286,80(
5.74% Senior notes due 2013 — — 125,01: 128,19¢
5.51% Senior notes due 2017 150,00( 163,05¢ 150,00( 168,49:
3.84% Senior notes due 2021 98,63: 98,63: 100,67 100,67
3.70% Senior notes due 2023 225,00( 209,14( — —
3.85% Senior notes due 2025 88,55¢ 88,55 — —
4.24% Senior notes due 2026 173,55 173,55 198,58: 198,58:
4.05% Senior notes due 2028 64,41 64,41: — —
4.11% Senior notes due 2028 100,00( 89,25: — —
Other debt 1,38: 1,38¢ 10,74¢ 10,74¢
Total debt 959,93 946,38¢ 880,21! 901,89:
Less: current portion of long-term debt and shentat debt 1,33¢ 1,33¢ 128,22! 128,22!
Total long-term debt $ 958,60: $ 945,05! $ 751,99 $ 773,66¢

The weighted-average interest rate of the CorpmraiRevolving Credit Agreement was 1.7% and 2.8%013 and 2012 , respectively.

The debt outstanding had fixed and variable intewes averaging 3% during the twelve months emdmbmber 31, 2013 .

Aggregate maturities of debt are as follows:

(In thousands)

2014 $ 1,33¢
2015 33
2016 16
2017 200,00(
2018 —
Thereafter 758,55!
Total $ 959,93t

Interest payments of $31 million , $24 million da®l7 million were made in 2013, 2012 , and 20fEkpectively.
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On February 26, 2013 , the Corporation issued $dillbn of Senior Notes (the "2013 Notes"). Thel2(Notes consist of $225 million of
3.70% Senior Notes that mature on February 26, 26280 million of 3.85% Senior Notes that matuneF@bruary 26, 2025 , and $75 million
of 4.05% Senior Notes that mature on February @882 An additional $100 million of 4.11% Seniootds were issued on September 26,
2013 that mature on September 26, 2028 . The 2@i@sNare senior unsecured obligations, equal it agpayment to the Corporation's
existing senior indebtedness. The Corporatiortsaiption, can prepay at any time all or any pathe 2013 Notes, subject to a make-whole
payment in accordance with the terms of the Notelse Agreement. In connection with the issuaftiee 2013 Notes, the Corporation p
customary fees that have been deferred and arg beiortized over the term of the 2013 Notes. Utideterms of the Note Purchase
Agreement, the Corporation is required to maintartain financial ratios, the most restrictive dfigh is a debt to capitalization limit of

60%. The debt to capitalization ratio (as definedtberNotes Purchase Agreement and Credit Agreerisecd)culated using the same form
for all of the Corporation's debt agreements ararizeasure of the Corporation's indebtedness ftatiagtion, where capitalization equals deb
plus equity. The Corporation had the ability torber additional debt of $1.3 billion without violaty our debt to capitalization covenant. The
2013 Notes also contain a cross default provisiith respect to the Corporation’s other senior indebess.

In August 2012 , we amended and refinanced outiegisredit facility by entering into a Third Amesad and Restated Credit Agreement
(Credit Agreement) with a syndicate of financiadtitutions, led by Bank of America N.A., Wells FardN.A, and JP Morgan Chase Bank, N
The proceeds available under the Credit Agreenrentosbe used for working capital, internal growtiiatives, funding of future acquisitions,
and general corporate purposes. Under the tertiedEredit Agreement, we have a borrowing capaxfi§500 million. In addition, the Cred
Agreement provides an accordion feature which alagto borrow an additional $100 million . As cgd@mber 31, 2013 , we had $42 million
in letters of credit supported by the credit fagiiind $50 million of borrowings under the creditifity.

The Credit Agreement contains covenants that weidenusual and customary for an agreement otyhiss for comparable commercial
borrowers, including a maximum consolidated deldapitalization ratio of 60%. The Credit Agreembas customary events of default, such
as non-payment of principal when due; nonpaymenitefest, fees, or other amounts; cross-paymeautieand cross-acceleration.

Borrowings under the credit agreement will accnteriest based on (i) Libor or (ii) a base ratehefhighest of (a) the federal funds rate plus
0.5%, (b) BofA’s announced prime rate, or (c) thed€urrency rate plus 1%, plus a margin. The ister@te and level of facility fees are
dependent on certain financial ratios, as defimettié Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement atsviges customary fees, including
administrative agent and commitment fees. In cotimeevith the Credit Agreement, we paid customaapsaction fees that have been defe
and are being amortized over the term of the Crsgiieement.

On December 8, 2011 , the Corporation issued $3bi@mof Senior Notes (the "2011 Notes"). The 20ddtes consist of $100 million of
3.84% Senior Notes that mature on December 1, 28815200 million of 4.24% Senior Series Notes thature on December 1, 2026 . The
2011 Notes are senior unsecured obligations, equajht of payment to our existing senior indelitesls. The Corporation, at its option, can
prepay at any time all or any part of our 2011 Npseibject to a make-whole payment in accordanttetive terms of the Note Purchase
Agreement. In connection with our 2011 Notes, tlogpOration paid customary fees that have been efend are being amortized over the
term of our 2011 Notes. Under the Note Purchaseément, the Corporation is required to maintaitagefinancial ratios, the most restricti
of which is a debt to capitalization limit of 60% he 2011 Notes also contain a cross default pi@vigith our other senior indebtedness.

On December 1, 2005 , the Corporation issued $liBi@mof 5.51% Senior Notes (the "2005 Notes").€T2005 Notes mature on December 1,
2017 . The Notes are senior unsecured obligatinodsaee equal in right of payment to the Corporasi@xisting senior indebtedness. The
Corporation, at its option, can prepay at any tather any part of the 2005 Notes, subject to aen@kole amount in accordance with the te

of the Note Purchase Agreement. In connection thighNotes, the Corporation paid customary feeshaet been deferred and are being
amortized over the terms of the Notes. The Corpmras required under the Note Purchase Agreeneemiaintain certain financial ratios, the
most restrictive of which is a debt to capitalieatiimit of 60%. The 2005 Notes also contain a smsfault provision with the Corporation’s
other senior indebtedness.

On September 25, 2003 , the Corporation issued 8#ion of Senior Notes (the "2003 Notes"). Thed3MNotes consist of $75 million of
5.13% Senior Notes that matured on September 2%) 80d $125 million of 5.74% Senior Notes that medwn September 25, 2013 . T$kE
million of 5.13% Senior Notes were repaid during third quarter of 2010 by drawing down on our tegn The $125 million of 5.74%enior
Notes were repaid during the third quarter of 2bg3ising the funds from the 2013 Not
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14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Corporation is required to report both basioieas per share (EPS), based on the weighted-g&enamber of Common shares
outstanding, and diluted earnings per share, bais¢lde basic EPS adjusted for all potentially diishares issuable.

As of December 31, 2013, 2012 , and 2011 there 287,000 , 633,000 , and 653,000 stock optionstanuding, respectively, that were
excluded from the computation of diluted earnings ghare as the exercise price of these optiongreaser than their average market value,
which would result in an anti-dilutive effect orluded earnings per share.

Earnings per share calculations for the years ebgmeémber 31, 2013 , 2012 , and 2011 , are asasilo

Earnings from Weighted- Earnings per share

continuing Average Shares  from continuing
(In thousands, except stock options outstanding) operations Outstanding operations
2013
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations $ 137,98: 46,99 $ 2.94
Dilutive effect of stock options and deferred staoknpensation 921
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operetio $ 137,98: 47,91 $ 2.8¢
2012
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations $ 92,28¢ 46,74 $ 1.9¢
Dilutive effect of stock options and deferred staoknpensation 66¢
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operetio $ 92,28¢ 47,41. $ 1.9
2011
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations $ 118,62( 46,37. $ 2.5¢€
Dilutive effect of stock options and deferred stacknpensation 641
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operetio $ 118,62( 47,01 $ 2.52

15. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

The Corporation maintains two share-based compengalans, restricted stock units and performamegesunits, both of which are utilized
only in our executive Long Term Incentive granteewous grants included non-qualified stock opti@&SO) to all participants. Under our
employee benefit program, the Corporation alsoigdes/an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) alsitaimost active employees. Certain
awards provide for accelerated vesting if thet@ éhange in control.

The compensation cost for employee and non-empldyeetor share-based compensation programs dafag , 2012 , and 2011 is as
follows:

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Non-qualified stock options $ 236 % 94z $ 3,06¢
Employee Stock Purchase Plan 1,26( 1,30: 65¢
Performance Share Units 3,49¢ 3,17¢ 2,591
Restricted Share Units 1,70( 3,231 2,771
Other share-based payments 657 767 53t
Total share-based compensation expense before ataas $ 7,35C % 9,42t $ 9,621

Other share-based payments include restricted stwekds to non-employee directors, who are treagesimployees as prescribed by the
accounting guidance on share-based payments. Theeartsation cost recognized follows the cost okthgloyee, which is primarily reflected
as General and administrative expenses in the @dasmd Statements of Earnings. No share-based ensagion costs were capitalized during



2013, 2012, or 2011 .
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2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan

Awards under the 2005 Long Term Incentive Plan (8895 LTI Plan") consist of performance units {@aperformance share units, time-
based restricted share units, and two legacy coemsnrestricted stock units and non-qualifiedlstmmtions. Under the 2005 LTI Plan, an
aggregate total of 5,000,000 shares (as adjustesiisequent stock splits and dividends) of comstock were registered. Issuances of
common stock to satisfy employee option exercisése made from the Corporation’s treasury stdg¢k.more than 200,000 shares of
common stock or 100,000 shares of restricted stwek be awarded in any year to any one participatité 2005 LTI Plan.

The Corporation awarded total performance unitsh(taf $17.1 million , $16.2 million , and $19.3lkon in 2013, 2012, and 2011,
respectively, to certain key employees. The peréorte units are denominated in U.S. dollars, seitlédlS. dollars, and are contingent upon
the Corporation’s satisfaction of performance ofiyes keyed to achieving profitable growth overesipd of three fiscal years commencing
with the fiscal year following such awards. Thdarasted cost of such awards is expensed over tee4year performance period. Performance
unit expense was $16.6 million , $12.6 million d&#8.1 million in 2013 , 2012 , and 2011 , respetyi. The actual cost of the performance
units may vary from the total value of the awardpehding upon the degree to which the key perfoceabjectives are met.

Nor-Qualified Stock Options (NQSO)

The Corporation no longer grants non-qualified lstoptions under the 2005 LTI Plan. Prior to Novem®@l1, the Corporation granted non-
qualified stock options to key employees each ygtuck options granted under the 2005 LTI Planrexign years after the date of the grant
and are generally exercisable (vest) one-thirdypar beginning with 12 months following the dategcdnt, and fully vesting on the third
anniversary of the grant date. The fair value efNQSQO’s was estimated at the date of grant usBigek-Scholes option-pricing model with
the assumptions noted in the following table. Exp@wolatilities are based on historical volatilitfithe Corporation’s stock and other factors.
The Corporation uses historical data to estimateettpected term of options granted. The risk-fede for periods within the contractual life of
the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield eimeffect at the time of grant.

2013 2012 2011
Risk-free rate —% —% 2.45%
Expected volatility —% —% 30.2(%
Expected dividend yield —% —% 0.92%
Expected term (in years) — — 6
Weighted-average grant-date fair value of options $ —  $ — 3 10.57
A summary of employee stock option activity undex 2005 LTI Plan is as follows:
Weighted-
Average
Weighted- Remaining Aggregate
Average Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Term in Value
(000’s) Price Years (000’s)
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 3,03t % 32.71
Granted — —
Exercised (715) 29.0¢
Adjustment 19 19.0¢
Forfeited (16) 35.4:
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 2,321 % 33.6¢ 49 $ 66,22

Exercisable at December 31, 2013 2,321 % 33.6¢ 49 $ 65,96¢




The total intrinsic value of stock options exerdisiiring 2013 , 2012 , and 2011 was $11.4 milli&8.1 million , and $3.9 million ,
respectively. The above table represents the Catipars estimate of options fully vested and/oreoted to vest.
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NQSO grants vest over three years and compengaigiris recognized over the requisite service peioo each separately vesting portior
each award as if each award was, in substanceptawdivards. During 2013 , 2012 , and 2011 , corapgion cost associated with NQSOs wa:
$0.2 million , $0.9 million , and $3.1 million resgtively. As of December 31, 2013 , there was tlega $0.1 million of unrecognized
compensation cost related to non-vested stock mtighich is expected to be recognized during 2014

Cash received from option exercises during 201822 and 2011 was $20.8 million , $6.7 milliomd&h4.2 million , respectively. The total
tax benefit generated from options exercised duedit3 , 2012 , and 2011 , was $2.0 million , $1ilion , and $1.1 million, respectively. Tz
benefits received on exercised options, which wgelgect to expense under U.S. GAAP, have beenteckett deferred taxes up to the amount
of benefit recorded in the income statement, Withdifference charged to additional paid in capiutdiile tax benefits received on exercised
options that were not subject to expense have trglited to additional paid in capital.

Performance Share Uni

Since 2005, the Corporation has granted performahaee units to certain employees under the 2009°1lan, whose vesting is contingent
upon meeting various company-wide, three-year perdnce goals around net income targets, both adaindget and as a percentage of sales
against a peer group. In addition, certain key etiees are awarded performance based share utfiis €orporation's total shareholder return
over the three-year term of the awards comparewdialy to that of a self-constructed peer groupe Mmon-vested shares are subject to
forfeiture if established performance goals aremet or employment is terminated other than dudetth, disability, or retirement. Share pl
are denominated in share-based units based onithradrket value of the Corporation’s Common stookhe date of grant.

A summary of the Corporation’s performance shaitsdar 2013 is as follows:

Weighted-
Average
Remaining Aggregate
Weighted- Contractual Intrinsic
Shares/Units Average Termin Value
(000's) Fair Value Years (000's)
Nonvested at December 31, 2012 87z $ 32.12
Granted 77 62.91
Vested (88) 30.9(
Forfeited (492) 34.5¢
Nonvested at December 31, 2013 36 S 35.5:2 22 % 22,92¢
Expected to vest at December 31, 2013 13¢ % 37.9¢ 22 % 8,63(

The performance share unit's compensation coshtized to expense on a straight-line basis dwethree-year requisite service period. As
forfeiture and performance assumptions change, easgiion cost will be adjusted on a cumulativedmsthe period of the assumption
change.

As of December 31, 2013, there was $7.5 millionmfecognized compensation cost, which is expeotbéeé recognized over a period of 2.2
years related to n-vested performance share units.

Restricted Share Uni

Restricted share units cliff vest at the end ofdtvards’ vesting period. The restricted share wdtgain only a service condition, and thus
compensation cost is amortized to expense on igistiiine basis over the requisite service perishich ranges from 3 to 10.1 years. The non-
vested restricted stock is subject to forfeiturenifployment is terminated other than due to deathisability. The restricted share units are
subject to forfeiture if employment is terminatewlare nontransferable. During 2013, restrictedesbaits associated with one of the
Corporation's former executives who resigned in32@&re forfeited and the related stock compensamense of $1.3 million that was
previously recorded was reversed.
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A summary of the Corporation’s restricted sharasufar 2013 is as follows:

Weighted-
Average
Remaining Aggregate
Weighted- Contractual Intrinsic
Shares/Units Average Term in Value
(000’s) Fair Value Years (000’s)
Nonvested at December 31, 2012 39€ $ 33.5¢
Granted 75 44.7¢
Vested (78) 29.8¢
Forfeited (74) 35.8:
Nonvested at December 31, 2013 31¢ $ 36.5¢ 29 ¢ 19,84:
Expected to vest at December 31, 2013 31¢ ¢ 36.5: 29 $ 19,84.

As of December 31, 2013 , there was $6.6 milliommfecognized compensation cost, which is expectded recognized over a period €
years related to restricted share ur

Employee Stock Purchase PI

The Corporation’s ESPP enables eligible employegaitchase the Corporation’s Common stock at & e share equal to 85% of the fair
market value at the end of each offering perioath&atfering period of the ESPP lasts six monthsymm@ncing on January 1st and July 1st of
each year. Participation in the offering is limitedL0% of an employee’s base salary (not to exe@eounts allowed under Section 423 of the
Internal Revenue Code), participation may be teateid at any time by the employee and automatiealtis on termination of employment
with the Corporation. Effective January 1, 201 % @orporation increased the number of shares am#ftbfor issuance under the ESPP by an
additional 1,200,000 shares, from 2,000,000 toGBXID , and extended the term of the ESPP by aiti@add two years through October 1,
2015. The common stock to satisfy the stock puehasder the ESPP were originally designated afynissued shares of common stock;
however, the Company has reserved the additio@@D]Q00 shares from Treasury. During 2013 , theme\284,900 shares purchased under
the ESPP. As of December 31, 2013 , the Corpora@snwithheld $4.4 million from employees, the eglént of 82,846hares. Compensati
cost is recognized on a straight-line basis overstk-month vesting period during which employeedgm related services. The Corporation
recognized $0.3 million of tax benefit associatethwlisqualifying dispositions during 2013 , allwhich was credited to additional paid in
capital.

2005 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors

The 2005 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors (2&tock Plan"), approved by the stockholders B62@rovided for the grant of stock
awards and, at the option of the non-employee irscthe deferred payment of regular stipulatedmensation and meeting fees in equivalen
shares. Under the 2005 Stock Plan, the Corporatioonemployee directors each receive an annual restrstteek award, which is subject t
three-year restriction period commencing on the dathe grant. For 2013, 2012 , and 2011 , theevaf the award granted was $70,000 per
director, respectively. These restricted stock dware subject to forfeiture if the nemployee director resigns or retires by reasoriobhhe
decision not to stand for re-election prior to kyesing of all restrictions, unless the restrici@ne otherwise removed by the Committee on
Directors and Governance. The cost of the resttisteck awards is amortized over the three yearigtsn period from the date of grant or
such shorter restriction period as determined byr¢imoval of such restrictions. Newly elected nomployee directors also receive a one-time
five year restricted stock award of $35,000 . Tétaltnumber of shares of Common stock availablggfant under the 2005 Stock Plan may nc
exceed 100,000 shares. During 2013 , the Corporati@rded 15,256 shares of restricted stock, ofwhj721 , have been deferred by certain
directors. During 2012 , the Corporation awarde@®7® shares of restricted stock, of which 8,93%Haeen deferred by certain directors.
During 2011 , the Corporation awarded 16,680 shafresstricted stock, of which 7,820 have been meteby certain directors.

Pursuant to election by non-employee directorgteive shares in lieu of payment for earned aneroexf compensation under the 2005 Stock
Plan, the Corporation had provided for an additiaggregate of 65,503 and 68,974 shares at angavgrice of $31.94 and $31.16 ,
respectively, as of December 31, 2013 and 2012inB2013 and 2012 , the Corporation issued 19a8#D12,955 shares, respectively, in
compensation pursuant to such elections.
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16. ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS

The Corporation has been named as a potentialhpnsible party (PRP), as have many other corparatimd municipalities, in a number of
environmental clean-up sites. The Corporation corEs to make progress in resolving these clainoaighr settlement discussions and
payments from established reserves. The superfteslremaining open at the end of the year aredv@l Trucking landfill superfund site,
located in Fairfield, New Jersey; Sharkey landfilperfund site, located in Parsippany, New Jemey;Chemsol, Inc. superfund site, located il
Piscataway, New Jersey. The Corporation believatstite outcome for any of these remaining sitesnuil have a material effect on the
Corporation’s results of operations or financiasition.

The Corporation continued the operation of the gdowater and soil remediation activities at the \d/&dge, New Jersey site through 2013 .
The cost of constructing and operating this site mavided for in 1990 when the Corporation estdigd a reserve to remediate the property.
Even though this property was sold in December 20@L Corporation retained the responsibility fustremediation in accordance with the
sale agreement. The reserve balance as of Dec&hp2013 , was $6.9 million , which is essentialhchanged from the prior year.

In 1992, the Corporation was named as a PRP ic#tdwell Trucking superfund site. The majority bétcosts for this site have been for soll
and groundwater remediation. As of December 3132Qthe Corporation’s reserve balance was $4.7anillwhich largely represents
continuing operation and maintenance costs, syp@formance monitoring efforts, and assessment liagnp

The Corporation, through its Electidechanical Division (EMD) business unit, has thRemnsylvania Department of Environmental Prote
(PADEP) radioactive materials licenses that arézat in the continued operation of the EMD busiés connection with these licenses, the
Corporation has known conditional asset retirenodtijations related to asset decommissioning ais/to be performed in the future, when
the Corporation terminates these licenses. Forofitbe three licenses, the Corporation has recoatlegisset retirement obligation. In 2012, in
connection with its license renewal, the Corporatireased its asset retirement obligation by $6om, to $9 million , for these licenses and
revised its estimated settlement date to 2032 .Qdrporation recorded accretion expense of legs $iamillion during the twelve months
ended December 31, 2013. For its third licenseCibwporation has not recorded an asset retiremaigiadion as it is not reasonably estimable
due to insufficient information about the timingdamethod of settlement of the obligation. Accordimthis obligation has not been recorde
the Consolidated Financial Statements. A liabfiitiythis obligation will be recorded in the periathen sufficient information regarding timing
and method of settlement becomes available to raakasonable estimate of the liability’s fair value

The Corporation’s aggregate environmental obligaibDecember 31, 2013 was $16.3 million compawell 6.4 million at December 31,
2012 . Approximately 27.4% of the Corporation’s kommental reserves as of December 31, 2013 , septeéhe current value of anticipated
remediation costs and are not discounted primdrily to the uncertainty of timing of expenditurele Temaining environmental reserves are
discounted. All environmental reserves exclude goigntial recovery from insurance carriers or ety legal actions. As of December 31,
2013, the undiscounted cash flows associatedthvitidiscounted reserves were $19.2 million andhatieipated to be paid over the next 30
years.

87




17. PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Corporation maintains seventeen separate atidaipension and other postretirement defineafigplans, consisting of seven domestic
pensions and other postretirement benefit plangemdeparate foreign pension plans. The Corparat@intains the following domestic plans:
a qualified pension plan, a non-qualified pensitampand a postretirement health-benefits plan‘hatiss-Wright Plans”), a postretirement
health benefits plan for EMD employees and two ifjedl plans and one postretirement health benéit for Williams Controls. The foreign
plans consist of three defined benefit pensionglarthe United Kingdom, three in Germany, two iexito, and one plan each in Canada anc
Switzerland. The German plans were added durin@ 281part of our February 28, 2013 acquisitionhdfri’x Holding GmbH.

Domestic Plans

The Curtiss-Wright Plans

The Corporation maintains a defined benefit penpian (the "CW Pension Plan") covering all emplayaader four benefit formulas: a non-
contributory non-union and union formula for allrf@ss-Wright (CW) employees and a contributory umamd non-union benefit formula for
employees at the EMD business unit.

CW non-union employees hired prior to FebruaryQ,®receive a “traditional” benefit based on yadrsredited service, the five highest
consecutive years’ compensation during the lasyéams of service, and a “cash balance” benefiées€lremployees became participants under
the CW Pension Plan after one year of service aaré wested after three years of service. CW noaruemployees hired on or after the
effective date are eligible for the cash balanagehitonly. CW union employees who have negotiad@nefit under the CW Pension Plan are
entitled to a benefit based on years of servicdiptigld by a monthly pension rate.

The formula for EMD employees covers both union aad-union employees and is designed to satisfyeheirements of relevant collective
bargaining agreements. Employee contributions dteheld each pay period and are equal to 1.5%lafysarhe benefits for the EMD
employees are based on years of service and coatmnsOn December 31, 2012, the Corporation antkitttee CW Pension Plan to close the
benefit to EMD employees hired after January 14201

In May 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors appban amendment to the CW Pension Plan. Effedawneiary 1, 2014, all active non-
union employees participating in the final and eam@verage pay formulas in the defined benefit pldincease accruals 15 years from the
effective date of the amendment. In addition ®ghnset provision, the “cash balance” benefihfor-union participants will be eliminated as
of the effective date. Nobion employees who are not currently receivinglfior career average pay benefits become eligibpatticipate il
a new defined contribution plan which provides batmployer match and non-elective contribution conguds, up to a maximum employer
contribution of 6% . The amendment does not affatt employees that are subject to collective baiggiagreements.

At December 31, 2013 and 2012 , the Corporationahadncurrent pension liability of $79.5 millionch$i195.9 million , respectively. This
reduction was primarily driven by favorable assatfgrmance, which exceeded 19% for 2013, and aagstpoint increase in the discount rate
which was 4.75% as of December 31, 2013. The Ma 20nendment, which is effective January 1, 20dgijlted in a $3 million reduction to
the projected benefit obligation of the plan armkbeond quarter 2013 curtailment charge of $2 millio

The Corporation made $40.5 million of contributidaghe CW Pension Plan in 2013 and expects to ralantribution of approximately
$40.0 million in 2014 . The Corporation expectsrtake cumulative contributions of approximately $haiflion from 2014 through 2018 . The
reduction in the Corporation's projections is prilyadue to favorable changes in the discount eaite asset performance. The Corporation
expects to make cash contributions of approxim&k&H4.0 million in 2014 for the new defined conttilbm plan, effective January 1, 2014, and
cumulative contributions of approximately $74.0lmoil from 2014 through 2018.

The Corporation also maintains a non-qualifiedaegion plan (the "CW Restoration Plan") coverihgse employees of CW and EMD whose
compensation or benefits exceed the IRS limitafiiwrpension benefits. Benefits under the CW ResitmmaPlan are not funded, and, as such,
the Corporation had an accrued pension liabilit3f.7 million and $34.4 million as of December 2213 and 2012 , respectively. The
Corporation’s contributions to the CW RestoratidanPare expected to be $2.1 million in 2014 .
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The Corporation provides postretirement health fient® certain employees (the "CW Retirement Plaim' 2002, the Corporation restructul
the postretirement medical benefits for certaiivactmployees, effectively freezing the plan. Thenpcontinues to be maintained for retired
employees. The Corporation had an accrued postregint benefit liability of $0.5 million and $0.6 ltiun as of December 31, 2013 and 2012
respectively. Benefits under the plan are not fdndée Corporation’s contributions to the CW Retiemt Plan are not expected to be materia
in 2014 .

EMD Plan

The Corporation, through an administration agree¢math Westinghouse, maintains the WestinghouseeBuwent Services Group Welfare
Benefits Plan (the “EMD Retirement Plan”), a retifeealth and life insurance plan for substantiallipf the Curtiss-Wright EMD employees.
The EMD Retirement Plan provides basic health aelfare coverage on a non-contributory basis. B&nafie based on years of service and
are subject to certain caps. Effective January1]12the Corporation modified the benefit designgfost-65 retirees by introducing Retiree
Reimbursement Accounts (RRA’s) to participantsén lof the traditional benefit delivery. Particip@atcounts are funded a set amount
annually that can be used to purchase supplememtatage on the open market, effectively cappiegotnefit.

The Corporation had an accrued postretirement hdiadifility at December 31, 2013 and 2012 of $1&lion and $20.7 million ,
respectively. Pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agraerthe Corporation has a discounted receivabla fVashington Group International to
reimburse the Corporation for a portion of thesstfairement benefit costs. At December 31, 201824112 , the discounted receivable
included in other assets was $1.8 million and $&l0on , respectively. The Corporation expectstmtribute $1.4 million to the EMD
Retirement Plan during 2014 .

The Williams Plans

The Corporation acquired two defined benefit pemgilans and a postretirement benefit plan withattguisition of Williams Controls on
December 14, 2012. The two defined benefit plandyaurly employee plan and salaried employee glesvide a fixed formula benefit to
members upon retirement. The postretirement beplefit provides health care and life insurance hbsnielr certain of its retired employees.
No new employees are being admitted into thesesplas ofDecember 31, 2013, the Corporation had an acqrarsion liability of $2.4
million and an accrued postretirement benefit ligbof $1.3 million related to these plans. Ther@aration expects to contribute $0.8 million
into these plans in 2014 .

Foreign Plans

The foreign plans consist of three defined bemfitsion plans in the United Kingdom, three in Ganynawo in Mexico, and one plan each in
Canada and Switzerland. As of December 31, 2012at# , the total projected benefit obligation tedbto all foreign plans is $87.6 million
and $83.0 million , respectively. As of Decembey 3113 and 2012 , the Corporation had an accruesiqe liability of $2.1 million and $8.4
million , respectively. The Corporation's contriloms to the foreign plans are expected to be $3ltbmin 2014 .

In September 2013, the Corporation amended thelNMfepovement Company - Salaried Staff pension 8&h@J.K.) and the Penny & Giles
Pension Plan (U.K.) to cease the accrual of fubereefits effective December 31, 2013. The amendsrterthe plans resulted in a $7 million
reduction to the projected benefit obligations aralirtailment gain of $2.8 million .

Components of net periodic benefit expense

The net pension and net postretirement benefisdagstome) consisted of the following:

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011
Service cost $ 40,17 $ 40,27: $ 36,27¢ $ 37 % 44 $ 38¢
Interest cost 27,77 26,30: 26,36: 83¢ 93¢ 1,00¢
Expected return on plan assets (36,309 (33,58Y) (31,635 — — —
Amortization of prior service cost 88: 1,201 1,21( (63¢) (629) (629)
Recognized net actuarial loss 15,01z 11,02 5,46¢ (614) (682) (901)

Cost of settlements/curtailments 13 — 194 — — —




Net periodic benefit cost (income) $ 4755: $ 4521¢ $ 37,87( $ (40 $ 76 % (139)
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Net periodic benefit cost, specifically service amrest cost, has increased over the reportéddzedue to growth in headcount and ser
accruals related to existing employees under tkeeaad service-based formula in the plan. The razedractuarial loss has increased over the

reported periods, due largely to prior period dediin the discount rate.

The Cost of settlements/curtailments indicated alrepresents events that are accounted for undarge on employers’ accounting for
settlements and curtailments of defined benefisfmnplans. In 2013, the CW Pension Plan curtaitrobarge of $2.2 million and special
termination benefits in the CW Restoration Planenargely offset by the curtailment gain in the Re& Giles Pension Plan.

In the following table, the pension benefits infation is a consolidated disclosure of all domestid foreign plans described earlier. The
postretirement benefits information includes alimdstic postretirement benefit plans, as there afeneign postretirement benefit plans. All
plans were valued using a December 31, 2013 maasatalate to comply with the requirements of U.BAB to measure plan assets and
benefit obligations as of the date of the emplayéiscal year-end statement of financial position.

Pension Benefits

Postretirement Benefits

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2013 2012
Change in benefit obligation:

Beginning of year $ 705,02; $ 597,14« $ 23,39 $ 21,46
Service cost 40,17( 40,27« 373 44¢
Interest cost 27,77, 26,30:¢ 83¢ 93¢
Plan participants’ contributions 2,331 2,381 35( 91
Amendments — — (36€) —
Actuarial loss (gain) (62,53¢) 55,83: (2,757) (377)
Benefits paid (34,259 (37,18() (1,419 (1,286
Business combinations 5,80¢ 17,21¢ — 2,10¢
Special termination benefits 53z — — —
Curtailments/ settlements (9,719 — — —
Actual expenses (2,206 — — —
Currency translation adjustments 1,25¢ 3,047 — —
End of year $ 674,19: $ 70502 $ 2041¢ $ 23,39
Change in plan assets:

Beginning of year $ 460,20 $ 383,14¢ $ — —
Actual return on plan assets 82,86 52,97t — —
Employer contribution 48,07+ 45,23( 1,06¢ 1,19¢
Plan participants’ contributions 2,331 2,381 35( 91
Business combinations — 10,98: — —
Benefits paid (34,257 (37,180) (1,419 (1,286
Settlements (2,206 — — —
Currency translation adjustments 1,55¢ 2,66¢ — —
End of year $ 558,56° $ 460,20. $ —  $ —
Funded status $ (11562) $ (244,820 $ (20,416 $ (23,39)
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Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2013 2012
Amounts recognized on the balance sheet
Noncurrent assets $ 7,14 % — 3 — $ —
Current liabilities (2,620 (2,469 (1,659 (1,699
Noncurrent liabilities (120,14) (242,35) (18,757 (21,69¢)
Total $ (115,62) $ (244,82() $ (20,416 $ (23,39)
Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensg income
(AOCI)
Net actuarial loss (gain) $ 69358 $ 201,21¢ $ (12,35() $ (10,21)
Prior service cost 2,531 5,612 (5,349 (5,615
Total $ 7189: $ 206,83 $ (17,69) $ (15,82)
Amounts in AOCI expected to be recognized in net p@dic cost in the
coming year:
Loss (gain) recognition $ 593: $ 17,11 $ (811) $ (639
Prior service cost recognition $ 631 $ 1,201 $ (657) $ (629

Accumulated benefit obligation $ 641,890 $ 644,48 N/A N/A

Information for pension plans with an accumulated lenefit obligation
in excess of plan assets:

Projected benefit obligation $ 604,51 $ 639,74! N/A N/A
Accumulated benefit obligation 528,14¢ 592,66( N/A N/A
Fair value of plan assets 473,07¢ 398,68° N/A N/A

Plan Assumptions

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
2013 2012 2013 2012

Weighted-average assumptions in determination of mefit
obligation:
Discount rate 4.62% 3.95% 4.47% 3.7%
Rate of compensation increase 3.94% 3.94% N/A N/A
Health care cost trends:

Rate assumed for subsequent year N/A N/A 8.0(% 8.0(%

Ultimate rate reached in 2019 and 2014, respegtivel N/A N/A 5.0(% 5.5(%
Weighted-average assumptions in determination of ne
periodic benefit cost:
Discount rate 3.95% 4.4€% 3.7(% 4.4%
Expected return on plan assets 7.91% 8.02% N/A N/A
Rate of compensation increase 3.94% 3.9€% N/A N/A
Health care cost trends:

Rate assumed for subsequent year N/A N/A 8.0(% 8.0(%

Ultimate rate reached in 2019 and 2014, respegtivel N/A N/A 5.0(% 5.5(%

The discount rate for each plan is determined bygaiinting the plan’s expected future benefit paymasing a yield curve developed from
high quality bonds that are rated Aa or better lmoly’s as of the measurement date. The yield coaleulation matches the notional cash
inflows of the hypothetical bond portfolio with tlespected benefit payments to arrive at one effectite for each plan.
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The overall expected return on assets assumptiossisd on a combination of historical performarfad® pension fund and expectations of
future performance. Expected future performanaietsermined by weighting the expected returns fehesset class by the plan’s asset
allocation. The expected returns are based ontiemg-capital market assumptions utilizing a tenrytemae horizon through consultation with
investment advisors. While consideration is giveneicent performance and historical returns, teeragtion represents a long-term
prospective return.

The effect on the CW, EMD, and Williams RetiremBians of a 1% change in the health care cost igeasl follows:

(In thousands) 1% Increas 1% Decreas
Total service and interest cost components $ 4 3% ©)
Postretirement benefit obligation $ 93 $ (83

Pension Plan Assets

The overall objective for plan assets is to earat@ of return over time to meet anticipated bémefyments in accordance with plan provisic
The long-term investment objective of the domesirement plans is to achieve a total rate ofrretnet of fees, which exceeds the actuarial
overall expected return on asset assumptions wsddriding purposes and which provides an apprapgeemium over inflation. The
intermediate-term objective of the domestic retieatrplans, defined as three to five years, is tpenform each of the capital markets in which
assets are invested, net of fees. During periogstoéme market volatility, preservation of capttdtes a higher precedence than outperfori
the capital markets.

The Corporation’s Finance Committee is respondtnidormulating investment policies, developing @&stment manager guidelines and
objectives, and approving and managing qualifiedsmils and investment managers. The guidelinebléesiad define permitted investments
within each asset class and apply certain resiristsuch as limits on concentrated holdings, aoHibits selling securities short, buying on
margin, and the purchase of any securities issygdebCorporation.

The Corporation maintains the funds of the CW RemBllan under a trust that is diversified acrosestment classes and among investment
managers to achieve an optimal balance betweemmigketurn. In accordance with this policy, thepgoation has established target
allocations for each asset class and ranges ottegexposure. The Corporation’s domestic retirdragsets are invested within this allocatior
structure in three major categories: domestic gaéturities, international equity securities, debt securities. Below are the Corporation’s
actual and established target allocations for theR&nsion Plan, representing 82% of consolidatsetss

As of December 31, Target Expected
2013 2012 Exposure Range
Asset class
Domestic equities 52% 50% 50% 40%-60%
International equities 15% 15% 15% 10%-20%
Total equity 67% 65% 65% 55%-75%
Fixed income 31% 33% 35% 25%-45%

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012 , cash fundseifClWV Pension Plan represented less thamf3p6rtfolio assets. The Williams Plans, wh
represent approximately 2% of domestic retiremeséts, are more heavily weighted in fixed inconselteng in a weighted expected return on
assets assumption of 6.75% .

Foreign plan assets represent 15% of consoliddéedgssets, with the majority of the assets supmpthe U.K. plans. The U.K. foreign plans
follow a similar asset allocation strategy, whitber foreign plans are more heavily weighted irdixncome resulting in a weighted expected
return on assets assumption of 5.20% for all forgigns.

The Corporation may from time to time require thallocation of assets in order to bring the retgatplans into conformity with these ranc
The Corporation may also authorize alterationsemiations from these ranges where appropriatedoiesing the objectives of the retirement
plans.
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Fair Value Measurements

The following table presents consolidated plantassging the fair value hierarchy as of December2813 :

Quoted Prices

in Active
Markets for Significant Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
Asset Category Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash and cash equivalents 17,657 $ 1,88i 15,77( —
Equity securities- Mutual funds (a) 282,77 238,74¢ 44,02¢ —
Bond funds (b) 148,12¢ 101,05( 47,07¢ —
Insurance Contracts (c) 10,917 — — 10,917
Other (d) 72¢ — — 72¢
December 31, 2012 460,20: $ 341,68 106,87: 11,64¢
Cash and cash equivalents 17,957 $ 1,63¢ 16,31 —
Equity securities- Mutual funds (a) 360,69: 307,22( 53,47 —
Bond funds (b) 168,34¢ 115,98t 52,36( —
Insurance Contracts (c) 10,79t — — 10,79¢
Other (d) 782 — — 782
December 31, 2013 558,56 $ 424,84t 122,14« 11,577

(a) This category consists of domestic and intéwnat equity securities. It is comprised of U.Sg@ties benchmarked against the S&P 500
index and Russell 2000 index, international mufuatls benchmarked against the MSCI EAFE index, aleljuity index mutual funds
associated with our U.K. based pension plans alahbad funds associated with the U.K. and Candudlised pension plans.

(b) This category consists of domestic and intéonat bonds. The domestic fixed income securitresbenchmarked against the Barclays
Capital Aggregate Bond index, actively-managed hontual funds comprised of domestic investment gi@debt, fixed income derivatives,
and below investment-grade issues, U.S. mortgagecdasecurities, asset backed securities, munibipadls, and convertible debt.
International bonds consist of bond mutual funddrsetitutional investors associated with the CWidten Plan, Switzerland, and U.K. based
pension plans.

(c) This category consists of a guaranteed investimentract (GIC) in Switzerland. Amounts contrigdito the plan are guaranteed by a
foundation for occupational benefits that in tuntezed into a group insurance contract and thedation pays a guaranteed rate of interest th
is reset annually.

(d) This category consists primarily of real esiateestment trusts in Switzerland.

Valuation

Equity securities and exchange-traded equity amdi moutual funds are valued using a market apprbaskd on the quoted market prices of
identical instruments. Pooled institutional funds @alued at their net asset values and are c#cuby the sponsor of the fund.

Fixed income securities are primarily valued usingarket approach utilizing various underlying jmicsources and methodologies. Real
estate investment trusts are priced at net ashet based on valuations of the underlying realtedtaldings using inputs such as discounted
cash flows, independent appraisals, and marketdbasaparable data.

Cash balances in the United States are held imkeg@dund and classified as a Level 2 asset. Ndh-thsh is valued using a market approach
based on quoted market prices of identical instnime



The following table presents a reconciliation ofrek3 assets held during the year ended Decemh&03B and 2012 :
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Insurance

Contracts Other Total

December 31, 2011 $ 10,08: $ 61z $ 10,69
Actual return on plan assets:

Relating to assets still held at the reporting date 151 42 19z
Relating to assets sold during the period — — —
Purchases, sales, and settlements 42¢ 57 48€
Transfers in and/or out of Level 3 — — —
Foreign currency translation adjustment 25€ 17 275
December 31, 2012 $ 10,917 $ 728 $ 11,64¢
Actual return on plan assets:

Relating to assets still held at the reporting date 162 35 197
Relating to assets sold during the period — — —
Purchases, sales, and settlements (542) — (542)
Transfers in and/or out of Level 3 — — —
Foreign currency translation adjustment 25¢ 19 277
December 31, 2013 $ 10,79t $ 78z % 11,577

Benefit Payments

The following benefit payments, which reflect extgetfuture service, as appropriate, are expectée fmaid from the plans:

Pension Postretirement

(In thousands) Plans Plans Total

2014 $ 43,12¢ $ 1,66( $ 44,78¢
2015 44,257 1,62¢ 45,88:
2016 46,49¢ 1,572 48,07(
2017 47,38¢ 1,541 48,92°
2018 49,57( 1,531 51,10:
2019 — 2023 274,22 7,18¢ 281,41!

Other Pension and Postretirement Plans

The Corporation offers all of its domestic employé®e opportunity to participate in a defined citmittion plan. Costs incurred by the
Corporation in the administration and record kegpihthe defined contribution plan are paid fortbg Corporation and are not considered
material.

In addition, the Corporation had foreign pensiostsander various defined contribution plans o $8illion , $4.8 million , and $3.7 million
in 2013, 2012, and 2011 , respectively.
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18. LEASES

The Corporation conducts a portion of its operatifsom leased facilities, which include manufactgrand service facilities, administrative
offices, and warehouses. In addition, the Corporndiases vehicles, machinery, and office equipmedeér operating leases. The leases expir
at various dates and may include renewals andaswa. Rental expenses for all operating leasesiatad to $41.7 million , $35.6 million ,
and $33.6 million in 2013 , 2012, and 2011 , retpely.

At December 31, 2013, the approximate future mimmrental commitments under operating leases tna itial or remaining non-
cancelable lease terms in excess of one year dof@ss:

Rental

(In thousands) Commitments

2014 $ 32,97(
2015 29,80«
2016 25,87¢
2017 22,43¢
2018 18,10¢
Thereafter 82,21¢
Total $ 211,41¢

On June 3, 2013, the Corporation entered into i baisuit agreement for the construction and ledsenew manufacturing facility in
Bethlehem, Pennsylvania. The new facility will cish®f two buildings totaling approximately 178,93&uare feet situated on 12.5 acres, and
will serve as a facility for warehousing, heavy matturing, research and development, generalegfiod hazardous material storage for the
Electro Mechanical division in the Flow Control sggnt. Under the terms of the lease agreement, dhgo€ation is obligated to pay annual
fixed rent of $1.9 million every year for the fimight years with rent escalation of 2.5% every yeeareafter for a total of fifteen years.

On June 5, 2013, the Corporation entered into la baisuit agreement for the construction and ledsenew facility in Idaho Falls, Idaho. The
new facility will consist of two buildings totalingpproximately 112,000 square feet situated ora8:és, and will serve as a general office,
assembly, and testing facility for the Nuclear Gralivision of the Flow Control segment. Under tamts of the lease agreement, the
Corporation is obligated to pay initial annual reh1.1 million with rent escalation of 2.5% evemar thereafter for a total of fifteen years.

19. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Corporation manages and evaluates its opesdb@ased on the products and services it offergtendifferent markets it serves. Based on
this approach, the Corporation has three reporsdgenents: Flow Control, Controls, and Surface meldgies. The Flow Control segment
primarily designs, manufactures, distributes, amgtises a broad range of highly engineered flowtrmdmproducts including valves, pumps,
motors, generators, instrumentation, and contestednics for severe service military and comméigiglications. The Controls segment
primarily designs, develops, and manufactures nréchbsystems, drive systems, and mission-crigcabedded computing products and
sensors mainly for the aerospace and defense iekisdurface Technologies provides various megittal services, principally shot peening,
laser peening, coatings, anodizing, heat treatimbagalytical services. The segment provides thesdces to a broad spectrum of custome
various industries, including aerospace, automoteastruction equipment, oil and gas, petrocheimécad metal working.

The accounting policies of the operating segmergdhe same as those described in the summargmifisant accounting policies. Interest
expense and income taxes are not reported on aatigesegment basis because they are not condidetiee segments’ performance
evaluation by the Corporation’s CEOQ, its chief @tierg decision-maker.
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December 31,

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011
Net sales

Flow Control $ 1,299.69 $ 1,09534' $ 1,060,78
Controls 904,17! 735,08! 714,30¢
Surface Technologies 314,49 277,43( 247,98t¢
Less: Intersegment Revenues (7,599 (10,149 (6,34))
Total Consolidated $ 2,510,77 $ 2,097,711 $ 2,016,74

Operating income (expense)

Flow Control $ 116,51 % 78,77¢ $ 103,42:
Controls 108,55¢ 86,51! 75,42!
Surface Technologies 50,99 27,49: 31,47¢
Corporate and Eliminations) (42,44)) (31,349 (23,46¢)
Total Consolidated $ 233,61 $ 161,44t $ 186,85

Depreciation and amortization expense

Flow Control $ 53,20t $ 42,09: $ 37,61°
Controls 45,52¢ 31,96¢ 30,72«
Surface Technologies 18,33¢ 17,45¢ 18,09¢
Corporate 4,43(C 2,37¢ 1,86(
Total Consolidated $ 121,49° % 93,89¢ $ 88,30(

Segment assets

Flow Control $ 158135 $ 1,417,046 $ 1,257,14
Controls 1,517,77. 1,365,11. 1,016,93!
Surface Technologies 309,47. 302,07¢ 286,08:
Corporate 49,67 30,35( 75,38¢
Total Consolidated $ 345827. $ 3,11458 $ 2,63554

Capital expenditures

Flow Control $ 30,78¢ % 27,61 $ 34,65t
Controls 16,99: 25,19¢ 32,83¢
Surface Technologies 21,24 24,40¢ 14,57
Corporate 3,21 5,73¢ 2,25¢
Total Consolidated $ 72,24; $ 8295« §  84,3%

(1) Corporate and Eliminations includes pensiorease, environmental remediation and administratiymenses, legal, foreign currency
transactional gains and losses, and other expenses.

Reconciliations
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December 31,

(In thousands)

2013 2012 2011

Earnings before taxes:

Total segment operating income $ 276,06( $ 192,78 $ 210,32
Corporate and administrative (42,447 (31,347 (23,46¢)
Interest expense (37,020 (26,329 (20,839
Other income, net 1,35¢ 24t 862
Total consolidated earnings before tax $ 19795 § 13536 $ 166,88
Assets:

Total assets for reportable segments $ 3,408,60. $ 3,084,223 $ 2,560,16.
Non-segment cash 2,86: 55(C 227
Other assets 46,80¢ 29,80( 75,15¢
Total consolidated assets $ 345827 $ 311458 $ 2,63554
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Geographic Information

December 31,

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011
Revenues

United States of America $ 1,773,100 $ 1,451,160 $ 1,409,35:
United Kingdom 143,12: 153,09: 139,00:
Canada 83,96¢ 83,02} 81,49¢
Other foreign countries 510,57 410,43( 386,88t
Consolidated total $ 2510,77. $ 2,097,711 $ 2,016,74.

Long-Lived Assets

United States of America $ 365,69: $ 352,61 $ 327,98
United Kingdom 43,43 43,34. 38,85¢
Canada 27,97t 31,74( 31,91«
Other foreign countries 78,61¢ 61,89: 43,96¢
Consolidated total $ 515,71t $ 489,59: $ 442,72¢
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20. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

Legal Proceedings

The Corporation has been named in a number of igsvwhat allege injury from exposure to asbestasdate, the Corporation has not been
found liable for or paid any material sum of momegettlement in any case. The Corporation beliggaminimal use of asbestos in its past
current operations and the relatively non-frialdadition of asbestos in its products makes it whjikhat it will face material liability in any
asbestos litigation, whether individually or in thggregate. The Corporation maintains insurancerege for these potential liabilities and
believes adequate coverage exists to cover anytigipated asbestos liability.

In December 2013, the Corporation, along with otheaffiliated parties, received a claim, from Canad\atural Resources Limited (CNRL)
filed in the Court of Queen's Bench of Alberta, idiad District of Calgary. The claim pertains tdanuary 2011 fire and explosion at a delayec
coker unit at its Fort McMurray refinery that reteal in the injury of five CNRL employees, damag@toperty and equipment, and various
forms of consequential loss such as loss of profit,opportunities, and business interruption. fiteeand explosion occurred when a CNRL
employee bypassed certain safety controls and dpmmeperating coker unit. The total quantum afgdld damages arising from the incident
has not been finalized, but is estimated to meekoeed $1 billion. The Corporation maintains @asi forms of commercial, property and
casualty, product liability, and other forms ofunsnce; however, such insurance may not be adetjuateer the costs associated with a
judgment against us. The Corporation is currentighle to estimate an amount, or range of potelataks, if any, from this matter. T
Corporation believes it has adequate legal defemsgsntends to defend this matter vigorously. Toeporation's financial condition, results
operations, and cash flows, could be materiallgcéfd during a future fiscal quarter or fiscal yieaunfavorable developments or outcome
regarding this claim.

The Corporation is party to a number of legal adiand claims, none of which individually or in #ggregate, in the opinion of management,
are expected to have a material effect on the Cation’s results of operations or financial positio

Letters of Credit and Other Arrangements

The Corporation enters into standby letters of iti@greements and guarantees with financial irtgtits and customers primarily relating to
guarantees of repayment, future performance onioezbntracts to provide products and servicestaisgcure advance payments from certai
international customers. At December 31, 2013 &@1i®2 there were $47.2 million and $51.8 milliorstdnd-by letters of credit outstanding,
respectively, and $23.2 million and $6.9 milliohbank guarantees outstanding, respectively.dtfitian, the Corporation is required to prov
the Nuclear Regulatory Commission financial assteademonstrating its ability to cover the cost@f@mmissioning its Cheswick,
Pennsylvania facility upon closure, though the @oaion does not intend to close this facility. eT®orporation has provided this financial
assurance in the form of a $52.9 million suretycon

AP1000 Program

The Corporation’s Electro-Mechanical Division igtfeactor coolant pump (RCP) supplier for the Wigétbuse AP1000 nuclear power plants
under construction in China and the United Sta@d®e terms of the AP1000 China and United Statesracts include liquidated damage
penalty provisions for failure to meet contractdelivery dates if the Corporation caused the detaythe delay was not excusable. On
October 10, 2013, the Corporation received a I&tten Westinghouse stating entitlements to the maxh amount of liquidated damages
allowable under the AP1000 China contract from \idgsiouse of approximately $25 million . The Coigtorn would be liable for liquidated
damages under the contract if certain contractelery dates were not met and if the Corporati@s weemed responsible for the delay. To
date, the Corporation has not met certain contehckelivery dates under its AP 1000 China contrlactyever there are significant uncertain
as to which parties are responsible for the deldyse Corporation believes it has adequate legehdes, and intends to vigorously defend thi:
matter. Given the uncertainties surrounding thpaasibility for the delays, no accrual has beenerfad this matter as of December 31, 2013.
The range of possible loss is $0 to $25 million .
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U.S. Government Defense Budget/Sequestration

In January 2014, President Obama signed into lawCttnsolidated Appropriations Act, 2014, an omnigusnding bill. The law provides
$520.5 billion for defense and $491.7 billion famdefense discretionary programs through SepteBhe2014 and replaces what would have
been the second round of across-the-board sequesseisequestratiorrhandated by the 2011 Budget Control Act. The aotiges for mode
sequester relief in FY14 and provides the DoD aaltfitt stability and flexibility to entertain muljiear contracts. Despite these benefits, the
DoD and contractors will still face significant dlemges over the next decade as a result of seqtiest While such reductions to future DoD
spending levels are largely undetermined, any rialuin levels of DoD spending, cancellations olagle impacting existing contracts or
programs, including through sequestration, coultelmaterial impact on the Corporation’s resultsperations, financial position, or cash
flows.

21. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The total cumulative balance of each componentofiaulated other comprehensive income (loss), fetxois as follows:

Foreign currency Total pension and Accumulated other

translation postretirement comprehensive
adjustments, net  adjustments, net income (loss)

December 31, 2011 $ 39,76¢ % (104,899 $ (65,13))

Current period other comprehensive income 25,95¢ (16,33) 9,62

December 31, 2012 $ 65,72: $ (121,230 $ (55,509

Other comprehensive income (loss) before

reclassifications @ (6,619 76,70¢ 70,08¢
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other

comprehensive loss @ — 10,68: 10,68:

Net current period other comprehensive income Yloss (6,619 87,38¢ 80,76"

December 31, 2013 $ 59,10 $ (33,849 $ 25,25¢

@ All amounts are after ts

Details of amounts reclassified from accumulatdégtotomprehensive income (loss) are below:

Amount
reclassified from
Accumulated other

comprehensive Affected line item in the statement
income (loss) where net earnings is presented
Defined benefit pension plan
Amortization of prior service costs (245) (1)
Amortization of actuarial losses (14,399 (1)
Curtailments (2,17¢)

(16,827  Total before tax
6,141 Income tax benefit

Total reclassifications $ (10,682  Net of tax

@ These items are included in the computation opeeibdic pension cost. See Note 17, Pension andr@bstretirement Benefit Pla

100




22. QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

(In thousands, except per share data) First Second Third Fourth
2013
Net sales $ 592,68° $ 617,68 $ 600,660 $  699,73(
Gross profit 183,70° 201,01 194,70: 231,67(
Earnings from continuing operations 20,94: 33,37( 36,36! 47,30%
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations — — — —
Net earnings 20,94: 33,37( 36,36: 47,30%
Earnings per share *
Basic earnings per share $ 0.4t $ 071 $ 077 $ 1.0C
Diluted earnings per share 0.44 0.7¢ 0.7¢ 0.97

2012
Net sales $ 501,66 $ 526,38 $  479,22: $ 590,44
Gross profit 159,27: 164,00° 141,41¢ 194,04¢
Earnings from continuing operations 19,84: 22,83t 11,44: 38,16¢
Earnings from discontinued operations 21,47( (95) (1449 324
Net earnings 41,31: 22,74( 11,29¢ 38,49:
Basic earnings per share *

Earnings from continuing operations $ 04z $ 0.4¢ $ 024 % 0.8z

Earnings from discontinued operations 0.4¢€ — — —
Total $ 0.8t $ 04¢ $ 024 $ 0.82
Diluted earnings per share *

Earnings from continuing operations $ 04z $ 0.4¢ $ 024 $ 0.81

Earnings from discontinued operations 0.4t — — —
Total $ 087 $ 0.4t $ 024 % 0.81

* May not add due to rounding

23. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent to December 31, 2013, the Corporatigneal its reportable segments with its end marketsrengthen its ability to service
customers and recognize certain organizationatieffties. As result of this realignment the Corfiorehas created three new reportable
segments: Commercial/Industrial, Defense, and Bndige Corporation's former Surface Technologiegrsmt will be consolidated within tt
new Commercial/Industrial segment. In addition, ¢benmercial businesses that were in the former@tnsegment will also form part of the
new Commercial/Industrial segment. The Corporatidefense businesses, which were primarily in ti@ration’s former Controls segment
and to a lesser extent in the former Flow Conteginsent, will be consolidated within the new Defessgment. The Corporation's oil and gas
businesses and its aftermarket nuclear power bas@sewhich were in the former Flow Control segmwiit form the new Energy segment.

On January 10, 2014 , the Corporation acquired 160#te shares of Component Coating and Repair@&@ar\imited (CCRS) for
approximately £15 million (approximately $25 nolfi ) in cash, net of cash acquired. CCRS is a UWKider of corrosion resistant coatings
and precision airfoil repair services for aerospag industrial turbine applications. The acquirediness will operate within the
Commercial/Industrial segment .

* * % % * %
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Report of the Corporation

The consolidated financial statements appearintgm 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K have bpegpared by the Corporation in
conformity with accounting principles generally eapted in the United States of America. The findrati@ements necessarily include some
amounts that are based on the best estimates dguhéunts of the Corporation. Other financial infotima in this Annual Report on Form 10-K
is consistent with that in the financial statements

The Corporation maintains accounting systems, phaees, and internal accounting controls designguduide reasonable assurance that
assets are safeguarded and that transactionsexeted in accordance with the appropriate corp@ratieorization and are properly recorded.
The accounting systems and internal accountingalsrdre augmented by written policies and prooesiusrganizational structure providing
for a division of responsibilities, selection anditing of qualified personnel, and an internaliapcbgram. The design, monitoring, and
revision of internal accounting control systemsoine, among other things, management’s judgmertt keispect to the relative cost and
expected benefits of specific control measures.dgdament of the Corporation has completed an asses&ithe Corporation’s internal
controls over financial reporting and has inclutidénagement’s Annual Report on Internal Control OFmancial Reporting” in Item 9A of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, our independent registerablic accounting firm, performed an integrated aoflthe Corporation’s financial
statements that also included forming an opiniothe@ninternal controls over financial reportingtioé Corporation for the year ended
December 31, 2013 . An audit includes examininga ¢@st basis, evidence supporting the amountslisobbsures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accountingipies used and significant estimates made by gemant, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. The objectiviheir audit is the expression of an opinion onfttimess of the Corporation’s financial
statements in conformity with accounting principdemerally accepted in the United States of Ameiitall material respects, and on the
internal controls over financial reporting as ofd@mber 31, 2013 .

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, careed entirely of directors who are independenhefGorporation, appoints the
independent registered public accounting firm &dification by stockholders and, among other thimgsisiders the scope of the independent
registered public accounting firm’s examinatiorg #udit results, and the adequacy of internal atawoy controls of the Corporation. The
independent registered public accounting firm dmdimternal auditor have direct access to the A0dinmittee, and they meet with the
committee from time to time, with and without maeagent present, to discuss accounting, auditing awgiit consulting services, internal
control, and financial reporting matters.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Charlotte, North Carolina

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Curtiss-Wright Corporation and subsigs (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012 , and the related ddased statements of earnings, comprehensive incstoekholders’ equity, and cash flows
for each of the three years in the period endecBber 31, 2013 . Our audits also included the ir@rstatement schedule listed in the Index
at Item 15. These financial statements and finastagement schedule are the responsibility ofGbhmpany’s management. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on these financial statesnend financial statement schedule based onualitsa

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those standard:s
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finataieiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digds in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenenelaas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetag@resent fairly, in all material respects, tinaricial position of the Company at
December 31, 2013 and 2012 , and the results wfaperations and their cash flows for each ofttivee years in the period ended
December 31, 2013, in conformity with accountimggiples generally accepted in the United Stafelnoerica. Also, in our opinion, such
financial statement schedule, when considerediatioa to the basic consolidated financial statetmi¢gken as a whole, presents fairly, in all
material respects, the information set forth therei

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of Betber 31, 2013 , based on the criteria establishiedernal Control—Integrated Framework
(1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organimatif the Treadway Commission and our report dagdduary 21, 2014 expressed
an unqualified opinion on the Company’s internaitcol over financial reporting.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Parsippany, New Jersey
February 21, 2014
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Charlotte, North Carolina

We have audited the internal control over finanglorting of Curtiss-Wright Corporation and sulimiggs (the “Company”) as of

December 31, 2013 , based on criteria establishbdarnal Control — Integrated Framework (19983ued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Camsamanagement is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over financi
reporting and for its assessment of the effectissmd internal control over financial reportingclided in the accompanying Management'’s
Annual Report on Internal Control Over FinanciapBeing. Our responsibility is to express an opiném the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&/nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenalteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal corix@r financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and etinadutihe design and operating effectiveness ofiraiecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we considezedssary in the circumstances. We believe thadwdit provides a reasonable basis for ou
opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed by, or under the supenvidi the company’s principal executive
and principal financial officers, or persons pemiorg similar functions, and effected by the compapard of directors, management, and
other personnel to provide reasonable assuraneediag the reliability of financial reporting anlet preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles. A company’s internaitcol over financial reporting includes
those policies and procedures that (1) pertainéartaintenance of records that, in reasonablel dataurately and fairly reflect the transacti
and dispositions of the assets of the companypr@jide reasonable assurance that transactions@eded as necessary to permit preparatio
of financial statements in accordance with gengrdtepted accounting principles, and that receiptsexpenditures of the company are bein
made only in accordance with authorizations of ngen@ent and directors of the company; and (3) peoxédisonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized asigjon, use, or disposition of the company’s assleat could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcoinover financial reporting, including the possti of collusion or improper management
override of controls, material misstatements duertor or fraud may not be prevented or detected timely basis. Also, projections of any
evaluation of the effectiveness of the internaltaarover financial reporting to future periods ateéject to the risk that the controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditiotigt the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all maleespects, effective internal control over figal reporting as of December 31, 2013,
based on the criteria establishedriternal Control — Integrated Framework (19983ued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidns
the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the consolidated
financial statements and financial statement sdeeatiof and for the year ended December 31, 20tt®dCompany and our report dated
February 21, 2014 expressed an unqualified opiaiothose financial statements and financial stat¢sehedule.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Parsippany, New Jersey
February 21, 2014

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Account&on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls And Procedures.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures
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As of December 31, 2013, the Corporation’s managenincluding the Corporation’s Chief Executivefi€dr and Chief Financial Officer,
conducted an evaluation of the Corporation’s dsate controls and procedures, as such term isatbfimnRules 13a-15(e) and 1%8¢e) unde
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended'Bkchange Act”). Based on such evaluation, thep@@tion’s Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Gwgtion’s disclosure controls and procedures dactive as of December 31, 20it3ofar a:
they are designed to ensure that information redguio be disclosed by us in the reports that veediilsubmit under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported nviftbitime periods specified in the Commissionlesand forms, and they include, without
limitation, controls and procedures designed taenthat information required to be disclosed bynuke reports we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated tonamagement, including our principal executive pridcipal financial officers, or
persons performing similar functions, as appropratallow timely decisions regarding required lisare.

Managemens Annual Report On Internal Control Over Finan&laborting

The Corporatiors management is responsible for establishing andtamaing adequate internal control over financigborting, as defined
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securieshange Act of 1934, as amended.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtvver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of
future effectiveness of controls currently deeméfdctive are subject to the risk that controls nieecome inadequate because of chanc
conditions or deterioration in the degree of coamudie with the policies or procedures.

The Corporation’s management assessed the effaetigeof the Corporation’s internal control overafinial reporting as obecember 3:
2013 . In making this assessment, the Corporaionanagement used the criteria established by @92 Tommittee of Sponsori
Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Inte@@ntrol-Integrated Framework.

Based on management’'s assessment, managementebetied as of December 31, 2013 , the Corporatiornternal control over financ
reporting is effective based on the establishaeriai

The Corporation’s internal controls over financiaporting as of December 31, 20have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP
independent registered public accounting firm, tn@dr report thereon is included in Item 8 of tAisnual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Repagrtin

There were no changes in the Corporasomternal control over financial reporting durittte most recently completed fiscal quarter
materially affected, or are reasonably likely tatenally affect, our internal control over finantiaporting.

Iltem 9B. Other Information.
None.
PART IlI

The information required by Items 10, 11, 12, 18] &4 of Part Il of this Annual Report on Form KQto the extent not set forth herein, is
incorporated herein by reference from the regisisatefinitive proxy statement relating to the aahmeeting of stockholders to be held on
May 2, 2014 which definitive proxy statement shodlfiled with the Securities and Exchange Commissithin 120 days after the end of the
fiscal year to which this report relates. Informatrequired by Item 401(b) of Regulation S-K islimied in Part | of this report under the
caption “Executive Officers” and information recgidrby Item 201(d) of Regulation S-K is includedPiart 11 of this report under the caption
“Securities Authorized For Issuance Under Equityrpensation Plans”.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) Financial Statements and Footnotes Page

ThAa fAallAauiina Ava AAaaiimaanta filAaA An nAave AF tbmim At 1



Part Il, Item 8:
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(b) Exhibits

Exhibit No.

Consolidated Statements of Earnings
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensiverhe
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Consolidated Statements of Stockholdegsitig
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule II-Valuation and Qualifying Accasi

All other financial statement schedules have bemsitted
because they are either not required, not appkcabthe
required information is shown in the Consolidaté&ubRcial
Statements or Notes thereto.

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description Form Filing Date

51
52
53
54
55
56

110

Filed
Herewith

21
3.1
3.2
3.3

4.1

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

Agreement and Plan of Merger and Recapitalizatiated
as of February 1, 2005, by and between the Regtstrad
CW Merger Sub, Inc. 8-K February 3, 2005

Amended and Restated Certificate of iporation 8-A/A May 24, 2005
Amended and Restated By-Laws 8-K February 13, 2014
Form of stock certificate for Common &to 8-K November 17, 2008

Agreement to furnish to the Commission upon reqaest

copy of any long-term debt instrument where the amof

the securities authorized thereunder does not dxt@# of

the total assets of the Registrant and its subrggian a

consolidated basis. 10-K December 31, 1985

Curtiss-Wright Corporation 2005 Omnibus Long-Term
Incentive Plan, amended and restated effectivealgriy
2010.* 14A March 19, 2010

Form of Long Term Incentive Award Agreement, betaee
the Registrant and the executive officers of thgifeant.* 10-K March 7, 2006

Revised Standard Employment Severance Agreememt wit
Senior Management of the Registrant.* 10-Q August 15, 2001

Amended and Restated Retirement Benefits Restaratio
Plan as amended January 1, 2009.* 10-K Rep25, 2011

Instrument of Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Redtat
Retirement Benefits Restoration Plan as amendaghian
1, 2009.* 10-K February 24, 2012

Amended and Restated Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Retirement Plan and Instrument of Amendment Nas1,
amended through January 1, 2010. * 10-K riraty 25, 2011

Instrument of Amendment No. 2 to the Amended and
Restated Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement Pdan
amended January 1, 2010.* 10-K February4?2
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10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

Instrument of Amendment No. 3 to the Amended and
Restated Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement Pdan
amended January 1, 2010.*

Instrument of Amendment No. 4 to the Amended and
Restated Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement Pdan
amended January 1, 2010.*

Instrument of Amendment No. 5 to the Amended and
Restated Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement Pdan
amended January 1, 2010.*

Instrument of Amendment No. 6 to the Amended and
Restated Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement Pdan
amended January 1, 2010.*

Instrument of Amendment No. 7 to the Amended and
Restated Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement Pdan
amended January 1, 2010.*

Restated and Amended Curtiss-Wright Corporatiorirgav
and Investment Plan, dated January 1, 2010.*

Instrument of Amendment No. 1 to the Restated and
Amended Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings and
Investment Plan, dated January 1, 2010.*

Instrument of Amendment No. 2 to the Restated and
Amended Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings and
Investment Plan, dated January 1, 2010.*

Instrument of Amendment No. 3 to the Restated and
Amended Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings and
Investment Plan, dated January 1, 2010.*

Instrument of Amendment No. 4 to the Restated and
Amended Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings and
Investment Plan, dated January 1, 2010.*

Instrument of Amendment No. 5 to the Restated and
Amended Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings and
Investment Plan, dated January 1, 2010.*

Instrument of Amendment No. 6 to the Restated and
Amended Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings and
Investment Plan, dated January 1, 2010.*

Form of indemnification Agreement entered into bg t
Registrant with each of its directors.

Amended and Restated Curtiss-Wright Electro-Meatadni
Corporation Savings Plan, dated January 1, 2010.*

Instrument of Amendment No.1 to the Amended and

Restated Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Corgorat
Savings Plan, dated January 1, 2010, dated Jatyary

2010.*

Instrument of Amendment No. 2 to the Amended and
Restated Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Corgorat
Savings Plan, dated January 1, 2010, dated Jatuary
2010.*

Instrument of Amendment No.3 to the Amended and

Restated Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Corgorat
Savings Plan, dated January 1, 2010, dated Jatyary

2010.*
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10-K

10-K

-K'10

10-K

10-K

10-K

10-K

10-Q

10-K

10-K

10-K

10-K

February13

February13

February 25, 2011

February 25, 2011

February 24, 2012

February 24, 2012

February 21, 2013

May 7, 2012

February 25, 2011

February 24, 2012

February 21, 2013

February 21, 2013




10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39

10.40

10.41

10.42

Instrument of Amendment No.4 to the Amended and

Restated Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Corgorat
Savings Plan, dated January 1, 2010, dated Jatyary

2010.*

Curtiss-Wright Corporation 2005 Stock Plan for Non-
Employee Directors.*

Amended and Revised Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended
November 2006.*

Instrument of Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and
Revised Curtiss-Wright Corporation Executive Deddrr
Compensation Plan, as amended August 2008.*

Change In Control Severance Protection Agreemeai¢dd
July 9, 2001, between the Registrant and Chief e
Officer of the Registrant.*

Letter Agreement dated March 20, 2012 between Regt
and Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant *

Standard Change In Control Severance Protection
Agreement, dated July 9, 2001, between the Regtsarad
Key Executives of the Registrant.*

Trust Agreement, dated January 20, 1998, betwesen th
Registrant and PNC Bank, National Association.*

Curtiss-Wright Corporation Employee Stock Purchase
Plan.*

Note Purchase Agreement between the Registrant and
certain Institutional Investors, dated September2®93.

Restrictive Legends on Notes subject to Note P@seha
Agreement between the Registrant and certain listital
Investors, dated September 25, 2003.

Note Purchase Agreement between the Registrant and
certain Institutional Investors, dated Decembe2QD5.

Restrictive Legends on Notes subject to Note P@&ha
Agreement between the Registrant and certain listital
Investors, dated December 1, 2005.

Note Purchase Agreement between the Registrant and
certain Institutional Investors, dated Decembet(g,1.

Restrictive Legends on Notes subject to Note Peeha
Agreement between the Registrant and certain lnistital
Investors, dated December 8, 2011.

Note Purchase Agreement between the Registrant and
certain Institutional Investors, dated February 251 3.

Restrictive Legends on Notes subject to Note Peeha
Agreement between the Registrant and certain lnistital
Investors, dated February 26, 2013.

Incentive Compensation Plan, as amended November 15

2010. *
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14A

10-K

K 10-

10-Q

8-K

10-Q
10-Q
14A

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

14A

April 5, 2005

February 27, 2007

February 24, 2012

Novembér, 2001

March 23, 2012

Nmber 15, 2001
May 13, 1998
March 24, 2011

October 3, 2003

tolazr 3, 2003

December 5, 2005

bes 5, 2005

December 13, 2011

b 13, 2011

February 27, 2013

ricaty 27, 2013

March 24, 2011




10.43

10.44

10.45
21

23

31.1

31.2

32

101.INS
101.SCH

101.CAL

101.DEF
101.LAB

101.PRE

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, dated Octobel0962

by and between the Registrant and David Adams. * 8-K
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, dated Octobe2P8y,
by and between the Registrant and David Adams. * 8-K

Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement datexd a

August 9, 2012 among the Registrant, and Certain

Subsidiaries as Borrowers; the Lenders partiegtoer

Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent;

Swingline Lender, and L/C Issuer; J.P. Morgan Chase

Bank, N.A., and Wells Fargo, N.A., as SyndicatiogeAts;

and RBS Citizens, N.A., as Documentation Agent 8-K

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm.

Certification of David C. Adams, President and CEO,
Pursuant to Rule 13a - 14(a).

Certification of Glenn E. Tynan, Chief Financialfioér,
Pursuant to Rule 13a - 14(a).

Certification of David C. Adams, President and C&@
Glenn E. Tynan, Chief Financial Officer, Pursuani8
U.S.C. Section 1350.

Indicates contract or compensatory plaamangement

XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Dasntm

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label LinideaDocument

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Document
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CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION and SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE Il — VALUATION and QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 2ahd
(In thousands)

Additions
Balance at Chargedto Charged to Other

Beginning of Costs and Accounts Deductions Balance at
Description Period Expenses (Describe) (Describe) End of Period
Deducted from assets to which they apply:
December 31, 2013
Reserves for inventory obsolescence $ 50,33: $ 16,29: $ 771 o % 1299 © $ 54,40(
Reserves for doubtful accounts 7,01 4,03¢ 327 @ 4,521 © 6,857
Tax valuation allowance 8,531 (1,89¢) (319 = — 6,321
Total $ 65,877 $ 18,43 $ 784 $ 17,51¢ $ 67,57¢
December 31, 2012
Reserves for inventory obsolescence $ 48,547 % 11,84: $ 3,11: »  $ 13,16¢ ©  $ 50,33:
Reserves for doubtful accounts 6,88( 5,301 557 ® 5,72t © 7,01z
Tax valuation allowance 5,51¢ 1,66t 1,346 » — 8,531
Total $ 60,94 $ 18,80¢ $ 5,01¢ $ 18,89: $ 65,87"
December 31, 2011
Reserves for inventory obsolescence $ 41,59¢ $ 12,03¢ $ 1,946 » % 7,038 © $ 48,54’
Reserves for doubtful accounts 3,97 4,25¢ 83€ ® 2,18¢ © 6,88(
Tax valuation allowance 4,97¢ 432 11z = — 5,51¢
Total $ 50,54: $ 16,72¢  $ 2,89¢ $ 9,221 $ 60,94!
Notes:

A. Primarily foreign currency translation adjustme
B. Write-off and sale of obsolete inventc
C. Write-off of bad debt and collections on previously resdraccount
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 16{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regigthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduaty authorized.

CURTISSWRIGHT CORPORATION
(Registrant)

Date:  February 21, 2014 __ By: /s/ DavidAdams
David C. Adams
President and CEO

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed belpihe following persons on behalf of
Registrant and in the capacities and on the dathsdted.

Date: February 21, 2014 __ By: /s/ Glenn #ndn
Glenn E. Tynan
Chief Financial Officer

Date: February 21, 2014 __ By: /s/ Glenn @Gala
Glenn Coleman
Controller

Date: February 21, 2014 __ By: /s/ MartinBRnante
Martin R. Benante
Executive Chairman and Director

Date: February 21, 2014 __ By: /s/ Dean Natt-
Dean M. Flatt
Director

Date: February 21, 2014 __ By: /s/ S. Maruabdf
S. Marce Fuller
Director
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CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
RETIREMENT PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2010

FIFTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

Recitals:

Curtiss-Wright Corporation (the “Company”) has heretofore adopted the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement

Plan (the “Plan”) and has caused the Plan to be amended and restated in its entirety effective as of January 1,

2010.

The Plan consists of two separate components: the EMD Component, which applies to eligible employees of

Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Corporation as provided in the EMD appendix to the Plan (the "EMD

Component”), and the CWC Component, which applies to other employees eligible to participate in the Plan (the

“CWC Component”).

Subsequent to the most recent amendment and restatement of the Plan, the Company has decided to amend

the CWC Component for the following reasons:

a. To reflect the terms of a new collective bargaining agreement covering employees of the Company’s
MIC Vernon operations that increases their benefit formula with respect to credited service earned on or
after January 1, 2013;

b. To confirm that employees at the Company’s recently acquired Williams Controls, Inc. operations and
facilities are not eligible to participate in the Plan while employed at such operations and facilities;

c. To confirm that employees at the Company’s recently acquired Exlar Corporation operations and
facilities are not eligible to participate in the Plan while employed at such operations and facilities;

d. To provide that certain former employees of F.W. Gartner Thermal Spraying, Ltd. receive prior service
credit for eligibility and vesting purposes;

e. To make clarifying changes that correct a certain cross-reference;

f. To provide for the cessation of pay-based credits to the cash balance portion of the CWC Component
after December 31, 2013; and

g. To provide for the cessation of accruals to the final average pay portion of the CWC Component after

December 31, 2028.
Subsequent to the most recent amendment and restatement of the Plan, the Company has decided to amend
the EMD Component to provide that the accrual of benefits under the career accumulation method for
participants other than collectively bargained employees will cease after December 31, 2028.
Articles 12.01 and 12.02 of the CWC Component permit the Company to amend the CWC Component, by
written resolution, at any time and from time to time.
Article 11.02(b) of the CWC Component authorizes the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Administrative Committee
(the “Administrative Committee”) to adopt certain CWC Component amendments on behalf of the Company.
Section 18.A of the EMD Component permits the Company, acting by written resolution of its Board of Directors
(the “Board”) or a duly authorized delegate of the Board, to amend the EMD Component at any time and from
time to time.
Section 12.B.2 of the EMD Component authorizes the Administrative Committee to adopt certain EMD
Component amendments on behalf of the Company.




Amendment;:

For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby amended in the following
respects:

CWC Component

The CWC Component is amended as follows:

1.

Effective January 1, 2014, Article 1.06 (’Average Compensation
the end thereof, to read as follows:

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Article 1.06, for purposes of Article 6.01(b) a Participant’s
Average Compensation shall not include any amount paid on or after January 1, 2029.

) is amended by adding a new paragraph at

Effective January 1, 2014, Article 1.13 (““Covered Compensation
end thereof, to read as follows:

The Covered Compensation of a Participant for any Plan Year beginning after December 31, 2028 shall be
determined in accordance with the tables published in the Revenue Ruling issued by the Internal Revenue
Service that provides such tables for the 2028 Plan Year.

) is amended by adding a new sentence at the

Effective January 1, 2014, Article 2.01(a) (“Eligibility for Participation”) is amended by adding a new paragraph
at the end thereof, to read as follows:

Notwithstanding any provision hereof to the contrary, no Employee shall become eligible to accrue benefits
under Article 4 of the Plan on or after January 1, 2014.

Effective January 1, 2014, Article 4.02 (“Pay Based Credits”) is amended and restated in its entirety to read as
follows:
4.02 Pay Based Credits

For each Plan Year beginning on or before January 1, 2013 during which an Escalating Annuity Benefit is in
effect, there shall be credited to the Cash Balance Account of each Participant three percent (3%) of the
Participant's Compensation earned during that Plan Year, such amount being credited as of the first day of the
Plan Year. In no event shall any amount be credited to the Cash Balance Account of a Participant for any Plan
Year beginning on or after January 1, 2014.

Effective January 1, 2014, Article 6.01(b) (“Service After August 31, 1994") is amended and restated in its
entirety to read as follows:
(b)  Service After August 31, 1994.

The Normal Retirement Benefit attributable to Service after August 31, 1994 shall be equal to one and
one-half percent (1¥2%) of Average Compensation in excess of Covered Compensation multiplied by the
Participant’'s total number of Years of Credited Service after August 31, 1994, and on or before
December 31, 2028, up to a maximum of 35 years, plus one percent (1%) of Average Compensation up
to Covered Compensation multiplied by the Participant’s total number of Years of Credited Service after
August 31, 1994, and on or before December 31, 2028, up to a maximum of 35 years. In no event shall
any Years of Credited Service be credited for purposes of this paragraph (b) for any period of
employment on or after January 1, 2029.




6. Effective January 1, 2013, Article 9.02(a)(vii) (“Metal Improvement Company, LLC - Vernon Division”) of the
CWC Component is amended by adding new paragraph (H) at the end thereof to read as follows:
(H) With benefits commencing on and after January 1, 2013, $19.00 multiplied by his years of credited
service on and after January 1, 2013, for any pension payments due for months commencing on and
after January 1, 2013.

7. Effective January 1, 2013, Schedule B of the CWC Component is amended by revising the title thereof to read
as follows:
SCHEDULE B: RETIREMENT PLAN RATES IN FORCE FOR PURPOSES OF ARTICLE 6.11(B)(I1)(D)

8. Effective January 1, 2013, Schedule J of the CWC Component is amended by adding new paragraphs 50, 51,
and 52 at the end thereof to read, respectively, as follows:
50. Williams Controls, Inc.

Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan to the contrary, an Employee at the operations and facilities that were
acquired by Curtiss-Wright Corporation in its acquisition of Williams Controls, Inc. on December 14, 2012, shall
not be eligible to participate in and accrue any benefits under the Plan while employed at such operations and
facilities.

51. Exlar Corporation

Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan to the contrary, an Employee at the operations and facilities that were
acquired by Curtiss-Wright Corporation in its acquisition of Exlar Corporation on January 2, 2013, shall not be
eligible to participate in and accrue any benefits under the Plan while employed at such operations or facilities.

52. F.W. Gartner Thermal Spraying, Ltd.

(@) Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan to the contrary, the following rules shall apply to an
Employee hired on January 3, 2013, whose immediate prior service was with F.W. Gartner
Thermal Spraying, Ltd. or an affiliate thereof (“Gartner”) and who was employed by such entity at
such date:

(1) Such an Employee shall be eligible to participate in the Plan following the date he or she
completes his or her Year of Eligibility Service, which Year of Eligibility Service shall
include such prior service, and shall remain eligible so long as he or she continues to
satisfy the eligibility requirements in Article 2.01, provided, however, that such an
Employee shall not accrue any benefits under the Plan, except for benefits determined in
accordance with Article 4.

(i) For purposes of determining Vesting Years of Service, vesting service shall commence
with his or her most recent date of hire with Gartner immediately prior to its acquisition by
Curtiss-Wright Corporation.

(b) Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan to the contrary, an Employee at the Gartner operations
and facilities acquired by the Company, who is not an Employee described in paragraph (a), shall
be eligible to become a Participant in accordance with Article 2.01, but shall not accrue any
benefits under the Plan, except for benefits determined in accordance with Article 4.

EMD Component




The EMD Component is amended as follows:
Effective January 1, 2014, Section 1.13 (“Credited Service”) is amended by adding new category F, to read as follows:
F. For purposes of Section 4.A.1.(c), an Employee described in Section 1.18(i) shall not be credited with

Credited Service for periods of service or hours worked, whichever is applicable, subsequent to
December 31, 2028.

Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been executed on this day of , 2013.

Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Administrative Committee

By:

Date:



CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
RETIREMENT PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2010

SIXTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

Recitals:

1.

4,

5.

Curtiss-Wright Corporation (the “Company”) has heretofore adopted the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement
Plan (the “Plan”) and has caused the Plan to be amended and restated in its entirety effective as of January 1,
2010.

The Plan consists of two separate components: the EMD Component, which applies to eligible employees of
Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Corporation as provided in the EMD appendix to the Plan, and the CWC
Component, which applies to other employees eligible to participate in the Plan (the “CWC Component”).
Subsequent to the most recent amendment and restatement of the Plan, the Company has decided to amend
the CWC Component to reflect the terms of a hew collective bargaining agreement covering employees of Metal
Improvement Company - Lynwood Division that increases their benefit formula with respect to credited service
earned on or after August 1, 2013.

Articles 12.01 and 12.02 of the CWC Component permit the Company to amend the CWC Component, by
written resolution, at any time and from time to time.

Article 11.02(b) of the CWC Component authorizes the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Administrative Committee to
adopt certain CWC Component amendments on behalf of the Company.

Amendment;:

For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to this Instrument of Amendment, the CWC Component of the Plan is hereby
amended in the following respect:

Effective August 1, 2013, Section 9.02(a)(xi) (“Metal Improvement Company - Lynwood Division”) is amended by
adding new subparagraphs (E), (F) and (G), to read, respectively, as follows:

(E)

(F)

(G)

With benefits commencing on or after August 1, 2013, $18.00 multiplied by his Years of Credited Service on or
after August 1, 2013, for any pension payments due for months commencing on or after August 1, 2013.

With benefits commencing on or after August 1, 2014, $19.00 multiplied by his Years of Credited Service on or
after August 1, 2014, for any pension payments due for months commencing on or after August 1, 2014.

With benefits commencing on or after August 1, 2015, $20.00 multiplied by his Years of Credited Service on or
after August 1, 2015, for any pension payments due for months commencing on or after August 1, 2015.




Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been executed on this day of , 2013.

Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Administrative Committee

By:

Date:



CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
RETIREMENT PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2010

SEVENTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

Recitals:

1.

4,

5.

Curtiss-Wright Corporation (the “Company”) has heretofore adopted the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement
Plan (the “Plan”) and has caused the Plan to be amended and restated in its entirety effective as of January 1,
2010.

The Plan consists of two separate components: the EMD Component, which applies to eligible employees of
Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Corporation as provided in the EMD appendix to the Plan, and the CWC
Component, which applies to other employees eligible to participate in the Plan (the “CWC Component”).
Subsequent to the most recent amendment and restatement of the Plan, the Company has decided to amend
the CWC Component to provide that employees will not earn benefits after their transfer from a nonrepresented
position to a represented position covered by a collective bargaining agreement that does not provide for
coverage under the Plan.

Articles 12.01 and 12.02 of the CWC Component permit the Company to amend the CWC Component, by
written resolution, at any time and from time to time.

Article 11.02(b) of the CWC Component authorizes the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Administrative Committee to
adopt certain CWC Component amendments on behalf of the Company.

Amendment;:

For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to this Instrument of Amendment, the CWC Component of the Plan is hereby
amended in the following respects:

1.

Effective January 1, 2014, Article 2.01 is amended by adding the following paragraph (i) to read as follows:

0] An Employee who has transferred from a nonrepresented position to a position represented by a union
that has not negotiated a benefit under this Plan pursuant to the provisions of Article 16(d)(i)(A) after
December 31, 2013 shall not be eligible to accrue benefits in accordance with the provisions of Article 6
on or after the date of such transfer.

Effective January 1, 2014, Article 16(d)(i)(A) is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

(A) Credited Service for Benefit Accrual Purposes . All service with the Company or an Affiliated Company in
such transferred position shall be included in determining the Employee’s years of Credited Service for
purposes of determining the amount of the Employee’s benefit under Article 6 except that any service
rendered while the Employee is eligible to accrue benefits under Article 9, would be eligible to accrue
benefits under Article 9 but for the fact that his employment is covered by a collective bargaining
agreement to which the Company is a party and that does not provide for coverage under the Plan or is
eligible to participate in another qualified defined benefit pension plan shall be excluded.




Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been executed on this day of , 2013.

Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Administrative Committee

By:

Date:



Recitals:

1.

CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
SAVINGS AND INVESTMENT PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2010

FIFTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

Curtiss-Wright Corporation (the “Company”) has heretofore adopted the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings
and Investment Plan (the “Plan™) and has caused the Plan to be amended and restated in its entirety effective
as of January 1, 2010.

Subsequent to the most recent amendment and restatement of the Plan, the Company has decided to amend
the Plan for the following reasons (capitalized terms used but not defined herein are as defined in the Plan):

a.

To provide that any employee of AP Services, LLC (“AP") who became an Employee under the Plan as
of November 5, 2012, and any other eligible Employee who is employed by the Company on or before
December 31, 2012, at the operations and facilities that were acquired by the Company from AP, will be
eligible to enroll in the Plan on the first day of any payroll period beginning on or after January 1, 2013,
and will be covered by the Plan’s Automatic Contribution Arrangement;

To provide that any Employees who were acquired from AP will receive eligibility and vesting credit
under the Plan for their prior service with AP, based on their most recent date of hire with AP prior to
November 5, 2012;

To provide for the merger of the AP Services, LLC Employees Profit Sharing Plan into the Plan effective
on or about July 1, 2013;

To provide that any employee of Cimarron Energy Inc. (“Cimarron”) who became an Employee under the
Plan as of November 26, 2012, and any other eligible Employee who is employed by the Company on or
before March 31, 2013, at the operations and facilities that were acquired by the Company from
Cimarron (“Cimarron Employees”), will be eligible to enroll in the Plan on the first day of any payroll
period beginning on or after April 1, 2013, and will not be covered by the Plan’s Automatic Contribution
Arrangement;

To provide that Cimarron Employees will be eligible to receive discretionary Matching Contributions not
exceeding 100% of the first 2% of the Cimarron Employee’s Deferred Cash Contributions, Roth Deferred
Cash Contributions, and/or After-Tax Contributions under the Plan, which Matching Contributions will be
subject to a five-year graded vesting schedule (20% per year of Vesting Service) but with 100% vesting
if their employment terminates due to death or Disability or after they attain age 65;

To provide that any Employees who were acquired from Cimarron will receive eligibility and vesting
credit under the Plan for their prior service with Cimarron, based on their most recent date of hire with
Cimarron prior to November 26, 2012;

To provide for the merger of the Cimarron Energy Inc. Retirement Savings Plan into the Plan effective on
or about October 1, 2013; and

To provide that hardship withdrawals on or after May 6, 2013, will be permitted only if Members satisfy
certain “safe harbor” criteria established by the Internal Revenue Service.

Section 12.01(a) of the Plan permits the Company to amend the Plan at any time and from time to time.




4. Section 12.01(b) authorizes the Administrative Committee to adopt Plan amendments on behalf of the Company
under certain circumstances.

5. Certain of the Plan amendments described herein shall be subject to approval by the Board of Directors.
Amendments to the Plan:

1. Effective January 1, 2013, the first paragraph of the Preamble is amended by adding a new sentence at the end
thereof to read as follows:
The Plan is also a continuation of certain other plans which have been merged with and into the Plan from time
to time.

2. Effective April 1, 2013, Section 1.32 is amended in its entirety to read as follows:
1.32 “Matching Contributions ” means (a) amounts contributed pursuant to Section 3.07(a) prior to
September 1, 1994, at which time such Matching Contributions ceased, and (b) Employer contributions
described in Appendix A that constitute matching contributions within the meaning of Code Section 401
(m)(4) and Treasury regulations thereunder. The term “Matching Contributions” shall also refer to
amounts transferred to the Plan in a transaction described in Section 12.02 that had been accounted for
as matching contributions under the terms of the transferor plan.

3. Effective January 1, 2013, Section 1.37 is amended by adding a new sentence at the end thereof to read as
follows:
The Plan is also a continuation of certain other plans which have been merged with and into the Plan from time
to time.

4. Effective January 1, 2013, Section 2.01(b) is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

(b) Employees who were formerly employed by entities that were acquired, or are employed at any
operations or facilities that were acquired, by the Employer shall be eligible to participate in the Plan
from the date of such acquisition except as otherwise may be provided in Appendix A, and shall be
subject to the special eligibility rules (if any) set forth in Appendix A with respect to such Employees.

5. Effective April 1, 2013, Section 2.06(c) is amended by adding a new subparagraph (iii) at the end thereof to read
as follows:
(iii) Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, no Employee employed by an Employer at the
operations and facilities that were acquired by Curtiss-Wright Corporation in its acquisition of Cimarron
Energy Inc. shall be eligible to become a Covered Member.

6. Effective April 1, 2013, Section 3.07 is amended in its entirety to read as follows:
3.07 Employer Matching Contributions

(@) The Employer contributed, until August 31, 1994, on behalf of each of its Members who elected
to make After-Tax Contributions, Matching Contributions in an amount equal to 50% of the first
6% of the After-Tax Contributions made by the Member to the Plan during each payroll period.

(b) From and after September 1, 1994, no Matching Contributions shall be made to the Plan except
as otherwise specified in Appendix A.




Effective April 1, 2013, Section 3.11 is amended by adding a new subsection (d) at the end thereof to read as
follows:

(d)

Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 6, if any Deferred Cash Contributions (including Roth Deferred
Cash Contributions) are distributed to a Highly Compensated Employee pursuant to this Section 3.11,
any Matching Contributions which were credited to such Member's Employer Account in accordance
with Section 3.07 as a result of such Deferred Cash Contributions (including Roth Deferred Cash
Contributions) having been contributed to the Plan shall be forfeited immediately and applied to reduce
Employer contributions or to pay the expenses of the Plan not paid directly by the Employer.

Effective April 1, 2013, the third paragraph of Section 3.12 is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

The Administrative Committee may implement rules limiting the After-Tax Contributions and/or Matching
Contributions which may be made by or on behalf of some or all Highly Compensated Employees so that this
limitation is satisfied. If the Administrative Committee determines that the limitation under this Section 3.12 has
been exceeded in any Plan Year, the following provisions shall apply:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

The actual contribution ratio of the Highly Compensated Employee with the highest actual contribution
ratio shall be reduced to the extent necessary to meet the test or to cause such ratio to equal the actual
contribution ratio of the Highly Compensated Employee with the next highest actual contribution ratio.
This process will be repeated until the actual contribution percentage test is passed. Each ratio shall be
rounded to the nearest one one-hundredth of one percent (0.01%) of a Member's Statutory
Compensation. The amount of After-Tax Contributions and Matching Contributions, if any, made by or
on behalf of each Highly Compensated Employee in excess of the amount permitted under his revised
actual contribution ratio shall be added together. This total dollar amount of excess contributions
(“excess aggregate contributions”) shall then be allocated to some or all Highly Compensated
Employees in accordance with the provisions of paragraph (b) below.

The After-Tax Contributions and Matching Contributions, if any, of the Highly Compensated Employee
with the highest dollar amount of such contributions shall be reduced by the lesser of (i) the amount
required to cause that Employee’s After-Tax Contributions and Matching Contributions, if any, to equal
the dollar amount of such contributions of the Highly Compensated Employee with the next highest
dollar amount of such contributions, or (ii) an amount equal to the total excess aggregate contributions.
This procedure is repeated until all excess aggregate contributions are allocated. The amount of excess
aggregate contributions allocated to each Highly Compensated Employee, together with Earnings
thereon, shall be distributed to the Member. A Highly Compensated Employee who has had the total of
his After-Tax Contributions and Matching Contributions, if any, reduced in accordance with this Section
3.12 shall have the amount of such reduction applied first to his After-Tax Contributions for the Plan Year
and then, to the extent necessary, to his Matching Contributions for the Plan Year.

Any payment of excess aggregate contributions shall be made before the close of the Plan Year
following the Plan Year for which the excess aggregate contributions were made, and, to the extent
practicable, any payment shall be made within 2% months after the close of the Plan Year in which the
excess aggregate contributions were made.

Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 6, if any After-Tax Contributions are distributed to a Highly
Compensated Employee pursuant to this Section 3.12, any Matching Contributions which were credited
to such Member’'s Employer Account in accordance with Section 3.07 as a result of such After-Tax
Contributions having been contributed to the Plan shall be




forfeited immediately and applied to reduce Employer contributions or to pay the expenses of the Plan
not paid directly by the Employer.

9. Effective January 1, 2013, Section 6.02 is amended in its entirety to read as follows:
6.02 Employer Account

(@)

(b)

()

(i) As of December 31 of each year prior to January 1, 1995 a Member shall become
vested with respect to 25% of the value of the total Matching Contributions made in his
behalf for that portion of the year. As of each succeeding December 31, prior to January
1, 1998 such Member shall become vested with respect to an additional 25% of the value
of such Matching Contributions until, on December 31 of the third calendar year following
the year for which the Matching Contributions were made, such Member shall become
vested in 100% of the value of such Matching Contributions made on his behalf.

(i) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a)(i) above, a Member shall be 100%
vested in, and have a nonforfeitable right to, such Matching Contributions upon death
(including death while performing qualified military service, pursuant to the Heroes
Earnings Assistance and Relief Tax Act of 2008), Disability, or the attainment of his 65th
birthday.

The extent to which a Member who was formerly employed by an entity that was acquired by the
Employer, or who is employed by the Employer at the operations and facilities that were acquired
by the Employer from another entity, shall become vested with respect to the value of Matching
Contributions, if any, made in his behalf that are described in Appendix A shall be determined in
accordance with the applicable provisions of Appendix A.

For purposes of this Section 6.02, the “value” of Matching Contributions shall mean the amount
of Matching Contributions adjusted for an allocable share of earnings, losses, and expenses in
accordance with Section 5.01(a)(iv), as of each December 31.

10. Effective May 6, 2013, Section 7.04 is amended in its entirety to read as follows:
7.04 Hardship Withdrawal

(@)

(b)

A Member who has withdrawn the total amount available for withdrawal under the preceding
Sections of this Article may, subject to Section 7.05, elect to withdraw not more than once in a
Plan Year all or part of the Deferred Cash Contributions (including Catch-Up Contributions, Roth
Deferred Cash Contributions and Roth Catch-Up Contributions) made on his behalf to his
Deferred Account (his Catch-Up Account, his Roth Deferred Cash Contribution Account and his
Roth Catch-Up Account) upon furnishing proof of “Hardship” satisfactory to the Administrative
Committee or its designee in accordance with the provisions of paragraphs (b) and (c) below.

As a condition for Hardship, there must exist with respect to the Member an immediate and
heavy financial need to draw upon his Accounts.

@ Such immediate and heavy financial need shall exist only if the requested withdrawal is
on account of any of the following:

(A) expenses for (or necessary to obtain) medical care that would be deductible under
Section 213(d) of the Code (determined without regard to whether the expenses
exceed 7.5 percent of adjusted gross income);




(€)

(ii)

(iii)

(B) costs directly related to the purchase of a principal residence of the Member
(excluding mortgage payments);

© payment of tuition and related educational fees, and room and board expenses,
for the next 12 months of post-secondary education of the Member, his spouse,
children, or dependents (as defined in Section 152 of the Code and determined
without regard to Sections 152(b)(1), (b)(2) and (d)(1)(B) of the Code);

(D) payment of amounts necessary to prevent eviction of the Member from his
principal residence or to avoid foreclosure on the mortgage of his principal
residence;

(E) payments for burial or funeral expenses for the Member's deceased parent,
spouse, children, or dependents (as defined in Section 152 of the Code and
without regard to Section 152(d)(1)(B) of the Code); or

(3] expenses for the repair of damages to the Member's principal residence that
would qualify for the casualty deduction under Section 165 of the Code
(determined without regard to whether the loss exceeds 10 percent of the
Member’s adjusted gross income).

The amount of withdrawal may not be in excess of the amount of the immediate and
heavy financial need of the Member, including any amounts necessary to pay any
Federal, state, or local income taxes or penalties reasonably anticipated to result from the
distribution.

The Member shall furnish to the Administrative Committee or its designee such
supporting documents as the Administrative Committee or its designee may request in
accordance with uniform and nondiscriminatory rules prescribed by the Administrative
Committee or its designee.

As a condition for Hardship, the Member must demonstrate that the requested withdrawal is
necessary to satisfy the financial need described in paragraph (b) above. To demonstrate such
necessity, the Member must comply with the following requirements:

(i)

The Member must request, on such form as the Administrative Committee or its designee
shall prescribe, that the Administrative Committee or its designee make its determination
of the necessity for the withdrawal solely on the basis of his application. In that event, the
Administrative Committee or its designee shall make such determination, provided all of
the following requirements are met:

(A) the Member has obtained all distributions, other than distributions available only
on account of hardship, and all nontaxable loans currently available under all
plans of the Employer and Affiliated Employers, provided that the Administrative
Committee or its designee determines that the effect of obtaining such loan would
not be to increase the amount of the financial need described in paragraph (b)
above; and




(B) the Member is prohibited from making Deferred Cash Contributions, Catch-Up
Contributions, Roth Deferred Cash Contributions, Roth Catch-Up Contributions,
and After-Tax Contributions to the Plan for six months, and to all other plans of the
Employer and Affiliated Employers under the terms of such plans or by means of
an otherwise legally enforceable agreement for at least six months, after receipt of
the distribution.

For purposes of clause (B), “all other plans of the Employer and Affiliated Employers”
shall include stock option plans, stock purchase plans, qualified and nonqualified deferred
compensation plans, and such other plans as may be designated under regulations
issued under Section 401(k) of the Code, but shall not include health and welfare benefit
plans or the mandatory employee contribution portion of a defined benefit plan.

11. Effective January 1, 2013, Appendix A is amended by adding paragraph 25 to read as follows:
25. AP Services, LLC

(a)

(b)

Each employee of AP Services, LLC (“AP") who became an Employee as of November 5, 2012,
and any other eligible Employee who is thereafter employed by the Employer on or before
December 31, 2012, at the operations and facilities that were acquired by the Employer from AP,
shall be eligible to become a Member on any Enroliment Date on or after January 1, 2013, and
shall be subject to the provisions of Section 2.06(a) as of such date (such employees are
hereinafter referred to as “AP Employees”). Each AP Employee shall remain eligible so long as
he continues to satisfy the eligibility requirements. Each other eligible Employee who is not
employed by the Employer until on or after January 1, 2013, at the operations and facilities that
were acquired by the Employer from AP shall be eligible to become a Member and shall remain
eligible in accordance with the Plan’s eligibility requirements.

For purposes of determining Years of Eligibility Service and Vesting Service with respect to any
AP Employee who became an Employee on November 5, 2012, whose immediate prior service
was with AP or an affiliate thereof, and who was employed by such entity at such acquisition
date, service shall commence with his or her most recent date of hire with such entity
immediately prior to such acquisition date.

12. Effective April 1, 2013, Appendix A is amended by adding paragraph 26 to read as follows:
26. Cimarron Energy Inc.

(@)

(b)

Each employee of Cimarron Energy Inc. (“Cimarron”) who became an Employee as of November
26, 2012, and any other eligible Employee who is thereafter employed by the Employer on or
before March 31, 2013, at the operations and facilities that were acquired by the Employer from
Cimarron, shall be eligible to become a Member on any Enroliment Date on or after April 1, 2013
(such employees are hereinafter referred to as “Cimarron Employees”). Each Cimarron
Employee shall remain eligible so long as he continues to satisfy the eligibility requirements.
Each other eligible Employee who is not employed by the Employer until on or after April 1, 2013,
at the operations and facilities that were acquired by the Employer from Cimarron shall be eligible
to become a Member and shall remain eligible in accordance with the Plan’s eligibility
requirements.

For purposes of determining Years of Eligibility Service and Vesting Service with respect to any
Cimarron Employee who became an Employee on November 26, 2012, whose immediate prior
service was with Cimarron or an affiliate thereof, and




(©)

(d)

(e)

(f)

who was employed by such entity at such acquisition date, service shall commence with his or
her most recent date of hire with such entity immediately prior to such acquisition date.
The Employer may make special contributions to the Plan on account of a Plan Year
commencing on or after January 1, 2013, in an amount to be determined by the Employer, on
behalf of each Member who is a Cimarron Employee and who has made Deferred Cash
Contributions, Roth Deferred Cash Contributions, and/or After-Tax Contributions during that Plan
Year (the “Discretionary Match Contribution”). The Discretionary Match Contribution shall not
exceed 100% of the first 2% of the Deferred Cash Contributions, Roth Deferred Cash
Contributions, and/or After-Tax Contributions made by the Member during each payroll period in
that Plan Year. The Discretionary Match Contribution, if any, shall be paid to the Trustee as and
when determined by the Employer, but no later than the time (including extensions) prescribed by
law for the filing of the Employer's Federal income tax return for the year for which the
contributions are made.
The Discretionary Match Contribution, if any, for a particular Plan Year shall be a specified
percentage (as determined by the Employer) of the Deferred Cash Contributions, Roth Deferred
Cash Contributions, and/or After-Tax Contributions made by or on behalf of each eligible
Cimarron Employee pursuant to Sections 3.01, 3.02, 3.04, and/or 3.05 during each payroll period
in that Plan Year. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Discretionary Match Contribution made for
the period April 1, 2013, through December 31, 2013, shall be based solely on the Member's
Deferred Cash Contributions, Roth Deferred Cash Contributions, and/or After-Tax Contributions
made during that period. Discretionary Match Contributions, if any, shall first be made with
respect to Deferred Cash Contributions, and Roth Deferred Cash Contributions, then with respect
to After-Tax Contributions.
The Administrative Committee shall establish such separate subaccounts within the Employer
Account as may be necessary to properly account for the Discretionary Match Contribution (the
“Cimarron Match Subaccounts”).
(i)  Subject to subparagraph (f)(ii) below, a Cimarron Employee will become vested in
amounts credited to his Cimarron Match Subaccount in accordance with the following
schedule:
Years of Vesting Service  Vested Percentage
Lessthan1l 0%
1butlessthan2 20%
2butlessthan3 40%
3butlessthan4 60%
4 butlessthan5 80%
5o0rmore 100%

(i) For purposes of this paragraph 26, an Employee shall be credited with a year of Vesting
Service for each Plan Year in which the Employee completes at least 1,000 Hours of
Service.

(iii) Notwithstanding subparagraph (i) above, a Cimarron Employee shall become fully vested
(if not otherwise) in his Cimarron Match Subaccount upon (A) his death while employed
by the Employer or an Affiliated Employer (including death while performing qualified
military service, pursuant to the Heroes Earnings Assistance and Relief Tax Act of 2008);
(B) his Disability, or (C) his attainment of age 65 while employed by the Employer or an
Affiliated Employer.
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(9) The Discretionary Match Contribution shall be included in performing the contribution percentage
test under Section 3.12 in accordance with applicable law.
(h) The Administrative Committee shall adopt such rules of administration uniformly applicable to all
employees similarly situated as it deems necessary to administer the provisions of this paragraph
26 in accordance with applicable law.
The AP Services, LLC Employees Profit Sharing Plan (the “AP Plan”) shall be and hereby is merged with and
into the Plan effective on or about July 1, 2013, with the surviving plan being the Plan. Accounts transferred to
the Plan from the AP Plan shall initially be invested in the Investment Fund designated by the Administrative
Committee, which shall be the Fidelity Freedom Fund selected on the basis of the Member’'s age. Any Member
may thereafter change the investment of his Accounts, including the transferred amounts, in accordance with
the Plan’s provisions relating to the investment of Members’ Accounts.
The Cimarron Energy Inc. Retirement Savings Plan (the “Cimarron Plan”) shall be and hereby is merged with
and into the Plan effective on or about October 1, 2013, with the surviving plan being the Plan. Accounts
transferred to the Plan from the Cimarron Plan shall initially be invested in the Investment Fund designated by
the Administrative Committee, which shall be the Fidelity Freedom Fund selected on the basis of the Member's
age. Any Member may thereafter change the investment of his Accounts, including the transferred amounts, in
accordance with the Plan’s provisions relating to the investment of Members’ Accounts.

Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been executed on this day of , 2013.

Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Administrative Committee

By:

Date:



Recitals:

1.

CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
SAVINGS AND INVESTMENT PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2010

SIXTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

Curtiss-Wright Corporation (the “Company”) has heretofore adopted the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings
and Investment Plan (the “Plan™) and has caused the Plan to be amended and restated in its entirety effective
as of January 1, 2010.

Subsequent to the most recent amendment and restatement of the Plan, the Company has decided to amend
the Plan with respect to nonunion Employees and those union Employees covered under the collective
bargaining agreement covering Employees of Williams Controls, Inc., effective January 1, 2014, for the following
reasons (capitalized terms used but not defined herein are as defined in the Plan):

a.

To provide that Employees hired on or after January 1, 2014 as regular, full-time Employees will be
eligible to enroll in the Plan on the first day of any payroll period on or after their date of hire; that part-
time and seasonal Employees hired on or after January 1, 2014 will become eligible to enroll in the Plan
as soon as administratively practical after they have completed a Year of Eligibility Service (completion
of at least 1,000 Hours of Service within a 12-month period); and that Temporary, Casual and Co-Op
Student Employees hired on or after January 1, 2014 will be excluded from participating in the Plan;

To provide that any Employees (i) who participated in only the cash balance portion of the CWC
Component of the Company’s Retirement Plan and for whom accruals ceased on December 31, 2013,
(i) hired as a result of certain acquisitions prior to January 1, 2014, or (iii) hired on or after January 1,
2014, will be eligible to have Matching Contributions equal to 50% of their Deferred Cash Contributions,
Roth Deferred Cash Contributions, and/or After-Tax Contributions that do not exceed 6% of their eligible
Compensation credited to their Accounts under the Plan each payroll period;

To provide that any Employees (i) who participated in only the cash balance portion of the CWC
Component of the Company’s Retirement Plan and for whom accruals ceased on December 31, 2013,
(i) hired as a result of certain acquisitions prior to January 1, 2014, or (iii) hired on or after January 1,
2014, will be eligible to have non-elective Employer contributions (“CW Savings Contributions”) credited
to their Accounts under the Plan in amounts to be determined annually by the Company for each Plan
Year as a percentage of Compensation (not to exceed 3%), provided that such Employees are actively
employed on the last day of the Plan Year and have completed a Year of Eligibility Service during the
Plan Year,;

To provide that Matching Contributions and CW Savings Contributions will be fully vested upon the
completion of 3 years of Vesting Service;

To provide that non-vested amounts attributable to Matching and/or CW Savings Contributions will be
forfeited at the earlier of (i) a Member’s receipt of a complete distribution of the vested portion of his
Accounts or (ii) 5 years following a Member’s termination of employment, during which time he was not
reemployed:;




f. To provide that deferrals under the Executive Deferred Compensation Plan for all employees are not
taken into account as eligible Compensation for Plan purposes;

g. To provide that any Employee at the operations and facilities that were acquired by the Company from
Cimarron Energy Inc. will be covered by the Plan’s Automatic Contribution Arrangement;
h. To provide that any Employee employed at the operations and facilities that were acquired by the

Company from Cimarron Energy Inc. for whom balances were transferred to the Plan on or about
October 1, 2013, as a result of the merger of the Cimarron Energy Inc. Retirement Savings Plan into the
Plan may elect to receive a partial lump sum distribution upon and any number of times after his
termination of employment;

i. To provide that any employee of Williams Controls, Inc (“Williams”) who became an Employee under the
Plan as of December 14, 2012, and any other eligible Employee who is employed by the Company on or
before December 31, 2013, at the operations and facilities that were acquired by the Company from
Williams, will be eligible to enroll in the Plan on the first day of any payroll period beginning on or after
January 1, 2014, and will be covered by the Plan’s Automatic Contribution Arrangement, and to provide
that any Employees who were acquired from Williams will receive eligibility and vesting credit under the
Plan for their prior service with Williams, based on their most recent date of hire with Williams prior to
December 14, 2012;

- To provide that any employee of Exlar Corporation (“Exlar”) who became an Employee under the Plan
as of January 2, 2013, and any other eligible Employee who is employed by the Company on or before
December 31, 2013, at the operations and facilities that were acquired by the Company from Exlar, will
be eligible to enroll in the Plan on the first day of any payroll period beginning on or after January 1,
2014, and will be covered by the Plan’s Automatic Contribution Arrangement, and to provide that any
Employees who were acquired from Exlar will receive eligibility and vesting credit under the Plan for their
prior service with Exlar, based on their most recent date of hire with Exlar prior to January 2, 2013;

k. To provide that any employee of Parvus Corporation (“Parvus”) who became an Employee under the
Plan as of October 1, 2013, and any other eligible Employee who is employed by the Company on or
before December 31, 2013, at the operations and facilities that were acquired by the Company from
Parvus, will be eligible to enroll in the Plan on the first day of any payroll period beginning on or after
January 1, 2014, and will be covered by the Plan’s Automatic Contribution Arrangement, and to provide
that any Employees who were acquired from Parvus will receive eligibility and vesting credit under the
Plan for their prior service with Parvus, based on their most recent date of hire with Parvus prior to
October 1, 2013; and
To provide that any employee of Arens Controls, LLC (“Arens”) who became an Employee under the
Plan as of October 7, 2013, and any other eligible Employee who is employed by the Company on or
before December 31, 2013, at the operations and facilities that were acquired by the Company from
Arens, will be eligible to enroll in the Plan on the first day of any payroll period beginning on or after
January 1, 2014, and will be covered by the Plan’s Automatic Contribution Arrangement, and to provide
that any Employees who were acquired from Arens will receive eligibility and vesting credit under the
Plan for their prior service with Arens, based on their most recent date of hire with Arens prior to October

7,2013.
3. Section 12.01(a) of the Plan permits the Company to amend the Plan at any time and from time to time.
4, Section 12.01(b) authorizes the Administrative Committee to adopt Plan amendments on behalf of the Company

under certain circumstances.

5. Certain of the Plan amendments described herein shall be subject to approval by the Board of Directors.

Amendments to the Plan:




1. Effective January 1, 2014, Section 1.02A is added to read as follows:

1.02A “Acquired Member ” means any Member who is a Cimarron Employee described in paragraph 26(a) of
Appendix A, Williams Employee described in paragraph 27(a) of Appendix A, Exlar Employee described
in paragraph 28(a) of Appendix A, Parvus Employee described in paragraph 29(a) of Appendix A, or
Arens Employee described in paragraph 30(a) of Appendix A.

2. Effective January 1, 2014, the second paragraph of Section 1.15 is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

Compensation shall not include: (i) relocation allowances; (ii) severance pay; (iii) any kind of stock payment; (iv)
additional compensation granted in connection with "away from original home assignments"; (v) deferred
compensation; or (vi) imputed value of group life insurance premiums under Section 79 of the Code. Effective
January 1, 2009, Compensation shall also include “differential wage payments” pursuant to the Heroes Earnings
Assistance and Relief Tax Act of 2008.

3. Effective January 1, 2014, Sections 1.16A and 1.16B are added to read as follows:

1.16A “Co-Op Student Employee " means an Employee who, under the Employer’'s generally applicable
payroll and human resources practices,

(@) is a college or university student; and
(b) receives academic credit for his employment with the Employer.
1.16B “CW Savings Contributions " means amounts contributed pursuant to Section 3.07A.
4, Effective January 1, 2014, Section 1.25 is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

1.25 "Employer Account” means the account credited with Matching Contributions and CW Savings
Contributions and earnings on those contributions. The Administrative Committee shall establish such
separate subaccounts within the Employer Account as may be necessary to properly account for
Matching Contributions and CW Savings Contributions.

5. Effective January 1, 2014, Section 1.32 is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

1.32 “Matching Contributions ” means (a) amounts contributed pursuant to Section 3.07(a) prior to
September 1, 1994, at which time such Matching Contributions ceased, (b) Employer contributions
described in Appendix A that constitute matching contributions within the meaning of Code Section 401
(m)(4) and Treasury regulations thereunder, and (c) amounts contributed pursuant to Section 3.07(c) on
or after January 1, 2014. The term “Matching Contributions” shall also refer to amounts transferred to the
Plan in a transaction described in Section 12.02 that had been accounted for as matching contributions
under the terms of the transferor plan.

6. Effective January 1, 2014, Section 1.34A is added to read as follows:

1.34A “Frozen Member” means any eligible Employee (i) whose date of hire, rehire or acquisition is on or
after February 1, 2010, for whom benefit accruals under Article 4 of the CWC Component of the Curtiss-
Wright Corporation Retirement Plan have ceased pursuant to the provisions of Section 4.02 of such
Plan, (ii) whose date of hire, rehire or acquisition is on or before January 31, 2010, but for whom benefit
accruals under Article 6 of the CWC Component of the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement Plan have
ceased pursuant to the provisions




of Section 2.01(e) or (g) of such Plan, (iii) whose date of hire, rehire or acquisition is on or before
January 31, 2010, and for whom benefits were accruing under only Article 4 of the CWC Component of
the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement Plan pursuant to the provisions of Schedule J of such Plan, or
(iv) whose date of hire, rehire or acquisition is on or after January 1, 2014, and who is not eligible to
accrue benefits under Article 4 of the CWC Component of the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement
Plan pursuant to the provisions of Section 2.01(a) of such Plan.

7. Effective January 1, 2014, Section 2.01 is amended by adding a new subsection (e) at the end thereof to read
as follows:

(e)

Effective as of January 1, 2014, and notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 2.01(a) and (d), but
subject to Appendix A, each regular, full-time Employee, other than a member of a unit of Employees
covered by a collective bargaining agreement, with the exception of the collective bargaining agreement
covering Employees of Williams Controls, Inc., shall be eligible to become a Member as of any
Enroliment Date following the date on which he became an Employee. Unless mandated otherwise by
the Employer’s personnel practices, a regular, full-time Employee is any Employee who is hired on other
than a part-time, seasonal, casual or temporary basis. Each Employee who is hired on a part-time or
seasonal basis shall be eligible to become a Member in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.01
(a). In no event shall a Casual Employee, Co-Op Student Employee or Temporary Employee be eligible
to become a Member. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this subsection (e), each Employee
who was a Member of the Plan immediately prior to January 1, 2014, shall continue to be a Member as
of January 1, 2014.

8. Effective January 1, 2014, Section 2.06(a) is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

(@)

Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, any eligible Employee (as provided under
Sections 2.01(d) and (e)), and unless otherwise excluded under paragraph 2.06(c), whose date of hire,
rehire or acquisition is on or after January 1, 2009 and who has not made an affirmative election to
become a Member (or affirmatively declined to become a Member) pursuant to Section 2.02 shall
become a Covered Member on the first Enroliment Date which is on or about 45 days after his date of
hire, rehire or acquisition, or the date he actually completes 1,000 Hours of Service or a Year of Eligibility
Service (if applicable, pursuant to Section 2.01(d) or (e)).

9. Effective January 1, 2014, Section 2.06(c)(iii) is deleted in its entirety.

10. Effective January 1, 2014, Section 3.07 is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

3.07

Employer Matching Contributions

(@) The Employer contributed, until August 31, 1994, on behalf of each of its Members who elected
to make After-Tax Contributions, Matching Contributions in an amount equal to 50% of the first
6% of the After-Tax Contributions made by the Member to the Plan during each payroll period.

(b) From and after September 1, 1994, and until December 31, 2013, no Matching Contributions
shall be made to the Plan except as otherwise specified in Appendix A.

(c) From and after January 1, 2014, the Employer shall contribute on behalf of each of its Frozen
Members, other than a member of a unit of Employees covered by a
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(d)

collective bargaining agreement, with the exception of the collective bargaining agreement
covering Employees of Williams Controls, Inc., and Acquired Members who elected to make
Deferred Cash Contributions, Roth Deferred Cash Contributions, and/or After-Tax Contributions,
Matching Contributions in an amount equal to 50% of the Deferred Cash Contributions, Roth
Deferred Cash Contributions, and/or After-Tax Contributions made by the Member to the Plan
that do not exceed the first 6% of the Member's Compensation during each payroll period. In no
event shall the amount of Matching Contributions made under this Section 3.07(c) equal more
than 3% of a Member's Compensation for the payroll period. Matching Contributions shall first be
made with respect to Deferred Cash Contributions, and Roth Deferred Cash Contributions, then
with respect to After-Tax Contributions.

Matching Contributions described in this Section 3.07 shall be paid in cash to the Trustee as
soon as administratively feasible following each payroll period but in no event later than the date
required by applicable law in order to permit the Employer a deduction for such contributions for
its taxable year.

Effective January 1, 2014, Section 3.07A is added to read as follows:

3.07A CW Savings Contributions

(@)

(b)

For any Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 2014, the Employer may make CW Savings
Contributions in an amount to be determined by the Employer, as of the last day of the Plan
Year, on behalf of each Frozen Member, other than a member of a unit of Employees covered by
a collective bargaining agreement, with the exception of the collective bargaining agreement
covering Employees of Williams Controls, Inc., and Acquired Member who is described in the
following sentence. Any CW Savings Contributions shall be allocated to the Employer Account of
each eligible Member employed by the Employer on the last day of the Plan Year who had
completed a Year of Eligibility Service during the Plan Year and such allocation shall be based
on the ratio that each such Member's Compensation bears to the total Compensation of all such
Members for the Plan Year. In no event, however, shall the portion of the CW Savings
Contributions allocated on behalf of any Member described in the preceding sentence for any
Plan Year exceed 3% of such Member's Compensation for the Plan Year.

CW Savings Contributions described in this Section 3.07A shall be paid in cash to the Trustee as
soon as administratively feasible following each Plan Year, if applicable, but in any event no later
than the date required by applicable law in order to permit the Employer a deduction for such
contributions for its taxable year. CW Savings Contributions may be paid whether or not the
Employer has current profits or accumulated earnings.

Effective January 1, 2014, Section 3.12 is amended by adding the words “Matching Contributions and”
immediately preceding the words “After-Tax Contributions” in each instance in which they occur.

Effective January 1, 2014, Section 3.12(c) is amended by adding a new sentence at the end thereof, to read as

follows:

Excess aggregate contributions distributed to Members in accordance with the provisions of paragraph (b)
above shall be distributed in the following order: (i) from the Member's Employer Contribution Account
attributable to Matching Contributions, and (ii) from the Member's Member Account.




14. Effective January 1, 2014, Section 6.02 is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

6.02 Employer Account

(@)

(b)

()

(i) As of December 31 of each year prior to January 1, 1995 a Member shall become
vested with respect to 25% of the value of the total Matching Contributions made in his
behalf for that portion of the year. As of each succeeding December 31, prior to January
1, 1998 such Member shall become vested with respect to an additional 25% of the value
of such Matching Contributions until, on December 31 of the third calendar year following
the year for which the Matching Contributions were made, such Member shall become
vested in 100% of the value of such Matching Contributions made on his behalf.

(i) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a)(i) above, a Member shall be 100%
vested in, and have a nonforfeitable right to, the value of Matching Contributions and CW
Savings Contributions made on his behalf on or after January 1, 2014, upon the
completion of 3 years of Vesting Service.

(iii) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsections (a)(i) and (ii) above, a Member shall be
100% vested in, and have a nonforfeitable right to, such Matching Contributions and CW
Savings Contributions upon death (including death while performing qualified military
service, pursuant to the Heroes Earnings Assistance and Relief Tax Act of 2008),
Disability, or the attainment of his 65th birthday.

The extent to which a Member who was formerly employed by an entity that was acquired by the
Employer, or who is employed by the Employer at the operations and facilities that were acquired
by the Employer from another entity, shall become vested with respect to the value of Matching
Contributions, if any, made in his behalf that are described in Appendix A shall be determined in
accordance with the applicable provisions of Appendix A.

For purposes of this Section 6.02, the “value” of Matching Contributions and CW Savings
Contributions shall mean the amount of Matching Contributions and CW Savings Contributions
adjusted for an allocable share of earnings, losses, and expenses in accordance with Section
5.01(a)(iv), as of each Valuation Date.

15. Effective January 1, 2014, Section 6.03 is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

6.03 Disposition of Forfeitures

(@)

Upon termination of employment of a Member who was not fully vested in his Employer Account,
the non-vested portion of his Employer Account shall be forfeited at the earlier of the date the
Member (i) receives a distribution of the Vested Portion of his Accounts or (ii) incurs five
consecutive One-Year Periods of Severance. For purposes of this Section 6.03, a One-Year
Period of Severance is a 12-consecutive month period beginning on an Employee’s Severance
Date and ending on the anniversary of such date during which the Employee does not perform
an Hour of Service. If an Employee is absent from work due to (iii) pregnancy of the Employee,
(iv) birth of a child of the Employee, (v) placement of a child with the Employee in connection with
the adoption of such child by the Employee or (vi) the Employee’s caring for a child during the
period immediately following the birth or adoption, the 12-consecutive month period beginning on
the first day of the absence shall not constitute a One-Year Period of Severance. Any period of
absence included as Vesting Service pursuant to the provisions of Section 1.54(b) or (c) shall not
be taken into account in
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17.

determining whether a One-Year Period of Severance has occurred. Any amounts forfeited
pursuant to this subsection shall be applied to reduce Employer contributions or to pay the
expenses of the Plan not paid directly by the Employer. If the amount of the Vested Portion of a
Member's Employer Account at the time of his termination of employment is zero and the
Member had not at any time made Deferred Cash Contributions to the Plan, the Member shall be
deemed to have received a distribution of such zero vested benefit.

(b) If an amount of a Member's Employer Account has been forfeited in accordance with subsection
(a) above, that amount shall be subsequently restored to the Member's Employer Account
provided that:

@ he is reemployed by the Employer or an Affiliated Employer prior to incurring five
consecutive One-Year Periods of Severance and

(i) he repays to the Plan during his period of reemployment and within five years of his date
of reemployment an amount in cash equal to the full amount distributed to him from the
Plan on account of his termination of employment. Repayment shall be made in one lump
sum.

.(c) In the event that any amounts to be restored by the Employer to a Member's Employer Account
have been forfeited under subsection (a) above, those amounts shall be taken first from any
forfeitures which have not as yet been applied against Employer contributions or used to pay
expenses of the Plan not paid directly by the Employer, and if any amounts remain to be
restored, the Employer shall make a special Employer contribution equal to those amounts.

(d) A repayment shall be invested in the available Investment Funds as the Member elects (or is
deemed to have elected pursuant to Section 4.02) at the time of repayment.

(e) To the extent there are any forfeitures in the Acquired Forfeiture Account, such forfeitures shall
be applied to offset Plan expenses under Section 11.04.

Effective January 1, 2014, the first sentence of paragraph 26(c) of Appendix A is amended in its entirety to read
as follows:

The Employer may make special contributions to the Plan on account of the Plan Year commencing on January
1, 2013, in an amount to be determined by the Employer, on behalf of each Member who is a Cimarron
Employee and who has made Deferred Cash Contributions, Roth Deferred Cash Contributions, and/or
After-Tax Contributions during that Plan Year (the “Discretionary Match Contribution”).

Effective January 1, 2014, the first two sentences of paragraph 26(d) of Appendix A are amended in their
entirety to read as follows:

The Discretionary Match Contribution, if any, for the Plan Year commencing on January 1, 2013, shall be a
specified percentage (as determined by the Employer) of the Deferred Cash Contributions, Roth Deferred Cash
Contributions, and/or After-Tax Contributions made by or on behalf of each eligible Cimarron Employee
pursuant to Sections 3.01, 3.02, 3.04, and/or 3.05 during the period April 1, 2013, through December 31, 2013.




18. Effective January 1, 2014, paragraphs 26(f)(i) and 26(f)(ii) of Appendix A are amended in their entirety to read
as follows:

0] Subject to subparagraph (f)(ii) below, a Cimarron Employee will become vested in amounts credited to
his Cimarron Match Subaccount in accordance with the following schedule:

Years of Vesting Service  Vested Percentage
Less than 1 0%
1 but less than 2 20%
2 but less than 3 40%
3 or more 100%

(i) For purposes of this paragraph 26, an Employee shall be credited with a year of Vesting Service in
accordance with the provisions of Section 1.54, except that an Employee shall be credited with a year of
Vesting Service for each Plan Year ending on or before December 31, 2013, in which the Employee
completes at least 1,000 Hours of Service.




19. Effective January 1, 2014, paragraph 26(h) of Appendix A is redesignated as paragraph 26(i) and a new
paragraph 26(h) is added, to read as follows:

(h) Distribution of the Vested Portion of the Accounts of a Member who is a Cimarron Employee for whom
amounts were transferred to the Plan on or about October 1, 2013, as a result of the merger of the
Cimarron Energy Inc. Retirement Savings Plan into the Plan may be made to such Member upon his
termination of employment in partial payment form that provides the Member with a portion of the Vested
Portion of his Accounts, with the remaining balance retained for distribution at a later date. A Member
electing the partial payment form of distribution must indicate on the distribution election form the
amount of the partial payment. There shall be no limitation on the number or frequency of partial
payments that a Member may elect. The Administrative Committee shall establish a policy and
procedures regarding the order in which partial payments are to be charged against particular
Investment Funds and against particular Accounts maintained under such Investment Funds.

20. Effective January 1, 2014, Appendix A is amended by adding paragraphs 27, 28, 29 and 30 to read as follows:

27. Williams Controls, Inc.

(@)

(b)

Each employee of Williams Controls, Inc. (“Williams”) who became an Employee as of December
14, 2012, and any other eligible Employee who is employed by the Employer on or before
December 31, 2013, at the operations and facilities that were acquired by the Employer from
Williams, shall be eligible to become a Member on any Enrollment Date on or after January 1,
2014, and shall be subject to the provisions of Section 2.06(a) as of such date (such employees
are hereinafter referred to as “Williams Employees”). Each Williams Employee shall remain
eligible as long as he continues to satisfy the eligibility requirements. Each other eligible
Employee who is not employed by the Employer until on or after January 1, 2014, at the
operations and facilities that were acquired by the Employer from Williams shall be eligible to
become a Member and shall remain eligible in accordance with the Plan’s eligibility requirements.

For purposes of determining Years of Eligibility Service and Vesting Service with respect to any
Williams Employee who became an Employee on December 14, 2012, whose immediate prior
service was with Williams or an affiliate thereof, and who was employed by such entity at such
acquisition date, service shall commence with his or her most recent date of hire with such entity
immediately prior to such acquisition date.

28. Exlar Corporation

(a)

Each employee of Exlar Corporation (“Exlar’) who became an Employee as of January 2, 2013,
and any other eligible Employee who is employed by the Employer on or before December 31,
2013, at the operations and facilities that were acquired by the Employer from Exlar, shall be
eligible to become a Member on any Enrollment Date on or after January 1, 2014, and shall be
subject to the provisions of Section 2.06(a) as of such date (such employees are hereinafter
referred to as “Exlar Employees”). Each Exlar Employee shall remain eligible as long as he
continues to satisfy the eligibility requirements. Each other eligible Employee who is not
employed by the Employer until on or after January 1, 2014, at the operations and facilities that
were acquired by the Employer from Exlar shall be eligible to become a Member and shall remain
eligible in accordance with the Plan’s eligibility requirements.




(b) For purposes of determining Years of Eligibility Service and Vesting Service with respect to any
Exlar Employee who became an Employee on January 2, 2013, whose immediate prior service
was with Exlar or an affiliate thereof, and who was employed by such entity at such acquisition
date, service shall commence with his or her most recent date of hire with such entity
immediately prior to such acquisition date.

29. Parvus Corporation

(@) Each employee of Parvus Corporation (“Parvus”) who became an Employee as of October 1,
2013, and any other eligible Employee who is employed by the Employer on or before December
31, 2013, at the operations and facilities that were acquired by the Employer from Parvus, shall
be eligible to become a Member on any Enrollment Date on or after January 1, 2014, and shall
be subject to the provisions of Section 2.06(a) as of such date (such employees are hereinafter
referred to as “Parvus Employees”). Each Parvus Employee shall remain eligible as long as he
continues to satisfy the eligibility requirements. Each other eligible Employee who is not
employed by the Employer until on or after January 1, 2014, at the operations and facilities that
were acquired by the Employer from Parvus shall be eligible to become a Member and shall
remain eligible in accordance with the Plan’s eligibility requirements.

(b) For purposes of determining Years of Eligibility Service and Vesting Service with respect to any
Parvus Employee who became an Employee on October 1, 2013, whose immediate prior service
was with Parvus or an affiliate thereof, and who was employed by such entity at such acquisition
date, service shall commence with his or her most recent date of hire with such entity
immediately prior to such acquisition date.

30. Arens Controls, LLC

(@) Each employee of Arens Controls, LLC (“Arens”) who became an Employee as of October 7,
2013, and any other eligible Employee who is employed by the Employer on or before December
31, 2013, at the operations and facilities that were acquired by the Employer from Arens, shall be
eligible to become a Member on any Enrollment Date on or after January 1, 2014, and shall be
subject to the provisions of Section 2.06(a) as of such date (such employees are hereinafter
referred to as “Arens Employees”). Each Arens Employee shall remain eligible as long as he
continues to satisfy the eligibility requirements. Each other eligible Employee who is not
employed by the Employer until on or after January 1, 2014, at the operations and facilities that
were acquired by the Employer from Arens shall be eligible to become a Member and shall
remain eligible in accordance with the Plan’s eligibility requirements.

(b) For purposes of determining Years of Eligibility Service and Vesting Service with respect to any
Arens Employee who became an Employee on October 7, 2013, whose immediate prior service
was with Arens or an affiliate thereof, and who was employed by such entity at such acquisition
date, service shall commence with his or her most recent date of hire with such entity
immediately prior to such acquisition date.

Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been executed on this day of , 2013.

Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Administrative Committee

By:

Date:



Recitals:

1.

CURTISS-WRIGHT ELECTRO-MECHANICAL CORPORATION
SAVINGS PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2010

FOURTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

Curtiss-Wright Corporation (the “Company”) has heretofore adopted the Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical
Corporation Savings Plan (the “Plan”) and has caused the Plan to be amended and restated in its entirety
effective as of January 1, 2010.

Subsequent to the most recent amendment and restatement of the Plan, the Company has decided to amend
the Plan with respect to nonunion Employees and those union Employees covered under the collective
bargaining agreement covering Employees of the Engineered Pump Division of the Company, effective January
1, 2014, for the following reasons (capitalized terms used but not defined herein are as defined in the Plan):

a.

To provide that Employees hired on or after January 1, 2014 as regular, full-time Employees will be
eligible to enroll in the Plan on the first day of any payroll period on or after their date of hire; that part-
time and seasonal Employees hired on or after January 1, 2014 will become eligible to enroll in the Plan
as soon as administratively practical after they have completed a Year of Service (completion of at least
1,000 Hours of Service within a 12-month period); and that Temporary, Casual and Co-Op Student
Employees hired on or after January 1, 2014 will be excluded from participating in the Plan;

To provide that any Employees (i) hired on or before December 31, 2013, who did not elect to participate
in the EMD Component of the Company’s Retirement Plan after January 1, 2014, or (ii) hired on or after
January 1, 2014, will be eligible to have Employer Match Contributions equal to 50% of their Pre-Tax
Contributions, Roth Contributions, and/or After-Tax Contributions that do not exceed 6% of their eligible
Compensation credited to their Accounts under the Plan each payroll period;

To provide that any Employees (i) hired on or before December 31, 2013, who did not elect to participate
in the EMD Component of the Company’s Retirement Plan after January 1, 2014, or (ii) hired on or after
January 1, 2014, will be eligible to have non-elective Employer contributions (“CW Savings
Contributions”) credited to their Accounts under the Plan in amounts to be determined annually by the
Company for each Plan Year as a percentage of Compensation (not to exceed 3%), provided that such
Employees are actively employed on the last day of the Plan Year and have completed a Year of
Service during the Plan Year;

To provide that Employer Match Contributions and CW Savings Contributions will be fully vested upon
the completion of 3 years of Eligibility Service;

To provide that non-vested amounts attributable to Employer Match and/or CW Savings Contributions
that are forfeited will be used to reduce future Employer Match Contributions and/or CW Savings
Contributions or to pay eligible administrative expenses of the Plan, if any; and

To provide that vested amounts attributable to Employer Match Contributions made on or after January
1, 2014, and CW Savings Contributions are eligible for in-service withdrawals only upon the attainment
of age 59-1/2.

Subsequent to the most recent amendment and restatement of the Plan, the Company has decided to amend
the Plan with respect to all Employees, effective January 1, 2014, to provide that after-tax




6.

and pre-tax contributions may be made at a rate of up to 75% (rather than 20%) of eligible Compensation.

Article Xl1.1 of the Plan permits the Company, acting by written resolution of the Board of Directors (the “Board”)
or a duly authorized delegate of the Board, to amend the Plan at any time and from time to time.

Article XIV.2.b of the Plan authorizes the Administrative Committee under the Plan to adopt Plan amendments
on behalf of the Company under certain circumstances.

The Plan amendments described herein shall be subject to approval by the Board.

Amendments to the Plan:

1.

Effective January 1, 2014, Article 1.1 is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

1. “Accounts " shall mean the After-Tax Account, Pre-Tax Account, Catch-Up Contribution Account, Roth
Contribution Account, Roth Catch-Up Contribution Account, Employer Match Contribution Account,
Rollover Account, Rollover Account, Pension Rollover Account, Additional Contribution Account, CW
Savings Contribution Account, and Top-Heavy Contribution Account.

Effective January 1, 2014, Articles I.23A, 1.23B and 1.23C are added to read as follows:

23A. *“Co-Op Student Employee ” shall mean an Employee who, under the Employer’s generally applicable
payroll and human resources practices is a college or university student.

23B. “CW Savings Contribution " shall mean an amount contributed pursuant to Article II1.2A.

23C. *“CW Savings Contribution Account” shall mean an account established and maintained on behalf of
an Employee to which his CW Savings Contributions are allocated.

Effective January 1, 2014, Article 1.30 is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

30. “Employer Match Contribution Account” shall mean all Employer Match Contributions made to the
Plan by the Employer, with earnings thereon, and shall also include any similar contributions (including
earnings thereon) transferred to the Plan from another qualified retirement plan. The Administrative
Committee shall establish such separate subaccounts within the Employer Match Contribution Account
as may be necessary to properly account for various components of Employer Match Contributions.

Effective January 1, 2014, Article 1.33A is added to read as follows:

33A. *“Frozen Participant ” means any eligible Employee (i) whose date of hire, rehire or transfer to an
Employer is on or before December 31, 2013, who did not elect to participate in the EMD Component of
the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement Plan after January 1, 2014, by means of a timely-filed election
that is effective on or before January 1, 2014, or (ii) whose date of hire, rehire or transfer to an Employer
is on or after January 1, 2014.

Effective January 1, 2014, Article 1.34A is added to read as follows:

34A. "Hour of Service" shall mean, with respect to any applicable computation period,




a. each hour for which the employee is paid or entitled to payment for the performance of duties for
the Employer or any Affiliated Entity;

b. each hour for which the employee is paid or entitled to payment by the Employer or an Affiliated
Entity on account of a period during which no duties are performed, whether or not the
employment relationship has terminated, due to vacation, holiday, illness, incapacity (including
disability), layoff, jury duty, military duty or leave of absence, but not more than 501 hours for any
single continuous period; and

C. each hour for which back pay, irrespective of mitigation of damages, is either awarded or agreed
to by the Employer or an Affiliated Entity, excluding any hour credited under a. or b., which shall
be credited to the computation period or periods to which the award, agreement or payment
pertains rather than to the computation period in which the award, agreement or payment is
made.

No hours shall be credited on account of any period during which the employee performs no duties and
receives payment solely for the purpose of complying with unemployment compensation, workers'
compensation or disability insurance laws.

Hours of Service credited shall be determined as required by Title 29 of the Code of Federal
Regulations, Sections 2530.200b-2(b) and (c).

Effective January 1, 2014, Article 1.41A is added and Article 1.42 is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

41A

42.

“ Normal Retirement Age " shall mean the later of the Participant’s 65 " birthday or the date on which
the Participant completes 3 years of Eligibility Service. With respect to Benshaw Employees as identified
in Article 1.26.c, “Normal Retirement Age” shall mean the Participant’s 65 " birthday.

“ Normal Retirement Date " shall mean the first of the month following the month in which the
Participant's Normal Retirement Age occurs.

Effective January 1, 2014, Article 1.59A is added to read as follows:

59A.

“Temporary Employee " shall mean an Employee who, under the Employer’s generally applicable
payroll and human resources practices,

a. is hired for a specific assignment of limited scope that will have a duration of at least 90 days;
and

b. is hired subject to the condition that he will be terminated upon completion of such specific
assignment.

Effective January 1, 2014, Article 1.70 is added to read as follows:

70.

“Year of Service " shall mean, with respect to any employee, the 12-month period of employment with
the Employer or any entity in the Controlled Group, whether or not as an Employee, beginning on the
date he first completes an Hour of Service upon hire or rehire, or any Plan Year beginning after that
date, in which he first completes at least 1,000 Hours of Service.

Effective January 1, 2014, Article 1.2 is amended in its entirety to read as follows:




10.

11.

12.

Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, any eligible Employee whose date of hire,
rehire or acquisition is on or after January 1, 2009 and who has not affirmatively elected to become a
Participant (or who has not affirmatively declined to become a Participant) shall become a Covered
Participant as of the date that is on or about 45 days after his date of hire, rehire or acquisition, or the
date he actually completes a Year of Service (if applicable, pursuant to Article 11.7).

Effective January 1, 2014, Article 11.7 is added to read as follows:

7.

Effective as of January 1, 2014, and notwithstanding the provisions of Article II.1 or Article 1.2, each
regular, full-time Employee, other than a member of a unit of Employees covered by a collective
bargaining agreement, with the exception of the collective bargaining agreement covering Employees of
the Engineered Pump Division of the Company, shall be eligible to participate in the Plan immediately
upon employment by an Employer. Unless mandated otherwise by the Employer’s personnel practices,
a regular, full-time Employee is any Employee who is hired on other than a part-time, seasonal, casual
or temporary basis. Each Employee who is hired on a part-time or seasonal basis shall be eligible to
become a Participant upon the completion of one Year of Service. In no event shall a Casual Employee,
Co-Op Student Employee or Temporary Employee be eligible to become a Participant. Notwithstanding
the foregoing provisions of this Article 1.7, each Employee who was a Participant of the Plan
immediately prior to January 1, 2014, shall continue to be a Participant as of January 1, 2014. To
participate, an Employee must apply in accordance with procedures established by the Plan
Administrator, subject to Article 11.2 above.

Effective January 1, 2014, Article 1ll.1.a(1) is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

(1)

Effective January 1, 2014, a Participant may elect to save at a rate of 2% to 75% of his Compensation,
in increments of 0.5%, on an after-tax basis, a pre-tax basis or a combination thereof. Prior to January 1,
2014, a Participant could elect to save at a rate of 2% to 20% of his Compensation, in increments of
0.5%, on an after-tax basis, a pre-tax basis or a combination thereof.

Effective January 1, 2014, Article 111.2 is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

2.

Employer Match Contributions

For each dollar a Participant contributes to the Plan as either a Pre-Tax Contribution or an After-Tax
Contribution during a payroll period, his Employer shall contribute into the Participant’s Employer Match
Contribution Account, as soon as administratively feasible following each payroll period but in no event
later than the date required by applicable law in order to permit the Employer a deduction for such
contributions for its taxable year, the following applicable amount:

a. Effective August 19, 2012, for Employees who are eligible to participate in the Plan and who are
(1) hired or rehired by, or transferred to, an Employer during the period beginning on August 19,
2012 and ending on December 31, 2013, (2) employed in a unit represented by a labor
organization or other representative which is recognized by an Employer as the representative of
such unit for the purpose of collective bargaining and has entered into a written agreement with
an Employer providing for participation in the Plan by the Employees in such unit (a “Collective
Bargaining Unit”), (3) not employed by the Employer's Benshaw business unit, and (4) not active
participants in the EMD Component of the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement Plan (the “EMD
Component”) while eligible to participate in the Plan, the “applicable




amount” is $1.00, subject to a maximum Employer Match Contribution of 6% of the Participant’s
Compensation for that payroll period.

b. Except as provided in paragraph 2.d below, effective December 1, 2012, for Employees who are
eligible to participate in the Plan and who are (1) hired or rehired by, or transferred to, an
Employer during the period beginning on December 1, 2012 and ending on December 31, 2013,
(2) not included in a Collective Bargaining Unit other than one representing Employees of the
Engineered Pump Division of the Company, (3) not employed by the Employer's Benshaw
business unit, and (4) not active participants in the EMD Component while eligible to participate
in the Plan, the “applicable amount” is $1.00, subject to a maximum Employer Match Contribution
of 6% of the Participant’'s Compensation for that payroll period.

C. Effective January 1, 2014, for Employees who are eligible to participate in the Plan and who are
(1) hired or rehired by, or transferred to, an Employer on or after January 1, 2014, (2) included in
a Collective Bargaining Unit other than one representing Employees of the Engineered Pump
Division of the Company, (3) not employed by the Employer's Benshaw business unit, and (4)
ineligible to become active participants in the EMD Component, the “applicable amount” is $1.00,
subject to a maximum Employer Match Contribution of 6% of the Participant's Compensation for
that payroll period.

d. Notwithstanding paragraph 2.b above, effective January 1, 2014, for Employees who are eligible
to participate in the Plan and who are (1) Frozen Participants, and (2) not included in a Collective
Bargaining Unit other than one representing Employees of the Engineered Pump Division of the
Company, the “applicable amount” is $0.50, subject to a Maximum Employer Match Contribution
of 3% of the Participant's Compensation for that payroll period.

e. For all Employees who are eligible to participate in the Plan other than those described in
paragraphs 2.a, 2.b, 2.c, or 2.d above, the “applicable amount” is $0.50, subject to a maximum
Employer Match Contribution of 3% of the Participant's Compensation for that payroll period.

f. Effective January 1, 2014, Employees who are eligible to participate in the Plan and who are (1)
hired or rehired by, or transferred to, an Employer on or before December 31, 2013, (2) not
included in a Collective Bargaining Unit other than one representing Employees of the
Engineered Pump Division of the Company, (3) not employed by the Employer's Benshaw
business unit, and (4) are active participants in the EMD Component while eligible to participate
in the Plan are ineligible to receive Employer Match Contributions and/or CW Savings
Contributions.

Employer Match Contributions shall first be made with respect to Participant Pre-Tax Contributions that
are not Roth Contributions, then with respect to Participant Pre-Tax Contributions that are Roth
Contributions, and then with respect to Participant After-Tax Contributions.

No Employer Match Contributions shall be made with respect to Catch-Up Contributions made by a
participant in accordance with Article 1ll.1.b or Roth Catch-Up Contributions made by a Participant in
accordance with Article 11l.1.e.




13. Effective January 1, 2014, Article I11.2A is added to read as follows:

2A.

CW Savings Contributions.

a.

For any Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 2014, the Employer may make CW Savings
Contributions in an amount to be determined by the Employer, as of the last day of the Plan
Year, on behalf of each Frozen Participant, other than a member of a Collective Bargaining Unit,
with the exception of the Collective Bargaining Unit representing Employees of the Engineered
Pump Division of the Company, who is described in the following sentence. Any CW Savings
Contributions shall be allocated to the CW Savings Contribution Account of each eligible
Participant who was employed by the Employer on the last day of the Plan Year and who had
completed a Year of Service during the Plan Year and such allocation shall be based on the ratio
that each such Participant's Compensation bears to the total Compensation of all such
Participants for the Plan Year. In no event, however, shall the portion of the CW Savings
Contributions allocated on behalf of any Participant described in the preceding sentence for any
Plan Year exceed 3% of such Participant's Compensation for the Plan Year.

CW Savings Contributions described in this Article 111.2A shall be paid in cash to the Trustee as
soon as administratively feasible following each Plan Year, if applicable, but in any event no later
than the date required by applicable law in order to permit the Employer a deduction for such
contributions for its taxable year. CW Savings Contributions may be paid whether or not the
Employer has current profits or accumulated earnings.

14. Effective January 1, 2014, Article 111.3 is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

3.

Any amounts credited to any Account for a Participant that are forfeited by such Participant pursuant to
any provision of the Plan shall not be returned to the Company but shall be used to reduce the
obligations of the Company to make Employer Match Contributions or CW Savings Contributions under
the Plan or to pay the expenses of the Plan not paid directly by the Employer.

15. Effective January 1, 2014, Articles V1.2, V1.3, VI.4.a and VI.4.c are amended in their entirety to read as follows:

2.

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, a Participant who is a Predecessor Plan
Transferee, as defined in Article Ill.1.a, shall remain 100% vested in, and have a nonforfeitable right to,
all amounts transferred from the Predecessor Plan to his Accounts under the Plan.

a. Subject to Article VI.2 above and Article VI.3.d below, a Participant whose date of hire,
rehire or transfer to an Employer is on or before December 31, 2013, other than a member of a
Collective Bargaining Unit, with the exception of the Collective Bargaining Unit representing
Employees of the Engineered Pump Division of the Company, will become vested in amounts
credited to his Employer Match Contribution Account in accordance with the following schedule:

Years of Eligibility Service  Vested Percentage

Less than 1 0%
1 but less than 2 20%




2 but less than 3 40%
3 or more 100%

Subject to Article V1.2 above and Article VI.3.d below, a Participant whose date of hire, rehire or
transfer to an Employer is on or before December 31, 2013 and who is included in a Collective
Bargaining Unit other than one representing Employees of the Engineered Pump Division of the
Company will become vested in amounts credited to his Employer Match Contribution Account in
accordance with the following schedule:

Years of Eligibility Service  Vested Percentage

Less than 1 0%
1 but less than 2 20%
2 but less than 3 40%
3 but less than 4 60%
4 but less than 5 80%
5 or more 100%

Subject to Article V1.2 above and Article VI.3.d below, a Participant whose date of hire, rehire or
transfer to an Employer is on or after January 1, 2014 will become 100% vested in, and have a
nonforfeitable right to, amounts credited to his Employer Match Contribution Account and CW
Savings Contribution Account upon the completion of 3 years of Eligibility Service.

Notwithstanding Article VI.3.a, b and c, the Employer Match Contribution Account and CW
Savings Contribution Account shall become 100% vested upon the earliest of the retirement,
death (including death while performing qualified military service, pursuant to the Heroes
Earnings Assistance and Relief Tax Act of 2008) or attainment of Normal Retirement Age of a
Participant who is earning Eligibility Service at such time.

a. Subject to the requirements of Article VI.4.c, if a Participant terminates employment prior to
becoming fully vested in his Employer Match Contribution Account or CW Savings Contribution
Account, the unvested portion of each such Account will be forfeited. If the Terminated
Participant is subsequently re-employed by an Employer or an Affiliated Entity before he incurs a
period of break in service of 5 years, the dollar value of the forfeited amount shall be restored to
his Employer Match Contribution Account and/or CW Savings Contribution Account without
adjustment for gains or losses since the date of forfeiture. If the amount of the vested portions of
a Participant's Employer Match Contribution Account and CW Savings Contribution Account is
zero and the Participant had not at any time made Pre-Tax Contributions to the Plan, the
Participant shall be deemed to have received a distribution of such zero vested benefit.

If a Participant has received a complete distribution of the vested portion of his Employer Match
Contribution Account and/or CW Savings Contribution Account upon his termination of
employment, upon his subsequent reemployment by the Company before he has incurred a
period of break in service of 5 years, he will have the non-vested portion of his Employer Match
Contribution Account and/or CW Savings Contribution Account, which was forfeited at the time of
his termination and distribution, reinstated as soon as administratively feasible following his
repayment to the Plan of the amount distributed from the Plan. The Participant will have five




16.

17.

18.

19.

years from his rehire date to repay his distribution to the Plan and have his forfeited amount
reinstated to his Account.

Effective January 1, 2014, Article VIII.3 is amended by replacing the words “After-Tax Account and Employer
Match Contribution Account” with the words “After-Tax Account, Employer Match Contribution Account and CW
Savings Contribution Account”.

Effective January 1, 2014, Article VIII.4 is amended in its entirety to read as follows:
4. A Vested Participant shall be permitted to make a withdrawal for any reason from that portion of his
Employer Match Contribution Account attributable to Employer Match Contributions made on or before

December 31, 2013.

A Non-Vested Participant shall be permitted to make a withdrawal from the vested portion of his
Employer Match Contribution Account upon the attainment of age 59-1/2.

A Participant shall be permitted to make a withdrawal from the vested portion of his CW Savings
Contribution Account upon the attainment of age 59-1/2.

For purposes of this Article VIIl.4 a Participant who is vested in his Employer Match Contribution
Account pursuant to Article VI.2 only shall be treated as a Non-Vested Participant.

Effective January 1, 2014, Article VIII.5.c is amended in its entirety to read as follows:
C. Vested portion of Employer Match Contribution Account and CW Savings Contribution Account;
Effective January 1, 2014, the first paragraph of Article Xll.2 is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

In the event of the termination or partial termination of the Plan or upon complete discontinuation of
contributions to the Plan, there shall automatically vest in each Participant affected by such termination or partial
termination all rights to the entire amounts credited to his Employer Match Contribution Account and CW

Savings Contribution Account, and all amounts then credited to all Accounts for each Participant affected by
such termination or partial termination shall be distributed to him in accordance with ERISA and the Code.




Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been executed on this day of , 2013.

Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Administrative Committee

By:

Date:



Exhibit 21
Subsidiaries of the Registrant

The information below is provided, as of Decembkr2013 with respect to the subsidiaries of theiRemt, all of which are wholly owned by
the Corporation, directly or indirectly. The naneésertain inactive subsidiaries and other constéid subsidiaries of the Registrant have bee
omitted because such subsidiaries would not comstét significant subsidiary, individually or iretlaggregate.

Name Organized Under the Laws of
Curtiss Wright Controls Inc. Delaware
Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Corporation Delaware
Curtiss-Wright Flow Control Corporation New Yor

Dy4 Systems, Inc. (DY4 Canada) Ontario

Metal Improvement Company, LLC Delaware

Tapco International Inc. Delaware



CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegion Statement Nos. 33-65073, 333-116195, B&#H41, 333-126543, and 333-177739
on Form S-8, of our reports dated February 21, 206#&#ating to the consolidated financial stateraemtd financial statement schedule of
Curtiss-Wright Corporation and subsidiaries, areldffectiveness of internal control over finanecggorting, appearing in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K of Curtiss-Wright Corporation and sdlzgies for the year ended December 31, 2013 .

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP

Parsippany, New Jersey
February 21, 2014



Exhibit 31.1

Certifications

I, David C. Adams, certify that:

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-KCoftiss-Wright Corporation;

1. Based on my knowledge, this report does not cordgainuntrue statement of a material fact or omistede a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts under which such statements were made, ntgadisg with respect to the per
covered by this report;

2. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd, @her financial information included in this repcdfairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

3. The registran$ other certifying officer(s) and | are responsifile establishing and maintaining disclosure cdstand procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15()) and internal control over financial repagtias defined in Exchange Act Rt
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant andénav

a)

b)

c)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and proceduré tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidghsubsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being preszh

Designed such internal control over financial réipgr; or caused such internal control over finahoigorting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable amsaraegarding the reliability of financial repogirand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in atmuce with generally accepted accounting princjples

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and pres@antbd report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls armteutures, as of the end of the period covered tsyréport based on st
evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in thestgnts internal control over financial reporting thatooed during the registrar
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofigbal quarter in the case of an annual repodj ttas materially affected, or
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reportinggdan

4. The registran$ other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosédsed on our most recent evaluation of internakrob over financie
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant's board of directfws persons performing the equival
functions):

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registsaability to record, process, summarize and rtefreaincial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a signifitdatin the registran
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 21, 2014

/sl David C. Adams

David C. Adams
President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.

Certifications

I, Glenn E. Tynan, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10fkCurtissWright Corporatior

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omistede a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts under which such statements were made, ntgadisg with respect to the per
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd, @her financial information included in this repdfairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer(s) and | are responsifie establishing and maintaining disclosure cdsti@nd procedures |
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15()) and internal control over financial repagtias defined in Exchange Act Rt
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant andénav

a)

b)

c)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and proceduré tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidghsubsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being preszh

Designed such internal control over financial réipgr; or caused such internal control over finahoigorting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable amsaraegarding the reliability of financial repogirand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in atmuoce with generally accepted accounting princjples

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and pres@antbd report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls armteutures, as of the end of the period covered tsyréport based on st
evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in thegtegnts internal control over financial reporting thatooed during the registrar
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofidbal quarter in the case of an annual repodj ttas materially affected, ot
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reportinggan

5. The registran$ other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosédsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrob over financie
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant's board of directfws persons performing the equival
functions):

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registsaability to record, process, summarize and rtefreaincial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a signifitdatin the registran
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 21, 2014

/s/ Glenn E. Tynan

Glenn E. Tynan
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of Curtiss-@i Corporation (the "Company") on Form 10-K foe fheriod ended December 31, 2@t3
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissionhe date hereof (the "Report"), David C. AdanssPeesident and Chief Executive Offi
of the Company, and Glenn E. Tynan, as Chief Fiisd@fficer of the Company, each hereby certififpgsrsuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350,
to the best of his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeatsection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgwAct of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphlgsents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ David C. Adams

David C. Adams
President and

Chief Executive Officer
February 21, 2014

/s/ Glenn E. Tynan

Glenn E. Tynan
Chief Financial Officer
February 21, 2014



